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ABOUT MDA 
 
MDA’s solutions capture and process large 
amounts of data, produce essential 
information, and improve the decision making 
and operational performance of business and 
government organizations worldwide. 
 
MDA’s business is focused on information 
solutions for market sectors which offer strong 
repeat business potential, principally the 
Surveillance and Intelligence sector and the 
Communications sector. In addition, the 
Company conducts a broad range of customer 
funded Advanced Technology development for 
various other market sectors. 
 
MDA serves its worldwide customer base from 
more than 18 offices located throughout the 
United States, Canada and internationally. 
 
The Company’s common shares trade on the 
Toronto Stock Exchange under the symbol 
“MDA”. 
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1 This is a non-IFRS or non-GAAP financial measure.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
For the year end December 31, 2011 
 
For purposes of this discussion, MDA and the Company refer to MacDonald, Dettwiler and 
Associates Ltd. and its subsidiaries. The year, this year and 2011 mean the fiscal year ended 
December 31, 2011. Last year and 2010 mean the fiscal year ended December 31, 2010, and 2009 
means the fiscal year ended December 31, 2009. This quarter means the three months ended 
December 31, 2011. 
 
ADVISORY 
 
This management’s discussion and analysis (“MD&A”), dated February 28, 2012, should be read in 
conjunction with the cautionary statement regarding forward-looking statements below and the 
Company’s consolidated financial statements and notes thereto for the year ended December 31, 
2011 (the “annual financial statements”). Unless otherwise noted, the results reported herein have 
been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and are 
presented in Canadian dollars. An additional advisory with respect to the use of non-IFRS financial 
measures is set out in section “Non-IFRS Financial Measures” of this MD&A. All quarterly 
information disclosed in the MD&A is based on unaudited figures. 
 
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 
 
This MD&A contains forward-looking statements that reflect the Company’s current view of future 
events and financial performance. Forward-looking statements in this MD&A include, but are not 
limited to, statements regarding: the Company’s financial capacity to execute its growth strategy 
under section “Overview – Overall performance”; the extent and timing of government funding and 
rightsizing efforts under section “Results of Continuing Operations - Operational highlights”; better 
access to U.S. programs under section “Results of Continuing Operations - Operational highlights”; 
opportunities in on-orbit servicing technology under section “Results of Continuing Operations - 
Operational highlights”; anticipated revenues and customer contract values under section “Results of 
Continuing Operations - Order backlog”; and the Company’s liquidity and financial resources under 
section “Liquidity”. 
 
The forward-looking statements in this MD&A are based on the Company’s current expectations, 
estimates, projections and assumptions made in light of its experience and perception of historical 
trends. The Company has made the following assumptions with respect to the forward-looking 
statements: the Company’s financial capacity to execute its growth strategy was based on the 
Company’s assessment of future market conditions; the extent and timing of government funding 
and rightsizing efforts was based on the Company’s current plans and forecasts; better access to 
U.S. programs was based on the Company successfully completing the legal restructuring of its U.S. 
geospatial services operations; opportunities in on-orbit servicing technology was based on current 
strategic plans; anticipated revenues and customer contract values was based on the Company’s 
continuing ability to effectively service customers and there being no adverse changes to customer 
priorities and funding levels; and the Company’s liquidity and financial resources was based on 
stable market conditions and the Company’s current plans and forecasts. 
 
Any such forward-looking statements are subject to a number of risks and uncertainties that could 
cause actual results to differ materially from current expectations. MDA cautions readers that should 
certain risks or uncertainties materialize, or should underlying assumptions prove incorrect, actual 
results may vary significantly from those expected. The risks that could cause actual results to differ 
from current expectations include: changes in government priorities, funding levels, contracts and 
regulations; failure of third parties and subcontractors to complete contracts for which the Company 
is the prime contractor; risks of performance on firm fixed price construction contracts; changes in 
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estimates of total revenues and costs on contracts; potential for product liability or the occurrence of 
defects in software and other products and resulting loss of revenue and loss of the Company’s 
reputation; quality issues and failure of systems to meet performance requirements; failure of the 
Company to manage its acquisitions and breaches of contracts and indemnities and related risks on 
divestitures; satellite failure; dependence on electronic systems and data and system security 
threats; detrimental reliance on third parties for data; dependence on key employees, potential for 
work stoppages and lack of oversight over a U.S. proxy board and management; failure to anticipate 
changes in technology, technical standards and offerings or comply with the requisite standards; 
failure to maintain technological advances and market positions; significant competition; infringement 
of the intellectual property rights of others through licensed software or otherwise; inadequate 
protection of the Company’s intellectual property rights; exposure to foreign currency fluctuations; 
changes in economic and political conditions; inability of suppliers or subcontractors to effect 
technology transfer; changes in customer security requirements and the resulting cancellation of 
contracts; failure to maintain business alliances; uncertainty in financing arrangements; failure of 
counterparties in financing arrangements and financial derivative contracts; wrongful call on letters of 
credit and performance bonds; and insufficient insurance against material claims or losses. 
 
For additional information with respect to certain of these risks or factors, reference should be made 
to section “Business Risks and Uncertainties” of this MD&A and notes to the annual financial 
statements, as well with the Company’s continuous disclosure materials filed from time to time with 
Canadian securities regulatory authorities, which are available online at www.sedar.com or on the 
Company’s website at www.mdacorporation.com.  
 
The forward-looking information contained in this MD&A is expressly qualified by this cautionary 
statement. MDA disclaims any intention or obligation to update or revise any forward-looking 
statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, other than as 
required by law, rule or regulation. You should not place undue reliance on forward-looking 
statements. 
 
COMPANY PROFILE 
 
MDA’s solutions capture and process large amounts of data, produce essential information, and 
improve the decision making and operational performance of business and government 
organizations worldwide. 
 
MDA’s business is focused on information solutions for market sectors which offer strong repeat 
business potential, principally the Surveillance and Intelligence sector and the Communications 
sector. In addition, the Company conducts a broad range of customer funded Advanced Technology 
development for various other market sectors. 
 
MDA serves its worldwide customer base from more than 18 offices located throughout the United 
States, Canada, and internationally. 
 
The Company's common shares trade on the Toronto Stock Exchange under the symbol "MDA". 
 
Information solutions 
MDA provides ground-based and space-based information solutions that support the operational 
needs of government, both military and civilian, and commercial customers worldwide. MDA’s 
information solutions include Earth observation ground systems, defence information systems, 
airborne surveillance systems, transportation management systems, geospatial services, space-
based platforms for Earth observation and advanced solutions for space exploration missions, as 
well as various mission sub-systems and support services. 
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The Company’s comprehensive capabilities in business and program management, systems 
engineering, systems integration, testing, and support services address complex customer 
requirements through the full information solutions life cycle. Customers that procure MDA’s 
infrastructure and sustaining engineering services represent some of the world’s leading commercial 
and government enterprises. 
 
Through its geospatial services operations, the Company provides geospatial information and 
decision support solutions that are derived using both satellite and aerial Earth observation sources. 
These solutions are used by organizations worldwide that monitor and manage changes and 
activities on the Earth, such as defence, intelligence and surveillance, resource management and 
environmental agencies. 
 
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 
 
The accompanying annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS. The 
comparative figures for 2010 have been restated to reflect significant differences between IFRS and 
Canadian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles. Certain financial information disclosed in this 
MD&A for 2009 has not been restated. 
 
NON-IFRS FINANCIAL MEASURES 
 
In addition to results reported in accordance with IFRS, the Company uses certain non-IFRS 
financial measures as supplemental indicators of its financial and operating performance. These 
non-IFRS financial measures include operating earnings, operating earnings per share and 
operating EBITDA. The Company has historically reported on such supplementary financial 
measures as the Company believes their use provides more insight into its performance. 
 
Operating earnings is defined as net earnings adjusted for specified items affecting comparability, 
including share-based compensation, fair value adjustments on financial instruments not subject to 
hedge accounting, write-downs and other gains or losses. The Company uses operating earnings 
and operating earnings per share as a more meaningful way to compare financial results from one 
period to another. Operating earnings per share is calculated using diluted weighted average shares 
outstanding and does not represent actual earnings per share attributable to shareholders. 
 
Operating EBITDA is defined as earnings before corporate expense, net finance costs, income tax 
expense, depreciation and amortization, and items affecting comparability as specified in the 
calculation of operating earnings. Operating EBITDA is presented on a basis consistent with the 
Company’s internal management reporting. The Company discloses operating EBITDA to capture 
the profitability of its business units before the impact of items not considered in management’s 
evaluation of operating unit performance. 
 
Operating earnings and operating EBITDA do not have any standardized meaning prescribed by 
IFRS and therefore may not be comparable to similar measures presented by other companies. The 
Company cautions readers to consider these non-IFRS financial measures in addition to, and not as 
an alternative for, measures calculated in accordance with IFRS. 
 
The adoption of IFRS did not have a significant impact on operating EBITDA and operating earnings 
as previously reported under Canadian GAAP. 
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OVERVIEW 
 
The following table provides selected financial information of the Company. 
 

Results of Operations 2011 
(IFRS) 

2010 
(IFRS) 

2009 
(Cdn GAAP) 

($ millions, except per common share amounts)    
From continuing operations    
Revenues 761.1 688.0 518.4 
Operating EBITDA1 194.3 175.2 125.9 
Operating earnings1 117.2 99.9 67.2 
Operating earnings per share1, diluted 2.99 2.44 1.65 
    Net earnings 129.6 59.5 69.9 
Net earnings per share, basic 3.31 1.46 1.73 
Net earnings per share, diluted 3.31 1.45 1.72 
    From discontinued operations   
Revenues - 351.9 482.5 
Net earnings from discontinued operations - 71.2 38.5 
Gain on sale of discontinued operations, net of taxes 30.1 - - 
    Total    
Revenues 761.1 1,039.9 1,000.9 
Net earnings 159.7 130.7 108.4 
Net earnings per share, basic 4.08 3.20 2.68 
Net earnings per share, diluted 4.08 3.19 2.67 
Cash dividend per share 1.00 - - 
    Weighted average number of common shares outstanding: 
(millions)    
Basic2 39.1 40.8 40.5 
Diluted2 39.1 40.9 40.7 
    
Financial Position 

December 31, 
2011 
(IFRS) 

December 31, 
2010 
(IFRS) 

January 1, 
2010 
(IFRS) 

($ millions)    
Assets, from continuing operations 765.2 703.2 465.2 
Assets, from discontinued operations - 800.5 815.2 
Total assets 765.2 1,503.7 1,280.4 
    From continuing operations    
Cash and cash equivalents 254.8 189.5 4.7 
Short-term investments 26.6 27.1 15.8 
Long-term debt 103.8 202.2 342.6 
Other long-term financial liabilities 17.5 10.8 24.9 
Shareholders’ equity 237.4 602.5 511.2 
     
1 This is a non-IFRS financial measure. Refer to section “Results of Continuing Operations” for a reconciliation of operating 

EBITDA and operating earnings to net earnings. 
2 On October 4, 2011, the Company repurchased and cancelled 9,433,962 common shares (representing approximately 

22.9% of the shares outstanding) at a price of $53 per common share under a substantial issuer bid. After giving effect to 
the repurchase, the Company had approximately 31.8 million common shares outstanding at October 4, 2011 (see section 
“Overview – Share repurchase”). Refer to section “Quarterly Information” for comparison of weighted average number of 
common shares outstanding for the last eight quarters. 

 
Sale of the Property Information business 
On January 4, 2011, the Company completed the sale of all its Property Information business to a 
third party buyer. The Company received cash consideration of US$815 million from the sale in 
2011, net of tax and working capital adjustments. In the fourth quarter of 2011, the Company 
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recorded a provision estimated at US$22.5 million for warranty and other post-transaction 
obligations related to the products and infrastructure acquired by the buyer in the sale of the 
Property Information business. As a result, the net gain on sale of discontinued operations in 2011 
was $30 million ($0.77 per diluted share), after income taxes. The Company may be entitled to 
additional consideration of up to US$30 million based on a certain division of the Property 
Information business achieving specified performance targets through to December 2014, for which 
no value has been recorded in the financial statements at December 31, 2011. 
 
The Company has reported the results of the Property Information business as discontinued 
operations for all periods presented for comparative purposes. The financial information and 
discussions presented in the MD&A refer to the Company’s continuing operations, unless otherwise 
noted. 
 
Share repurchase 
In August 2011, the Company made an offer under a substantial issuer bid (the “Offer”) to 
repurchase up to $500 million in value of its common shares validly tendered to the Offer, by way of 
a Dutch auction process and proportional tenders. On October 4, 2011, in accordance with the terms 
of the Offer, the Company repurchased for cancellation 9,433,962 common shares at a price of $53 
per common share, for an aggregate purchase price of $500 million. The shares repurchased 
represented approximately 22.9% of the common shares outstanding at October 4, 2011. 
Immediately after the share repurchase, the Company had approximately 31.8 million common 
shares outstanding. The Offer, which was funded by surplus cash, has an accretive effect on 
earnings per share and operating earnings per share. 
 
Overall performance 
The Company achieved solid financial results in 2011. Revenues for the year were $761 million, 
11% or $73 million higher than 2010. Operating earnings, or net earnings adjusted for items affecting 
comparability, increased to $117 million ($2.99 per diluted share) compared to $100 million ($2.44 
per diluted share) for last year. 
 
The Company continues to maintain a strong financial position, with cash balances and short-term 
investments of $281 million at December 31, 2011 and a term loan of US$100 million maturing in 
2017. With anticipated strong operating cash flows, significant borrowing capacity and access to 
capital markets, the Company has substantial financial resources to execute its growth strategy. 
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RESULTS OF CONTINUING OPERATIONS 
 
The following table provides selected financial information for continuing operations, including a 
reconciliation of operating EBITDA and operating earnings to net earnings from continuing 
operations. 
 

 2011 
(IFRS) 

2010 
(IFRS) 

2009 
(Cdn GAAP) 

($ millions, except per common share amounts)    
Revenues from continuing operations 761.1 688.0 518.4 
    
Operating EBITDA from continuing operations 194.3 175.2 125.9 
Operating EBITDA as a percentage of revenues1 26% 25% 24% 
Corporate expense (13.4) (15.6) (17.8) 
Finance costs, net (1.9) (4.1) (3.9) 
Depreciation and amortization (11.3) (12.5) (15.9) 
Settlement of SR&ED program expenditures - - 7.2 
Income tax expense, excluding tax on items 
    affecting comparability (50.5) (43.1) (28.3) 
Operating earnings from continuing operations 117.2 99.9 67.2 
Operating earnings per diluted share 2.99 2.44 1.65 
Items affecting comparability:    
Share-based compensation 3.9 (30.8) (19.3) 
Fair value adjustments on equity forward contracts 2.7 8.9 23.3 
Foreign exchange timing differences on certain 
    project-related foreign exchange forward contracts 
    not subject to hedge accounting 0.6 (9.9) - 
Foreign exchange gain on translation of 
    inter-company balances 0.7 - - 
Foreign exchange gain on conversion and 
    translation of foreign cash balances 4.0 - - 
Tax on items affecting comparability 0.5 8.8 (1.3) 
Forgone tax deductions on share-based compensation - (17.4) - 
Net earnings from continuing operations 129.6 59.5 69.9 
 

1 Operating EBITDA as a percentage of revenues (margins) will fluctuate from period to period with changes in the sales mix 
and contract life cycle of large dollar value contracts. The margins are also impacted by the ratio of MDA value-added 
components to flowthrough costs. For contracts that include significant components of flowthrough costs with little added 
value, the main MDA components generally attract normal margins while the flowthrough costs attract lower margins. 
Additionally, the Company revises cost and revenue estimates on contracts in the ordinary course of business. Changes in 
estimates are included in the determination of estimated cumulative revenues in the period the changes are determined. 
Furthermore, any gains on contracts are recognized only when such amounts can be reliably determined and are 
reasonably assured of being realized. 

 
Revenues 
Revenues this year increased to $761 million compared to $688 million for 2010. The increase 
reflected execution on contracts for advanced satellite communication solutions and the RADARSAT 
Constellation Mission, as well as increased volume of geospatial services driven by higher demand 
from U.S. government agencies. 
 
Revenues for 2010 were $688 million, up from $518 million for 2009. The increase reflected higher 
levels of activity, particularly for advanced satellite communication solutions, UAV surveillance 
services and geospatial services. 
 
Operational highlights 
The Company continued to make good progress on the Express AM5/AM6 program, with the 
assembly and integration of the large satellite payloads proceeding at the Company’s satellite 
system facility in Montreal. The Montreal facility was expanded in 2011 to provide greater production 
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capacity. Work on the Ukraine satellite solution program began to ramp up in the second half of 
2011, with some issues regarding the payload still to be resolved. 
 
The Company continued to work on the design phase of the RADARSAT constellation mission. 
Current approved funding for the design phase decreases steadily between the first quarter and the 
fall of 2012 when the design phase ends. The Company does not have authorization to proceed with 
the build phase. In the event of a material delay in funding or cancellation of the program, the 
Company will take restructuring measures to minimize the financial impact. 
 
The Company’s geospatial services operations in the U.S. operate under a Special Security 
Agreement (“SSA”) granted by the U.S. government. An SSA enables foreign-owned entities to 
provide services to the U.S. Department of Defense and intelligence agencies on certain classified 
programs. The Company is working with the U.S. government to replace the SSA with a Proxy 
Agreement, which may result in access to more business opportunities. 
 
The volume of activity related to advanced space robotics is declining due to the Canadian 
government significantly reducing activity in this area. Accordingly, the Company has implemented 
rightsizing measures at its robotics operations in Brampton, Ontario. The rightsizing will be 
completed in 2012. 
 
Regarding its SIS initiative, the Company’s satellite servicing agreement with Intelsat announced on 
March 15, 2011 has ceased to be in effect. However, the U.S. government has maintained its 
interest in on-orbit servicing technology and the Company is and will be bidding on contracts with 
certain U.S. government agencies in this area. The Company will assess its strategic plans 
regarding on-orbit technology after the U.S. government contracts are awarded. 
 
Operating EBITDA 
Operating EBITDA for 2011 was $194 million compared to $175 million for 2010. The increase was 
consistent with higher revenues. As a percentage of revenues, operating EBITDA margin of 26% in 
2011 was stable when compared to 2010. 
 
Corporate expense 
Corporate expense for 2011 was $13.4 million compared to $15.6 million for 2010. Costs this year 
were lower as a result of the sale of the Property Information business. 
 
Corporate expense is not considered in management’s evaluation of operating unit performance and 
includes such items as corporate head office costs, regulatory costs, executive and director 
compensation, strategic business development expenditures, and fees for audit, legal and consulting 
services. 
 
Net finance costs 
Finance expense, consisting primarily of interest on long-term debt, was $6.2 million for 2011 
compared to $4.8 million for 2010. Finance expense was lower last year as a portion of interest on 
long-term debt was allocated to discontinued operations. 
 
Finance income this year was $4.3 million (2010 - $0.7 million), consisting primarily of investment 
income earned on cash balances. 
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Depreciation and amortization 
The following table shows depreciation and amortization expense, allocated between property, plant 
and equipment and intangible assets, for the fiscal years indicated. 
 
 2011 

(IFRS) 
2010 

(IFRS) 
2009 

(Cdn GAAP) 

($ millions)    
Property, plant and equipment 7.3 7.9 8.9 
Intangible assets    
    Acquisition-related intangibles 0.6 2.5 2.5 
    Software, other 3.4 2.1 4.5 
Depreciation and amortization 11.3 12.5 15.9 
 
Acquisition-related intangibles, which consist of customer relationships, trademarks and other 
intellectual property, are non-recurring expenditures as they do not need to be replaced when fully 
amortized. 
 
The decrease in 2010 compared to 2009 was primarily due to certain assets being fully amortized in 
2009. 
 
Income tax expense 
Income tax expense for 2011 was $50 million, representing an effective tax rate for accounting 
purposes of 28%, compared to 46% in 2010 and 30% in 2009. The decrease in effective tax rate in 
2011 compared to last year was largely due to the variability of non-deductible share-based 
compensation expense and, to a lesser extent, lower corporate income tax rates. 
 
The effective tax rate for 2010 was unfavourably impacted by the enactment of Canadian income tax 
laws which affected the tax treatment of share-based compensation (refer to section “Results of 
Continuing Operations – Net earnings”). 
 
Operating earnings 
Operating earnings this year increased to $117 million ($2.99 per diluted share) compared to $100 
million ($2.44 per diluted share) for 2010 on higher levels of operating activity. The increase on a per 
share basis also reflected the accretive effect of the share repurchase. 
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Net earnings 
Net earnings for 2011 were $130 million ($3.31 per diluted share) compared to $60 million ($1.45 
per diluted share) for last year. The comparison of financial results under IFRS to other periods is 
hindered by the variability of a number of items that are not indicative of performance. These items 
include: 
 

Items affecting comparability Explanation 
Share-based compensation and 
   related equity forward contracts 

Although share-based compensation is an important aspect of 
compensation for management and key employees, the accounting 
expense or recovery based on fair valuation can result in significant 
variability in net earnings. Fair values of share-based compensation 
awards are estimated using complex option pricing models which 
incorporate factors, such as expected option lives and market volatility, that 
are beyond the Company’s control. Further, share-based compensation 
expense in any particular period is not reflective of actual cash outlays by 
the Company. The cash outlay on share-based compensation was 
approximately $16 million per year over the last three fiscal years. The 
Company believes that it is useful to exclude share-based compensation to 
facilitate the comparison of operating results across periods. 
 

The Company uses equity forward contracts to hedge the economic risk of 
fluctuations in its share price on the share-based compensation plans. 
However, gains and losses on fair valuation of equity forward contracts can 
result in significant variability in net earnings and have no relationship to 
the Company’s operating performance. 
 
In December 2010, the Canadian federal government enacted legislation 
that changed the tax treatment of share-based compensation, resulting in 
the Company foregoing current and future tax deductions with a 
corresponding impact to income tax expense of $17 million in 2010 on the 
cash settlement of share appreciation rights. 
 

Foreign exchange timing differences 
   on certain project-related foreign 
   exchange forward contracts not 
   subject to hedge accounting 

Certain foreign exchange derivative contracts entered into by the Company 
relating to the Express AM5/AM6 and Ukraine satellite solution programs 
did not qualify for hedge accounting at inception as the timing of the 
anticipated cash flows and/or the contract currency for certain subcontracts 
could not be predicted with sufficient certainty. Accordingly, the fair value 
adjustments on these derivative contracts were recognized in net earnings 
immediately, resulting in foreign exchange timing differences with the 
recognition of revenues and costs, which were recognized on the 
percentage of completion basis using spot rates. The foreign exchange 
timing differences can result in significant variability in net earnings but 
have little bearing, other than timing, on the performance of the related 
projects. 
 

Foreign exchange gains and losses on 
   translation of intercompany balances 
 

As part of its cash management efforts, the Company frequently advances 
funds between group entities that have differing functional currencies. The 
foreign currency exposure on these intercompany loans is not hedged. As 
a result, currency fluctuations, particularly between the Canadian and US 
dollar, can result in significant unrealized foreign exchange gains or losses 
on the translation of these balances that impact the comparability of net 
earnings. 
 

Foreign exchange gains and losses on 
   conversion and translation of foreign 
   cash balances 

The Company received a significant amount of US dollars from the sale of 
its Property Information business, the majority of which was converted to 
Canadian dollars in anticipation of the October 2011 substantial issuer bid. 
The foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the conversion and 
translation of US dollars can result in significant variability in net earnings 
but have little bearing on operating performance. 
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Order backlog 
Order backlog, representing the estimated dollar value of firm funded contracts for which work has 
not been performed, was $805 million at December 31, 2011 compared to $998 million at the end of 
2010. The decrease reflects the depletion of backlog on the Express AM5/AM6 and Ukraine satellite 
solution contracts. Also, backlog related to advanced space robotics has declined due to reductions 
in Canada’s space exploration budgets. 
 
Order backlog at December 31, 2011 did not include the substantial build phase of the RADARSAT 
Constellation Mission. The Canadian government continues to fund this program in incremental 
amounts. Order backlog also does not include unexercised contract options and potential orders 
under indefinite delivery/indefinite quantity contracts. 
 
Financial position 
The Company had assets of $765 million at December 31, 2011 (December 31, 2010 - $703 million), 
including cash balances and short-term investments of $281 million. The increase in trade and other 
receivables compared to the prior year-end was primarily due to the timing of billings and receipts in 
the ordinary course of business. The additions to property, plant and equipment included capital 
expenditures for the expansion of the satellite systems facility in Montreal. 
 
Construction contract liabilities, which are payments received from customers in excess of revenue 
recognized, decreased by $106 million during the year. The large advance payments received last 
year from customers on the Express AM5/AM6 and Ukraine contracts were used to fund related 
program expenditures and supplier payments in 2011. 
 
The decrease in shareholders’ equity was mainly due to the repurchase of common shares and 
payment of dividends, partially offset by net earnings and other comprehensive income. The 
following table shows the changes to shareholders’ equity for the year ended December 31, 2011. 
 
($ millions)  
Balance at January 1, 2011 602.5 
Net earnings from continuing and discontinued operations 159.7 
Repurchase of common shares (500.9) 
Payment of dividends (41.1) 
Issuance of common shares to employees1 5.8 
Settlement of share-based compensation (12.3) 
Other comprehensive income 23.7 
Balance at December 31, 2011 237.4 
 

1 The Company issued common shares to employees on exercise of employee share options and in conjunction with an 
employee share purchase plan. 
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QUARTERLY INFORMATION 
 
The following table summarizes selected financial information (unaudited) for the eight most recently 
completed quarters. 
 
 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 
 2011 2011 2011 2011 2010 2010 2010 2010 
($ millions, except per common share amounts)         
         Revenues from continuing operations 178.2 181.5 194.9 206.5 208.4 166.5 160.8 152.3 
Operating EBITDA from continuing operations1 52.6 46.8 49.2 45.7 50.8 43.8 40.8 39.7 
Operating earnings from continuing operations1 31.3 30.3 28.8 26.8 31.7 22.7 22.5 23.0 
    Per share, diluted 0.97 0.73 0.70 0.65 0.77 0.55 0.55 0.56 
         Net earnings from continuing operations 29.2 40.5 31.6 28.2 3.6 22.0 14.9 19.1 
    Per share, basic 0.91 0.98 0.77 0.69 0.09 0.54 0.36 0.47 
    Per share, diluted 0.91 0.98 0.77 0.69 0.09 0.54 0.36 0.47 
         Total net earnings2 6.3 39.3 29.6 84.4 37.1 40.6 25.0 28.1 
    Per share, basic 0.20 0.95 0.72 2.05 0.90 0.99 0.61 0.69 
    Per share, diluted 0.20 0.95 0.72 2.05 0.90 0.99 0.61 0.69 
                  Weighted average number of common shares outstanding: 
(millions)         
    Basic 32.2 41.2 41.2 41.1 41.0 41.0 40.9 40.7 
    Diluted 32.2 41.2 41.2 41.2 41.1 41.1 41.0 40.9 
          

1 Refer to section “Reconciliations” for reconciliation to net earnings from continuing operations for the last eight quarters. 
2 Total net earnings consist of the results of continuing operations and discontinued operations. 
 
Fourth quarter 2011 results 
Revenues this quarter were $178 million compared to $208 million for the fourth quarter of 2010. 
The decrease was primarily due to lower volume in UAV surveillance services following Canada’s 
withdrawal from Afghanistan in July 2011 and lower revenues on the Express AM5/AM6 program, 
which has transitioned to the assembly and integration stage. 
 
Operating earnings this quarter were $31 million ($0.97 per diluted share) compared to $32 million 
($0.77 per diluted share) for the fourth quarter of 2010. The increase on a per share basis was due 
to the accretive effect of the repurchase of common shares in October 2011. 
 
Fourth quarter net earnings for 2011 were $29 million ($0.91 per diluted share) compared to $3.6 
million ($0.09 per diluted share) for 2010. Net earnings for the fourth quarter of 2010 included $17 
million of income tax expense relating to foregone tax deductions following the enactment of 
Canadian income tax laws in December 2010 that changed the tax treatment of share-based 
compensation. Also, net earnings can fluctuate significantly from quarter to quarter due to the 
variability in share-based compensation, fair value adjustments on forward contracts not subject to 
hedge accounting, and other gains and losses. 
 
Quarter-to-quarter variances 
Revenue and operating EBITDA may vary from quarter to quarter due to changes in the sales mix 
and contract life cycle of large dollar value contracts. 
 
The Company completed the sale of the Property Information business on January 4, 2011. As a 
result, total net earnings for the first quarter of 2011 included an after-tax gain on sale of 
discontinued operations of $56 million. Total net earnings for the fourth quarter of 2011 included a 
provision for warranty and other post-transaction obligations related to the products and 
infrastructure acquired by the buyer in the sale of the Property Information business. 
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While the Company reports quarterly, its results should be viewed from a long-term perspective. For 
this reason and the reasons cited above, the Company cautions readers that quarter to quarter 
comparisons of the Company’s financial results may not necessarily be meaningful and should not 
be relied upon as an indication of future performance. 
 
LIQUIDITY 
 
The Company’s principal sources of liquidity are cash provided by operations, including advance 
payments from customers related to long-term construction contracts, and access to credit facilities 
and equity capital resources. As well, the Company received cash proceeds from the sale of its 
Property Information business in January 2011. Other sources of liquidity include the issuance of 
common shares related to certain aspects of acquisitions and pursuant to an employee share 
purchase plan. The Company’s primary short-term cash requirement is to fund working capital, 
including supplier payments on long-term construction contracts. During 2011, the Company used 
cash to repurchase its common shares for cancellation pursuant to a substantial issuer bid. The 
Company’s medium-term cash requirements are to service and repay debt and to invest in the 
construction or acquisition of facilities, equipment and intangible assets for growth initiatives. Cash is 
also used to pay dividends and to finance acquisitions and other long-term strategic business 
initiatives. The Company does not operate capital intensive businesses. 
 
The Company believes that its cash balances, expected cash flow from operations, and access to 
credit facilities and equity capital resources will sufficiently enable the Company to meet its 
anticipated operating, capital expenditure, growth, investment, debt service, dividend, and other 
financial requirements in the near term. 
 
Cash flow highlights 
The following table provides selected cash flow information. 
 

 2011 
(IFRS) 

2010 
(IFRS) 

2009 
(Cdn GAAP) 

($ millions)    
Cash provided by operating activities, 
    before changes in operating assets and 
    liabilities 142.8 153.0 101.1 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities (182.9) 158.2 8.6 
Cash provided by (used in) investing activities 726.0 (21.1) (12.7) 
Cash used in financing activities (658.1) (140.7) (126.8) 
Effect of foreign currency on cash and cash 
    equivalents 4.5 (0.3) (0.7) 
Cash provided by (used in) discontinued 
    operations (7.0) 65.6 21.9 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 229.5 14.8 23.4 
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period per 
    statement of cash flows 254.8 229.5 14.8 

    
Cash and cash equivalents, at December 31    
Continuing operations 254.8 189.5 (11.5) 
Discontinued operations - 40.0 26.3 
 254.8 229.5 14.8 

 
Operating activities 
The Company generated cash from operating activities, before changes in operating assets and 
liabilities, of $143 million in 2011 compared to $153 million in 2010 as strong operating cash flows 
were impacted by higher net cash income tax payments. 
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Cash was used in 2011 to fund changes in operating assets and liabilities primarily due to the timing 
of milestone payments and receipts on large dollar construction contracts, including the Express 
AM5/AM6 and Ukraine satellite solution programs. Also, movements in the balance of tax assets, 
non-financial liabilities and employee benefits payable contributed to cash being used in changes in 
operating assets and liabilities. 
 
Investing activities 
The Company generated net cash from investing activities of $726 million in 2011, primarily due to 
the cash consideration received on the sale of the Property Information business, compared to cash 
used of $21 million in 2010. 
 
Capital expenditures for 2011 were $28 million compared to $7.8 million for last year. The increase 
was primarily due to expenditures relating to the expansion of the satellite systems facility in 
Montreal, which was completed on budget and on schedule. The Company is eligible to receive non-
refundable grants and interest-free loans under certain contribution agreements with the Quebec 
government for expenditures related to the expansion. The grants can become repayable if specified 
conditions are not met. As of December 31, 2011, the Company was entitled to receive 
approximately $8.0 million of non-refundable grants and $0.4 million in interest free loans under the 
contribution agreements. 
 
Financing activities 
The Company used net cash of $658 million for financing activities in 2011 compared to $141 million 
for last year. Financing activities this year included the repurchase of common shares under a 
substantial issuer bid, repayment of long-term debt, payment of dividends, and purchase of the 
Company’s common shares in the open market to settle certain share-based compensation plans. 
Net cash used in financing activities also included proceeds from the issuance of common shares 
mainly to employees under share-based compensation plans. Financing activities in 2010 included 
net repayment of $137 million to long-term debt. 
 
Credit facilities 
The following table provides details of the Company’s long-term debt. 
 
 December 31, 2011 December 31, 2010 
($ millions)     
Term loan notes payable1  101.7  99.5 
Syndicated credit facility2  -  100.0 
Finance lease obligations  4.0  4.3 
Long-term debt  105.7  203.8 
 
1 The term loan notes bear interest at a fixed rate of 5.3% and are repayable at maturity in February 2017. The term 

loan notes are provided under an unsecured long-term debt agreement with a private lender. The debt agreement 
includes a shelf facility that allows the Company to issue an additional US$50 million in loan notes at any time prior 
to February 2013. Amounts borrowed under the shelf facility will have a maturity of up to ten years and bear interest 
at the rates reflecting the market at the time of issue. At December 31, 2011, there were no borrowings outstanding 
under the shelf facility. The unsecured debt agreement has covenants similar to those contained in the bilateral 
credit agreement (see below). 

2 In the first quarter of 2011, the Company repaid the outstanding term loan with proceeds from the sale of the 
Property Information business and terminated the syndicated credit facility. 

 
The Company also has a bilateral credit agreement with a major bank, for which there were no 
borrowings outstanding at December 31, 2011. The bilateral credit agreement provides a $100 
million revolving line of credit that expires in March 2012. Debt is available under the bilateral 
agreement subject to financial covenants, including the ability to borrow up to 3.5 times (with the 
ability to go to 4.0 times under certain circumstances) earnings before interest, income taxes, 
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depreciation, amortization and other specified items. The Company is currently in discussions with 
its banking partners regarding a replacement or renewal of the bilateral credit agreement. 
 
The Company has an unsecured $10 million revolving letter of credit facility in place with a major 
bank, which can be used to issue letters of credit that are backed by a Performance Security 
Guarantee from Export Development Canada. 
 
As of December 31, 2011, the Company was in compliance with all covenants under its various 
credit facilities. 
 
Contractual obligations 
The following table provides a summary of the contractual obligations and the payments due for 
each of the next five years and thereafter. 
 
  Less than 1 – 3  4 – 5 After 
As at December 31, 2011 Total 1 year Years Years 5 years 
($ millions)      
      Term loan notes payable 101.7 - - - 101.7 
Finance lease obligations 4.0 1.8 2.0 0.2 - 
Operating leases1 73.4 26.3 18.0 9.0 20.1 
Other financial liabilities2 34.0 16.5 15.2 2.3 - 

Total contractual obligations 213.1 44.6 35.2 11.5 121.8 
 
1 The Company had entered into operating leases in the ordinary conduct of business, primarily related to rental of office 

premises. 
2 Other financial liabilities were primarily comprised of fair-value losses on derivative financial instruments and non-trade 

payables related to the sale of the Property Information business. 
 
The Company has significant legally binding purchase obligations for materials, supplies and 
services incidental to the ordinary conduct of business that are not included in the above table. Most 
of these purchase obligations are with subcontractors on long-term construction contracts that the 
Company has with its customers. 
 
In 2011 and prior years, the Company received government funding for several programs that 
support the development of new commercial technologies and products for delivery to customers of 
the Canadian government. The funding is subject to possible repayment in the form of royalties on 
commercialization of that intellectual property by MDA. Refer to the notes of the annual financial 
statements for further information on the government funding. 
 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND THE USE OF ESTIMATES 
 
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires management 
to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and 
the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. Estimates and assumptions are 
continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and various factors that management 
believes to be reasonable under the circumstances. However, due to the nature of estimates, actual 
results may differ from estimates. 
 
The notes to the annual financial statements provide a summary of the Company’s significant 
accounting policies. The following discussion sets forth the estimates that the Company considers as 
critical in applying significant accounting policies and preparing the annual financial statements. 
 
Business combinations 
In a business combination, all assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired or assumed are 
recorded at their fair values at the date of acquisition. Management uses judgment when estimating 
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fair values of the net assets acquired and any contingent consideration to be recognized as part of 
the initial purchase consideration. The fair value of intangible assets acquired is determined using 
valuation techniques that require estimation of future net cash flows and discount rates. Changes in 
the estimates and assumption used could have a material impact on the amount of goodwill 
recorded and the amount of depreciation and amortization expense recognized in earnings for 
depreciable assets in future periods. 
 
Revenue recognition 
MDA generates a significant portion of revenues from long-term construction contracts. Revenues 
from long-term construction contracts, including amounts attributed to customer supplied materials, 
are recognized using the percentage of completion method based on costs incurred relative to total 
estimated costs. The inception to date effect of any changes in estimates of contract price or costs to 
complete is recognized in the period when the change is determined by management. The long-term 
nature of contracts involves considerable use of judgment and estimates in determining total 
revenues, total costs and percentage of completion. There are numerous factors to consider, 
including variances in the contract deliverables, scheduling, labour costs, material costs and 
productivity. The Company has developed methods and systems to provide reasonably dependable 
expenditure estimates for its long-term construction contracts. 
 
MDA enters into certain long-term construction contracts with the Canadian government where a 
portion of the funding received may be contingently repayable. Government assistance relating to 
long-term construction contracts is treated as an increase in revenue or as a reduction in costs, 
depending on its nature. MDA reviews all government assistance to determine which of the methods 
is appropriate in the circumstances. MDA treats amounts received from governments as revenue on 
contracts when the government is the final customer and where the contract requires that a final 
product be delivered. In certain cases, MDA retains the commercial rights to the related intellectual 
property but the government retains the rights to receive a royalty on any commercialization of that 
intellectual property. MDA treats amounts received from governments as a reduction of costs 
incurred when funding is provided for the development of a capability or intellectual property. 
 
Fair valuation of financial instruments 
IFRS requires financial instruments to be measured at fair value as at the balance sheet date. In 
determining fair value, the Company must estimate the price that market participants would sell for, 
or buy at, in an active liquid market, if there was one. Current market conditions, in which some 
financial instruments may lack an active market, make it more difficult for the Company to estimate 
fair value. While management believes the estimates of fair values at the balance sheet date are 
reasonable, differences in estimates could have an impact on the financial position and results of 
operations of the Company. 
 
Hedge accounting 
IFRS specifies the criteria that must be satisfied in order to apply hedge accounting under each of 
the permitted hedging strategies relevant to the Company. The Company applies considerable 
judgment when assessing whether a hedging relationship meets the criteria to qualify for hedge 
accounting and when testing for effectiveness. Hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively when 
the hedging relationship ceases to be effective or the hedging or hedged items cease to exist as a 
result of invoicing, maturity, expiry, sale, termination, cancellation or exercise. The fair value of 
hedged items and hedging instruments are primarily derived from market values adjusted for credit 
risk, which can fluctuate greatly from period to period. When a hedging relationship does not qualify 
for hedge accounting, the changes in fair value are recognized immediately in earnings and can 
result in significant variability in net earnings. 
 
Impairment of non-financial assets 
Goodwill is the residual amount that results when the purchase price of an acquired business 
exceeds the sum of the amounts allocated to the assets acquired, less liabilities assumed, based on 

16



their fair values. Goodwill is not amortized and is tested for impairment at least annually or more 
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the asset might be impaired. Goodwill 
is considered to be impaired when the carrying amount of the cash generating unit to which the 
goodwill has been allocated exceeds its fair value. An impairment loss, if any, would be recognized 
as a separate line item in the statement of earnings. 
 
Intangible assets, acquired individually or with a group of other assets, are initially recognized and 
measured at cost. The cost of a group of intangible assets acquired in a transaction, including those 
acquired in a business combination that meet the specified criteria for recognition apart from 
goodwill, is allocated to the individual assets acquired based on their relative fair values. Intangible 
assets with finite useful lives are amortized over their estimated useful lives, and are tested for 
impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that an asset might be impaired. The 
amortization methods and estimated useful lives of intangible assets are reviewed annually. 
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortized and are tested for impairment annually 
or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the asset might be impaired. 
The impairment test compares the carrying amount of the intangible asset with its fair value, and an 
impairment loss would be recognized in income for the excess, if any. 
 
MDA has used independent third party valuation specialists to perform purchase price allocations 
and to identify and attribute values and estimated useful lives to the intangible assets acquired for 
significant acquisitions. Details provided in valuators’ reports on cash flows, tax rates, discount rates, 
capital expenditures, attrition rates and other assumptions used to determine the nature and amount 
of the individual intangible assets are reviewed by management, as well as the Company’s 
independent auditors. This process calls for considerable use of judgment, and requires all parties 
involved to make estimates and assumptions. These determinations impact the amount of 
amortization expense to be recognized in future periods over the estimated useful lives of the 
intangible assets. 
 
The Company performs impairment tests for goodwill, intangible assets with indefinite useful lives 
and other assets periodically as described above. Impairment tests involve considerable use of 
judgment and require management to make estimates and assumptions. The fair values of cash 
generating units are derived from certain valuation models, which consider various factors such as 
discount rates, future earnings and perpetual growth rates. Changes in estimates and assumptions 
can affect the reported value of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives. 
 
Provisions 
The Company records a provision when an obligation to a third party exists, the payment is probable 
and the amount can be reasonably estimated. The Company records a provision based on the best 
estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the balance sheet date. While 
management believes these estimates are reasonable, differences in actual results or changes in 
estimates could have an impact on the liabilities and results of operations recorded by the Company. 
 
Pension and post-retirement benefit obligations 
The Company’s obligations and expenses relating to pension benefits are determined using actuarial 
calculations, and are dependent on significant assumptions such as the long-term rate of return on 
plan assets, the discount rate for pension benefits obligations and the rate of compensation 
increase. While management believes these assumptions are reasonable, differences in actual 
results or changes in assumptions could have an impact on the obligations and expenses recorded 
by the Company. 
 
Share-based compensation 
The Company measures the fair value of its share-based compensation awards using the Black-
Scholes option pricing model and recognizes the fair value expense on a straight-line basis over the 
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relevant vesting period. Management uses judgment to determine the inputs to the Black-Scholes 
option pricing model including expected plan lives, underlying share price volatility and forfeiture 
rates. Changes in these assumptions could have a material impact on the calculation of fair value 
and the amount of compensation expense recognized in earnings. 
 
Determination of functional currencies 
As part of its legal structure, the Company maintains subsidiaries in multiple global jurisdictions. 
Each entity within the consolidated group records transactions using its functional currency, being 
the currency of the primary economic environment in which it operates. The Company applies 
considerable judgment when determining the functional currency for certain foreign operations, 
particularly for corporate entities used for financial or income tax planning purposes. A change in 
functional currency for any foreign operation could have a material impact on the amount and timing 
of foreign exchange gains or losses recognized in earnings and the amount accumulated as 
translation adjustments in other comprehensive income. 
 
Investment tax credits 
The Company recognizes investment tax credits when there is reasonable assurance that they will 
be realized. Investment tax credits may be carried forward to reduce future Canadian federal and 
provincial income taxes payable. The Company applies judgment when determining whether the 
reasonable assurance threshold has been met to recognize investment tax credits in the financial 
statements. The Company must interpret eligibility requirements in accordance with Canadian 
income tax laws and must assess whether future taxable income will be available against which the 
investment tax credits can be utilized. Any changes in these interpretations and assessments could 
have a material impact on the amount and timing of investment tax credits recognized in the financial 
statements. 
 
Income taxes 
Income tax expense is comprised of current and deferred tax. Current tax and deferred tax are 
recognized into earnings except to the extent that it relates to a business combination, or items 
recognized directly in other comprehensive income. 
 
Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, 
using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax 
payable in respect of previous years. 
 
Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. 
Deferred tax is not recognized for the following temporary differences: the initial recognition of assets 
or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and that affects neither accounting 
nor taxable earnings, and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries and jointly controlled 
entities to the extent that it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future. In addition, 
deferred tax is not recognized for taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of 
goodwill. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary 
differences when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted 
by the reporting date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable 
right to offset current tax liabilities and assets, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same 
tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current 
tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realized 
simultaneously. 
 
A deferred tax asset is recognized for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary 
differences, to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which 
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they can be utilized. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realized. 
 
The recognition of deferred income tax assets involves considerable use of judgment and requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions, including projected taxable income and tax 
planning strategies. A deferred tax asset has been recognized for certain unused tax losses, tax 
credits and deductible temporary differences, to the extent that it is probable that this can be utilized 
in the future. No deferred tax asset has been recognized for certain net capital losses as it is 
currently not probable that there will be taxable capital gains upon which the net capital losses can 
be utilized. Changes in estimates and assumptions can affect the reported value of net deferred tax 
assets. 
 
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 
The Company considers the management of financial risks to be an important part of its overall 
corporate risk management policy. Foreign exchange forward contracts are used to hedge the 
Company’s exposure to currency risk on sales, purchases, cash and loans denominated in a 
currency other than the functional currency of the Company’s domestic and foreign operations. 
Forward contracts on the Company’s common shares (“equity forward contracts”) are used to 
reduce the cash exposure to settle obligations under certain long-term compensation plans. Interest 
rate swap contracts have been used to reduce the Company’s exposure to floating interest rates on 
long-term debt. The Company uses derivative financial instruments to manage existing exposures, 
irrespective of whether the Company formally documents such relationships as hedges in 
accordance with hedge accounting requirements. 
 
At December 31, 2011, the Company had foreign exchange forward purchase contracts for $249 
million (December 31, 2010 - $474 million) and foreign exchange forward sale contracts for $381 
million (December 31, 2010 - $442 million). In addition, the Company had equity forward contracts to 
fund the purchase of 337,200 of its common shares maturing in January 2014 and 134,800 of its 
common shares maturing in January 2012, for which the maturity date was extended to January 
2013 subsequent to year-end. 
 
The fair values of the Company’s derivative financial instruments are determined with reference to 
quoted bid or ask prices where available. In the absence of an active market or direct quote, the 
Company determines fair value based on internal valuation models, such as discounted cash flow 
analysis, using management estimates and observable market-based inputs, as applicable. 
Management estimates include assumptions concerning the amount and timing of estimated future 
cash flows and application of appropriate discount rates. Observable market-based inputs are 
sourced from third parties and include interest rates and yield curves, currency spot and forward 
rates, and credit spreads, as applicable. 
 
Gains and losses on fair valuation of derivative financial instruments that are subject to hedge 
accounting are deferred and accumulated in other comprehensive income. The gains and losses 
arising from these derivative financial instruments are transferred to earnings in the same period that 
the hedged item affects earnings. Gains and losses on the fair values of derivative financial 
instruments that are not subject to hedge accounting and the ineffective portion of any foreign 
currency hedging relationships are recorded in foreign exchange loss (gain) for foreign exchange 
forward contracts, and in fair value loss (gain) on equity forward contracts for equity forward 
contracts. 
 
At December 31, 2011, the Company’s foreign exchange forward contracts had a cumulative 
unrealized gain on fair valuation of $4.4 million (December 31, 2010 - cumulative unrealized gain of 
$3.2 million). Derivative financial instruments that qualified for hedge accounting had a cumulative 
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net gain on fair valuation of $6.0 million recorded in other comprehensive income at December 31, 
2011 (December 31, 2010 - cumulative net gain of $13 million). 
 
The Company enters into foreign exchange derivative contracts to hedge its exposure to non-
Canadian dollar denominated anticipated cash inflows and outflows in certain construction contracts. 
Certain derivative contracts entered into by the Company did not qualify for hedge accounting as the 
timing of the anticipated cash flows and/or the contract currency for certain subcontracts could not 
be predicted with sufficient certainty. Accordingly, the fair value adjustments on these derivative 
contracts were recognized in net earnings immediately. This resulted in timing differences between 
the recognition of fair value adjustments in earnings versus revenues and costs, which were 
recognized on the percentage of completion basis using spot rates. Had these derivative contracts 
qualified for hedge accounting, the fair value adjustments would have been deferred and 
accumulated in other comprehensive income until the hedged revenues or costs were recognized, 
eliminating the timing differences. Management’s estimate of the foreign exchange timing 
differences on these derivative contracts not subject to hedge accounting was a gain of $0.6 million 
for 2011 compared to a loss of $9.9 million for 2010. 
 
At December 31, 2011, the Company’s equity forward contracts had a cumulative loss on fair 
valuation of $5.5 million (December 31, 2010 - cumulative loss on fair valuation of $9.2 million). The 
equity forward contracts do not qualify for hedge accounting and all gains and losses on fair 
valuation have been recognized in earnings immediately. For the year, the Company recorded a fair 
value gain of $2.7 million (2010 – gain of $8.9 million) relating to the equity forward contracts. Fair 
valuation adjustments are affected by a number of factors, including the movement of the 
Company’s share price during the period and the market credit risk of the Company, and will result in 
a gain or loss as the Company’s share price changes. 
 
The Company is exposed to credit risk through its cash and cash equivalents, short-term 
investments, trade accounts receivable, notes receivable and derivative financial instruments. The 
Company is exposed to liquidity risk in meeting its contractual obligations and financial liabilities as 
they become due. Refer to the notes to the annual financial statements for more information on the 
impact of financial risks and the Company’s risk management strategy to minimize the potential 
adverse effects of these risks. 
 
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
 
Disclosure Controls and Procedures 
Under the supervision of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, management 
evaluated the design and operation of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures as at 
December 31, 2011. Based on that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial 
Officer concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective as at 
December 31, 2011 at providing reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed by 
the Company in reports filed under Canadian securities legislation is (i) recorded, processed, 
summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Canadian securities legislation and 
(ii) accumulated and communicated to the Company’s management, including the Chief Executive 
Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required 
disclosure. 
 
Internal Controls over Financial Reporting 
Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial 
reporting to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the 
preparation of financial statements for external reporting purposes in accordance with IFRS. 
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Under the supervision of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, management 
evaluated the design and operation of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as at 
December 31, 2011, based on the framework established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework 
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Based 
on that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the 
Company’s internal control over financial reporting was effective as at December 31, 2011. 
 
There were no changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred 
during the quarter ended December 31, 2011 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely 
to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. 
 
Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system, any control system, no matter 
how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that it will 
prevent or detect all misstatements, due to error or fraud, from occurring in the financial statements. 
 
Dividend 
Semi-annual common share dividends paid in 2011: 
Dividend per share, paid March 31, 2011  $0.50 
Dividend per share, paid September 30, 2011 $0.50 
 
In 2012, the Company increased its annualized cash dividend to $1.30 per common share. A semi-
annual dividend of $0.65 per common share is payable on March 30, 2012 to common shareholders 
of record at the close of business on March 15, 2012. 
 
Outstanding share data 
As at February 17, 2012, the Company had 31,815,774 common shares with no par value 
outstanding. 
 
Public securities filings 
Additional information related to MDA, including its most recent Annual Information Form, is 
available online at the Company’s website at www.mdacorporation.com and on the Canadian 
Securities Administrators’ website at www.sedar.com. 
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RECONCILIATIONS 
 
The following table reconciles operating EBITDA and operating earnings from continuing operations 
to net earnings from continuing operations for the last eight quarters. 
 
 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 
 2011 2011 2011 2011 2010 2010 2010 2010 
($ millions)         
Operating EBITDA from continuing operations 52.6 46.8 49.2 45.7 50.8 43.8 40.8 39.7 
         Corporate expense (3.7) (3.9) (3.3) (2.4) (4.2) (5.3) (3.7) (2.5) 
Finance costs, net 0.6 - (0.8) (1.6) (1.4) (0.7) (0.9) (1.0) 
Depreciation and amortization (3.0) (2.6) (2.9) (2.8) (4.0) (2.6) (2.9) (3.0) 
Income tax expense, excluding tax on 
    items affecting comparability (15.2) (10.0) (13.4) (12.1) (9.5) (12.5) (10.8) (10.2) 
Operating earnings from continuing operations 31.3 30.3 28.8 26.8 31.7 22.7 22.5 23.0 
Items affecting comparability:         
Share-based compensation (4.5) 13.7 (1.5) (3.8) (14.6) (6.9) (12.3) 3.0 
Fair value adjustments on equity forward 
    contracts (0.1) (3.5) 1.8 4.5 6.0 2.7 8.2 (7.9) 
Foreign exchange timing differences on certain 
    project-related foreign exchange forward 
    contracts not subject to hedge accounting (1.2) 3.1 (0.8) (0.6) (6.4) 3.3 (6.8) - 
Foreign exchange gain (loss) on translation of 
    intercompany balances 4.4 (6.2) 1.1 1.4 - - - - 
Foreign exchange gain (loss) on conversion and 
    translation of foreign cash balances (1.5) 3.7 1.8 - - - - - 
Tax on items affecting comparability 0.8 (0.6) 0.4 (0.1) 4.3 0.2 3.3 1.0 
Foregone tax deductions on share-based 
    compensation - - - - (17.4) - - - 
Net earnings from continuing operations 29.2 40.5 31.6 28.2 3.6 22.0 14.9 19.1 

 
BUSINESS RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES 
 
The Company is subject to a number of risks and uncertainties that can significantly affect its 
business, financial condition and future financial performance. The Company has a comprehensive 
process to identify, manage, and mitigate risk, wherever possible. Key risks include: 
 
Government Contracts and Regulations 
Changes in government policies, priorities, regulations, or funding levels through agency or program 
budget reductions, the imposition of budgetary constraints or the lack of government appropriations 
or the delay and/or deferment in governmental contract approvals or in government programs could 
have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition, results of operations or future 
growth. Furthermore, contracts with any government, including the Canadian government, may be 
terminated or suspended by the government at any time, with or without cause, and could result in 
significant liability obligations. There can be no assurance that any contract with the government of 
any country will not be terminated or suspended in the future. Although the Company attempts to 
ensure that government contracts have, as standard provisions, termination for convenience 
language which reimburses the contractor for reasonable costs incurred, subcontractor and 
employee termination and wind-down costs plus a reasonable amount of profit thereon, the 
payments are not assured and may not be sufficient to fully compensate the Company for any early 
termination of a contract, which may impact the results of operations and financial condition of the 
Company. (The use of “government” in this document includes government agencies, government 
owned entities, and the various levels of government.) 
 
Some areas in which the Company operates are subject to significant regulation. These regulations 
are subject to change; a failure by the Company to keep current and compliant with these changes 
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could result in sanctions or financial penalties that may have a material adverse effect on its results 
of operations, or limit its ability to operate in a specific market. 
 
The operation of some devices which are or will be operated by the Company requires regulatory 
approvals, such as those relating to licences and communication frequencies, and in certain 
circumstances third parties may be required to obtain such approvals or licences. There can be no 
assurance the approvals or licences will be obtained on a timely basis or retained for continuous 
operations. A failure to obtain approvals or licences could affect the Company’s results of operations 
and financial condition. 
 
Reliance on Third Parties/Subcontractors 
The Company’s business is often dependent upon performance by third parties and subcontractors 
for completion of contracts for which MDA is the prime contractor. Subcontractors for most system 
programs or critical support requirements are selected in accordance with the customer’s 
requirements, either as directed by the customer or as evaluated by the Company during the 
contract or qualification process. Subcontractors are in most cases also selected through a 
competitive bid or negotiated process. As applicable, major development subcontracts are 
established as firm fixed price contracts, generally with supporting performance bonds or other 
security, liquidated damages or other penalties for non-performance. However, some subcontractors 
have limitations or exclusions from certain liabilities. The Company believes that these 
subcontractors would have an economic incentive to perform such subcontracts for the Company, 
although no company can protect itself against all potential breaches, particularly those related to 
financial insolvency of the subcontractors or to cost overruns by subcontractors. In addition, a 
significant price increase in those subcontracts which are not firm fixed price, delays in performance, 
a sub-contractor’s failure to perform or the inability to obtain replacement subcontractors at a 
reasonable price, when and if needed, could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s 
business, results of operations and financial condition. 
 
Firm Fixed Price Contracts 
A large percentage of the Company’s contracts are firm fixed price contracts. These firm fixed price 
contracts at times involve the completion of large-scale system engineering, software and hardware 
development projects. There is a risk in every firm fixed price contract that the Company will be 
unable to deliver under the contract within the time specified and at a cost to the Company which is 
less than the contract price. The technical nature and sophistication of the systems deliverable under 
these contracts may require amendments to be negotiated from time to time, subject to agreed 
contract change processes. In the absence of any agreement to such amendments which increase 
the price payable or extend delivery times where deliveries are late, customers may be in a position 
to terminate the contract, or to demand repayments or penalties. The Company has processes and 
systems in place to reasonably measure and monitor the technical and financial performance of 
contracts and the Company, together with the customer, constantly monitors these projects to 
identify early warnings related to these risks. In addition, the Company implements risk management 
and mitigation techniques as part of its program management processes. Notwithstanding these 
processes, a contract may end up in a default or in a cost overrun. A termination of a contract for 
default or a significant cost overrun that is caused by actions or inactions by the Company could 
adversely affect the Company’s results of operations and financial condition. 
 
Changes in Estimates 
Contract accounting requires the Company to exercise judgment when assessing risks, estimating 
contract revenues and costs, and making assumptions for scheduling and technical issues. Due to 
the nature of many of the Company’s contracts, the estimation of total revenues and costs at 
completion is complicated and subject to many variables. Incentives and penalties related to 
performance on contracts are considered in estimating revenue and profit rates, and are recorded 
when there is sufficient information for the Company to reasonably assess anticipated performance. 
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Because of the significance of factors outside of the Company’s control in the estimation processes 
described above, it is possible that materially different amounts could be obtained if different 
assumptions were used or if the underlying circumstances or estimates were to change or ultimately 
be different from the Company’s expectations. Changes or inaccuracies in underlying assumptions, 
circumstances or estimates may have a material adverse effect upon the financial results of future 
periods. 
 
Some of the Company’s contracts provide for payments contingent upon a successful operation of a 
system or product. While the Company may procure insurance policies that the Company believes 
would indemnify it for fees that are not earned and for performance refund obligations, insurance 
may not continue to be available on economical terms, if at all. Further, the Company may elect not 
to procure insurance. In addition, some of the Company’s contracts require the Company to pay 
penalties or damages in the event that systems or products are not delivered on a timely basis, or to 
refund cash receipts if a contract is terminated for default prior to delivery. The Company’s failure to 
receive incentive payments, or a requirement that the Company refund amounts previously received 
or that it pay delay penalties, could have a material adverse effect on its financial condition and 
results of operations. 
 
Potential for Liability 
There is a risk that the Company’s products or systems may contain errors or defects or fail to 
perform as intended. While the Company strives to contractually limit its liability for damages arising 
from its provision of products and systems, such limitations of liability, although existing in the vast 
majority of the Company’s contracts, may not have been included in all of the Company’s past 
contractual arrangements or sales nor may any such limitations of liability be at levels that if 
incurred, would not have an adverse effect on the Company’s operating results and financial 
condition. Additionally, where such limitations have been included, there can be no assurance that 
they will be enforceable in all circumstances or in all jurisdictions or that they otherwise will protect 
the Company from liability for any claims or damages except as any insurance coverage applies. 
Furthermore, litigation, regardless of contractual terms, could result in substantial cost to the 
Company, divert management’s attention and resources from the Company’s operations and result 
in negative publicity that may impair the Company’s ongoing marketing efforts. Although the 
Company purchases product liability insurance (covering risk of property damage and personal 
injury) and errors and omissions insurance and its contracts provide for reasonable warranty 
limitations, there is no assurance that such measures will cover any or all of, or the extent of, any 
claims. 
 
Quality Issues and Contract Performance 
The Company sells complex systems, including hardware, software and services, that can contain 
defects in design, manufacture and software implementation. Sophisticated software such as those 
developed by the Company may contain defects that can unexpectedly interfere with the software’s 
intended operation. Defects may also occur in components and products that the Company 
purchases from third parties. In addition, most of the systems developed by the Company are 
technologically advanced and sometimes must function under demanding and unpredictable 
operating conditions. The Company employs sophisticated design and testing processes and 
practices which include a range of stringent factory and on-site acceptance tests with criteria and 
requirements jointly developed with the customers. However, there can be no assurance that the 
Company’s systems will be successfully implemented, will pass required acceptance criteria, or will 
operate or give the desired output. There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to 
detect and fix all defects in the systems, hardware, software and services it sells. Failure to do so 
could result in lost revenue, harm to reputation, and significant warranty and other expenses, and 
could have a material adverse impact on the Company’s financial condition and operating results. 
 
Acquisitions and Divestitures 
The Company has in the past and may continue to expand its operations and business by acquiring 
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additional businesses, products or technologies. There can be no assurance that the Company will 
be able to identify, acquire, obtain the required regulatory approvals, or profitably manage additional 
businesses or successfully integrate any acquired businesses, products or technologies into the 
Company without substantial expenses, delays or other operational, regulatory, or financial 
problems. Furthermore, acquisitions may involve a number of additional risks, including diversion of 
management’s attention, failure to retain key personnel, unanticipated events or circumstances and 
legal liabilities, some or all of which could have an adverse effect on the Company’s business, 
results of operations and financial condition. In addition, there can be no assurance that acquired 
businesses, products or technologies, if any, will achieve anticipated revenues and income growth. 
Acquisitions could also result in potentially dilutive issuances of equity securities. The failure of the 
Company to manage its acquisitions strategy successfully could have a material adverse effect on 
the Company’s business, results of operations and financial condition. 
 
When divesting of certain businesses of the Company, the Company may not be able to obtain 
releases from counterparties under contracts for such divested businesses and may be required to 
provide indemnities to third parties or the purchaser with respect to such divested businesses. The 
Company will have little control over any divested business and may be called on to perform under 
contracts or indemnities without control. While the Company will seek indemnification from the 
purchaser for these continuing obligations, there can be no certainty that the Company will be 
indemnified. These obligations could result in the Company being liable for payment of damages, 
costs and penalties related to non-performance of a contract. The sale agreements for divested 
business contain indemnification provisions pursuant to which the Company may be required to 
indemnify the purchaser of the divested business for liabilities, losses, or expenses arising out of 
breaches of covenants and certain breaches of representations and warranties (including breaches 
of representations and warranties stated to be based on the knowledge of specified persons) relating 
to the condition of the divested business prior to and at the time of sale. While the Company 
believes, based upon the facts presently known to it, that it has made adequate provision for any 
such potential indemnification obligations, there is a possibility that other facts may become known 
in the future which may subject the Company to claims for additional liabilities or expenses beyond 
those presently anticipated and provided for. In addition, a purchaser may make allegations relating 
to disclosures made to it as part of any sale process, in addition to any contractual obligations that 
the Company may have to the purchaser. In addition, the Company may not be able to invest or 
utilize the net proceeds realized by the Company in the divestiture of a business, in a manner to 
achieve the same return to the Company that had been historically realized by the divested 
business. Any action taken by others against the Company on any continuing obligations related to a 
divested business, any claim of a material amount under any indemnity, and the inability to utilize the 
net proceeds of a divestiture in a manner that maximizes the Company’s return could have a 
material adverse effect on the Company’s business and results of operations. 
 
Satellite Failure 
In the Company’s Geospatial Services operations, the Company relies on data collected from a 
number of sources including data obtained from satellites. Satellites can cease to function for 
reasons beyond the Company’s control. In certain instances, governments may discontinue for 
periods of time the access to or operation of a satellite for any particular area on the Earth and for 
various reasons may not permit transmission of certain data, whether from a satellite owned by the 
government or not. Although such data may be available from other sources at different prices, there 
is no assurance that the data will be available at the quality or at the times required. Also, the launch 
or operation of new satellites to replace old satellites may be delayed or may fail. Any of these 
factors could affect the Company’s ability to obtain data or alternate sources of data for its products. 
Any such delay or failure could affect the Company’s results of operations and financial condition. 
MDA Geospatial Services Inc.’s sales are dependent primarily on data received from RADARSAT-2. 
The failure of RADARSAT-2 could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s results of 
operations and financial condition. 
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Dependence on Data and Systems 
The Company maintains, at various locations, databases of information and systems infrastructure.  
Such systems are required to be available without interruption on a continuous basis to meet 
contractual service level obligations, and to ensure the Company’s communications, data, and 
operational needs are met. System security network threats are frequent and mechanical or software 
errors may cause system corruption or failure. In addition, the databases are subject to similar 
security threats and data corruption or loss may occur as a result of such security threats or 
malfunction of software or hardware. Errors in data could lead to significant liability to the Company if 
the Company’s customers relied on such incorrect data. Although the Company provides for 
redundancy, disaster recovery, tested systems and network security, it cannot prevent all possible 
errors or threats. 
 
Dependence on Data Providers 
Certain of the products offered by the Company rely on data supplied by third parties. Contracts for 
data supply normally have provisions which permit either party to terminate the agreement in the 
event of a breach by the other party. There may, however, be costs to the Company associated with 
its breach of such contracts and the acquisition of software and/or data to be provided in its 
products. In the event that any of such contracts are terminated, or a data provider is not otherwise 
able to provide data, the Company may experience delays in obtaining data from alternative sources 
which may affect the Company’s operations or financial condition. The Company also sources data 
from various third parties without formal contracts applying to such transactions. There can be no 
assurance that the Company will be able to continually acquire data from all government or other 
sources at a cost that permits the Company to realize a profit. 
 
Dependence on Key Personnel and U.S. Proxy Board 
The success of the Company is largely dependent on the abilities and experience of its executive 
officers and other key employees. Competition for highly skilled management, technical, research 
and development and other employees is intense in the Company’s industry. There can be no 
assurance that the Company can retain its current executive officers or key employees or attract and 
retain additional executive officers or key employees as needed. Further, some of the technical and 
administrative employees at the Company’s operations in Canada work under a number of collective 
bargaining agreements, each with different contractual terms and termination dates. The loss of 
certain executive officers or key employees and the disruption to operations due to work stoppages 
could have an adverse impact upon the Company’s growth, operations and profitability. In addition, 
in order to obtain certain business from government agencies in the United States, the Company has 
decided to establish a separate proxy board of directors to oversee the management of and the 
operations of a subsidiary domiciled in the United States and the Company and its board of directors 
will be restricted in its oversight over that separate proxy board of directors and the management of 
that subsidiary. 
 
Technological Change 
The markets in which the Company operates are characterized by changing technology and evolving 
industry standards. The Company’s systems embody complex technology and may not always be 
compatible with current and evolving technical standards and systems developed by others. Failure 
or delays by the Company to meet or comply with the requisite and evolving industry or user 
standards could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, results of operations 
and financial condition. The Company’s ability to anticipate changes in technology, technical 
standards and the needs of the industries it serves or proposes to serve will be a significant factor in 
the Company’s ability to compete or expand into new markets. Despite years of experience in 
meeting customer systems requirements with the latest in technological solutions, there can be no 
assurance that the Company will be successful in identifying, developing and marketing products or 
systems that respond to rapid technological change, evolving standards or individual customer 
standards or requirements. 
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Retention of Markets and Development of New Offerings 
The Company may experience design, manufacturing, marketing and other difficulties that could 
delay or prevent the development, introduction or acceptance of new products, systems and 
enhancements. There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to achieve the 
technological advances necessary to remain competitive and profitable, that new products or 
systems will be developed and manufactured on schedule or on a cost-effective basis or that the 
Company’s existing products or systems will not become technologically obsolete. The Company’s 
failure to predict accurately the needs of current and prospective customers, and to develop 
products, systems or enhancements that address those needs, may result in the loss of current 
customers or the inability to secure new customers. 
 
Significant Competition 
Many of the Company’s competitors are larger and have substantially greater resources than the 
Company. Furthermore, it is possible that other domestic or foreign companies or governments, 
some with greater experience in the industry in which the Company operates and many with greater 
financial resources than the Company possesses, could seek to produce products, systems or 
services that compete with the Company’s products or services, including using new technology 
which could render the Company’s products or systems less competitively viable. Some of the 
Company’s foreign competitors currently benefit from, and others may benefit in the future from, 
protective measures by their home countries. Furthermore, government agencies may at any time 
decide to perform similar work as the Company either for themselves or for other government 
agencies, effectively competing with the Company. 
 
Infringement Claims from Licensed Software 
Certain software modules of the Company’s products and systems make use of or incorporate 
licensed software components. These components are developed by third parties over whom the 
Company has no control. The Company has no assurances that those components do not infringe 
upon the intellectual property rights of others. The Company could be exposed to infringement 
claims and liability in connection with the use of those software components. The Company may be 
forced to replace those components with internally developed, purchased or other licensed software, 
pay royalties or be liable to indemnify its customers on the use of the software components. 

Intellectual Property Rights 
To protect the Company’s proprietary rights, the Company relies on a combination of patent 
protections (in limited cases), copyrights, trade secrets, trademark laws, confidentiality agreements 
with employees and third parties, and protective contractual provisions such as those contained in 
licence agreements with consultants, vendors and customers. Despite these efforts, the Company’s 
intellectual property rights may be invalidated, circumvented, challenged, infringed or required to be 
licensed to others, which could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial 
condition or operating results. 
 
An infringement or misappropriation could harm any competitive advantage the Company currently 
derives or may derive from its proprietary rights. Litigation may be necessary to enforce or protect 
the Company's intellectual property rights, protect its trade secrets or determine the validity and 
scope of the proprietary rights of others. Such litigation may be time-consuming and expensive to 
prosecute or defend and could result in the diversion of the Company's time and resources. 
Furthermore, others may develop technologies that are similar or superior to the Company’s 
technology, duplicate or reverse engineer the Company’s technology or design around the 
Company’s products or systems. Although the Company applies rigorous standards, documents and 
processes to protect its intellectual property, there is no absolute assurance that the steps taken to 
protect the Company’s technology will prevent misappropriation or infringement. 
 
If any of the Company’s technology violates proprietary rights, including copyrights and patents, third 
parties may assert infringement claims against the Company. Any claims from third parties may also 
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result in limitations on the Company's ability to use the intellectual property subject to these claims. 
The Company may be required to redesign its products or systems or obtain licences from third 
parties to continue offering the Company’s products without substantially re-engineering such 
products or systems or defending itself and its customers against infringement claims and liability for 
damages. This may affect the Company’s operations and, in addition, the Company could suffer 
substantial costs in defending itself against infringement claims. 
 
Exposure to Foreign Currencies 
The Company’s financial results are reported in Canadian dollars. A substantial portion of the 
Company’s revenues and expenses are denominated in U.S. dollars. 
 
The Company uses hedging strategies to manage and minimize the impact of exchange rate 
fluctuations on its cash flow and economic profits. There are complexities inherent in determining 
whether and when foreign exchange exposures will materialize, in particular given the possibility of 
unpredictable revenue variations arising from schedule delays and contract postponements. 
Furthermore, the Company could be exposed to the risk of non-performance of its hedging 
counterparties. The Company may also have difficulty in fully implementing its hedging strategy 
depending on the willingness of hedging counterparties to extend credit. Accordingly, no assurances 
may be given that MDA’s exchange rate hedging strategy will protect it from significant changes or 
fluctuations in revenues and expenses denominated in non-Canadian dollars. 
 
MDA’s consolidated revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than 
the Canadian dollar are translated into Canadian dollars for the purposes of compiling its financial 
statements. Changes in the value of these currencies relative to the Canadian dollar will have an 
effect on the Canadian dollar value of the Company’s reported consolidated revenues, expenses, 
assets, liabilities and earnings. 
 
Economic and Political Conditions 
Customer demand for the Company’s systems and products may be affected by economic and 
political conditions on an international, country and regional level. For example, changes in interest 
rates, foreign exchange, credit availability, the level of government spending, and political decisions 
may influence the Company’s sales or the Company’s ability to access certain funding from 
governments or government agencies. The Company has mitigated some of its exposure to variable 
business cycles by diversifying its business across a range of business activities and geographic 
locations. Notwithstanding the Company’s diversification, changing economic and political decisions 
may adversely affect the Company’s results of operations and financial condition. 
 
Inability to Effect Technology Transfer 
Certain businesses of the Company and products, systems, services or technologies developed by 
the Company require the implementation or acquisition of products or technologies from third 
parties, including those in other jurisdictions. In certain cases and only where the technology is re-
exported to certain countries, if the use of the technologies can be viewed by the jurisdiction in which 
that supplier or subcontractor resides as being subject to export constraints or restrictions relating to 
national security, the Company may not be able to obtain the technologies and products that it 
requires from subcontractors who would otherwise be its optimal choice. To the extent that it is able, 
the Company obtains pre-authorization for re-export prior to signing contracts which oblige the 
Company to export subject technologies, including specific foreign government approval as needed. 
In addition, the Company maintains an open competitive bidding system, on an international basis, 
which provides for qualified suppliers. In the event of export restrictions, the Company may have the 
ability through contract force majeure provisions to be excused from its obligations. Notwithstanding 
these provisions, export restrictions or changes during contract execution could have an adverse 
effect on the revenues and margins of the Company. 
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Security Environment 
Many of the Company’s customers have specific security requirements relating to the work that can 
be performed for it. These requirements can change quickly and with little notice causing reduction 
or even elimination of potential work for the Company and the ability of the Company to participate in 
future business. 
 
Dependence on Business Alliances 
A key element of the Company’s business strategy is the formation of corporate alliances with 
leading companies. The Company invests significant resources to develop these relationships. The 
Company believes that its success in penetrating new markets for its products will depend in part on 
its ability to maintain these relationships and to cultivate additional or alternative relationships. 
Although significant effort has been dedicated to establishing and maintaining relationships, there 
can be no assurance that the Company will be able to develop additional corporate alliances with 
such companies, that existing relationships will continue or be successful in achieving their purposes 
or that such companies will not form competing arrangements. 
 
Financing Arrangements 
The Company requires capital to finance any future growth and pay its outstanding debt obligations 
as they come due for payment. If the cash generated from the Company’s business, together with 
the credit available under existing bank facilities, is not sufficient to fund future capital requirements, 
the Company will require additional debt or equity financing. The Company’s ability to access capital 
markets on terms that are acceptable will be dependent on prevailing market conditions, as well as 
the Company’s future financial condition. Further, the Company’s ability to increase its debt financing 
and/or renew existing facilities may be limited by its financial covenants, its credit objectives, or debt 
capital market conditions. Although the Company does not anticipate any difficulties in raising funds 
in the future, there can be no assurance that capital will be available on suitable terms and 
conditions, or that borrowing costs will not be adversely affected. In addition, the Company’s current 
financing arrangements contain certain restrictive covenants that may impact the Company’s future 
operating and financial flexibility. The Company also depends on certain financing arrangements to 
be completed by some of its key customers. The inability by the Company’s customers to arrange 
satisfactory financing on a timely basis could have an impact on the Company’s business, results of 
operations and financial condition. 
 
Financing and Counterparties 
The Company’s debt funding is provided under credit agreements with a bank and with a private 
lender. A failure by any lender to meet its funding obligations under the Company’s credit 
agreements could result in the need to replace the lender. While the Company does not anticipate 
any difficulty in finding a replacement lender in such circumstances, such a change may result in an 
amendment of pricing under the credit agreement to reflect prevailing market conditions. 
 
In addition, the Company enters into various financial derivative contracts with banks as 
counterparties. Failure of a counterparty to meet its obligations under a derivative contract could 
result in a material adverse effect to the Company’s results of operations and financial condition. The 
Company limits its counterparty exposure to that of large banks and monitors their financial standing. 
 
Letters of Credit and Performance Bonds 
In the case of a number of the contracts of the Company, letters of credit or other forms of bonds are 
required to be posted by the Company to cover advance payments or progress payments received 
by the Company, or to cover the Company’s performance obligations. If these letters of credit or 
other bonds are called in accordance with the terms and conditions included therein, the effect of 
such calls could have an adverse effect on the results of operations and financial condition of the 
Company. In some cases, the Company obtains wrongful call insurance from Export Development 
Canada in order to insure against any wrongful call of letters of credit. 
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Insurance 
The Company maintains an extensive program of insurance coverage in the normal course of 
business, consistent with similar businesses. In addition, the insurance program covers some of the 
unique risks encountered by the Company. Although the limits and deductibles of such insurance 
have been established through risk analysis and the recommendation of professional advisors, there 
can be no assurance that such insurance will remain available to the Company at commercially 
reasonable rates or that the amount of such coverage will be adequate to cover all liability incurred 
by the Company. If the Company is held liable for amounts exceeding the limits of its insurance 
coverage or for claims outside the scope of that coverage, its business, results of operations and 
financial condition could be adversely affected. 
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Management Report 
 
 
The management of MacDonald, Dettwiler and Associates Ltd. is responsible for the accompanying 
consolidated financial statements and other information included in the annual report. The 
consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with International Financial 
Reporting Standards using the best estimates and judgments of management, where appropriate. 
Other financial information presented in this annual report is consistent with that in the consolidated 
financial statements. 
 
Management is also responsible for a system of internal controls over the financial reporting process 
which is designed to provide reasonable assurance that relevant and reliable financial information is 
produced. 
 
The Board of Directors is responsible for overseeing management in the performance of its financial 
reporting responsibilities and for approving the financial information included in the annual report. 
The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors meets periodically with management and the 
Company’s internal and external auditors to discuss internal controls over the financial reporting 
process, auditing matters and financial reporting issues. The external auditors have full access to the 
Audit Committee. The Audit Committee reviews the interim and annual consolidated financial 
statements and the annual report and recommends them to the Board of Directors for approval. In 
addition, the Audit Committee recommends to the Board of Directors the annual appointment of the 
external auditors. 
 
 
 

   
 
Daniel E. Friedmann    Anil Wirasekara 
President and     Executive Vice President and 
Chief Executive Officer    Chief Financial Officer 
 
 
Richmond, Canada 
February 28, 2012 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

To the Shareholders of MacDonald, Dettwiler and Associates Ltd. 
 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of MacDonald, Dettwiler and 
Associates Ltd., which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as at December 31, 2011, 
December 31, 2010 and January 1, 2010, the consolidated statements of earnings, comprehensive 
income, changes in shareholders’ equity and cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 
December 31, 2010, and notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information. 

Management’s Responsibility for the consolidated Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal 
control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our 
audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. 
Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from 
material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including 
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant 
to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our audit opinion. 
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Opinion 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
consolidated financial position of MacDonald, Dettwiler and Associates Ltd. as at December 31, 2011, 
December 31, 2010 and January 1, 2010, and its consolidated financial performance and its 
consolidated cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010 in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. 

 

 
Chartered Accountants 
 
February 28, 2012 
Vancouver, Canada 
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MACDONALD, DETTWILER AND ASSOCIATES LTD. 
Consolidated Statements of Earnings 
(In thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts) 
 
Years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 
 
  Note 2011 2010 
 
Revenue 5 $ 761,117 $ 688,039 
 
Direct costs, selling, general and administration 6 579,903 529,724 
  181,214 158,315 
 
Depreciation and amortization  11,273 12,469 
Foreign exchange loss (gain)  (4,963) 8,671 
Share-based compensation expense (recovery) 19(h) (3,943) 30,829 
Fair value gain on equity forward contracts 19(e) (2,682) (8,908) 
Finance income  (4,253) (718) 
Finance expense 7 6,162   4,769     
 
Earnings from continuing operations, before income taxes  179,620 111,203 
 
Income tax expense 23(a) 49,988 51,665 
 
Net earnings from continuing operations  129,632 59,538 
 
Net earnings from discontinued operations, net of income taxes 27 - 71,205 
Gain on sale of discontinued operations, net of income taxes 27 30,132 - 
 
Net earnings from discontinued operations  30,132 71,205 
 
 
Net earnings  $ 159,764 $ 130,743 
 
Net earnings per common share: 18 

Basic: 
Continuing operations  $ 3.31 $ 1.46 
Discontinued operations 0.77 1.75 
Net earnings 4.08 3.20 

Diluted: 
Continuing operations  3.31 1.45 
Discontinued operations  0.77 1.74 
Net earnings  4.08 3.19 

 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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MACDONALD, DETTWILER AND ASSOCIATES LTD. 
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income  
(In thousands of Canadian dollars) 
 
Years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 
 
  2011 2010 
 
Net earnings $ 159,764 $ 130,743 
 
Other comprehensive income (loss): 

Foreign currency translation adjustment (2,153) (42,360) 
Foreign currency translation adjustment reclassified to earnings on 

disposition of foreign operations (net of income tax expense of nil) 36,347 - 
Net gain on hedge of net investment in foreign operations (net of 

income taxes of nil) 1,690 - 
Effective portion of changes in fair value of derivatives designated 

as cash flow hedges (net of income tax recovery of $611 and 
income tax expense of $4,706, respectively) (1,310) 12,236 

Net change in fair value of derivatives designated as cash flow 
hedges transferred to earnings (net of income tax recovery of 
$1,571 and $1,165, respectively) (4,271) (3,178) 

Net change in fair value of available-for-sale financial assets (net of 
income tax expense of $304 and income tax recovery of $30, 
respectively) 94 164 

Actuarial losses on defined benefit pension plans (net of income tax 
recovery of $2,679 and $1,526, respectively) (6,784) (3,863) 

 Other comprehensive income (loss), net of income taxes 23,613 (37,001) 
 

 
Comprehensive income $ 183,377 $ 93,742 
 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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MACDONALD, DETTWILER AND ASSOCIATES LTD. 
Consolidated Balance Sheets 
(In thousands of Canadian dollars)  
 
  December 31, December 31, January 1, 
  Note 2011 2010 2010 
 

Assets 
Current assets: 

Cash and cash equivalents 8 $ 254,831 $ 189,527 $ 14,766 
Trade and other receivables  98,415 77,853 97,877 
Financial assets, other 9(a), 10 39,359 44,292 27,564 
Construction contract assets 10 63,778 58,944 72,229 
Inventories 2,621 3,060 458 
Non-financial assets 11(a) 53,713 77,682 40,141 
Current tax assets  3,235 7,859 35,089 
Assets classified as held for sale 27 - 800,476 - 

 515,952 1,259,693 288,124 
 
Non-current assets: 

Financial assets, other 9(a) 4,441 5,119 3,444 
Non-financial assets 11(a) 203 181 321 
Deferred tax assets 23(d) 10,477 17,384 12,804 
Property, plant and equipment 12 42,256 27,183 40,939 
Intangible assets  13(a) 13,390 17,231 206,750 
Goodwill  13(b) 178,472 176,919 728,065 
  249,239 244,017  992,323 

 
  $ 765,191 $ 1,503,710 $ 1,280,447 
 

Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity 
Current liabilities: 

Trade and other payables  $ 87,098 $ 114,386 $ 119,143 
Current tax liabilities  17,044 14,975 2,706 
Financial liabilities, other  9(b), 10 16,497 19,707 9,211 
Provisions 14 26,772 1,024 2,979 
Employee benefits 15 59,263 63,699 56,560 
Non-financial liabilities 10,11(b) 11,263 24,111 56,511 
Construction contract liabilities 10 133,262 238,950 54,169 
Current portion of long-term debt  16 1,834 1,580 960 
Liabilities classified as held for sale 27 - 136,482 - 

   353,033 614,914 302,239 
Non-current liabilities: 

Financial liabilities, other 9(b) 17,522 10,834 29,981 
Provisions  14 2,025 2,442 6,196 
Employee benefits 15 40,268 51,006 38,227 
Non-financial liabilities 11(b) 7,546 4,839 4,323 
Deferred tax liabilities 23(d) 3,549 14,929 45,608 
Long-term debt  16 103,849 202,198 342,642 

   527,792 901,162 769,216 
 

Shareholders’ equity: 
Share capital  17 210,505 266,811 255,162 
Contributed surplus  4,440 9,694 15,402 
Retained earnings  34,367 361,569 239,192 
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (11,913) (35,526) 1,475 

 237,399 602,548 511,231 
 
  $ 765,191 $ 1,503,710 $ 1,280,447 
 
Contingencies and commitments (note 24) 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
Approved on behalf of the Board: 
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MACDONALD, DETTWILER AND ASSOCIATES LTD. 
Consolidated Statements of Change in Shareholders’ Equity  
(In thousands of Canadian dollars) 
 
Year ended December 31, 2011 
 
       Fair value  
     Net gain on  gains on Actuarial Total  
     Foreign hedge of net Fair value available- losses accumulated  
     currency investment gains (losses) for-sale on defined other Total 
  Share Contributed Retained translation in foreign on cash flow financial benefit comprehensive Shareholders’ 
  capital surplus earnings adjustment operations hedges assets  pension plans income (loss) equity 

 
Balance as at 

January 1, 
2011 $ 266,811 $ 9,694 $ 361,569   $ (42,360) $ - $ 9,857 $ 840 $ (3,863) $ (35,526) $ 602,548 

 
Common shares 

issued on 
exercise of 
share options 2,828 (35) - - - - - - - 2,793 

Common shares 
issued in 
conjunction with 
employee share 
purchase plan 3,051 - - - - - - - - 3,051 

Settlement of 
share-based 
compensation - (5,219) (7,093) - - - - - - (12,312) 

Repurchase of 
common shares (62,185) - (438,715) - - - - - - (500,900)  

Dividends - - (41,158) - - - - - - (41,158) 
Comprehensive 

income - - 159,764 34,194 1,690 (5,581) 94 (6,784) 23,613 183,377 
 
Balance as at 

December 31, 
 2011 $ 210,505 $ 4,440 $ 34,367 $ (8,166) $ 1,690 $ 4,276 $ 934 $ (10,647) $ (11,913) $ 237,399 

 
 
Year ended December 31, 2010 
 
       Fair value  
       gains on Actuarial Total  
     Foreign Fair value available- losses accumulated  
     currency gains on for-sale on defined other Total 
  Share Contributed Retained translation cash flow financial benefit comprehensive Shareholders’ 
  capital surplus earnings adjustment hedges assets  pension plans income (loss) equity 

 
Balance as at 

January 1, 2010 $ 255,162 $ 15,402 $ 239,192 $ - $ 799 $ 676 $ - $ 1,475 $ 511,231 
 
Common shares issued on 

exercise of share options 8,572 (268) - - - - - - 8,304 
Common shares issued in 

conjunction with 
employee share 
purchase plan 3,077 - - - - - - - 3,077 

Settlement of share-based 
compensation - (5,440) (8,366) - - - - - (13,806) 

Comprehensive income - - 130,743 (42,360) 9,058 164 (3,863) (37,001) 93,742 
 
Balance as at 

December 31, 2010 $ 266,811 $ 9,694 $ 361,569 $ (42,360) $ 9,857 $ 840 $ (3,863) $ (35,526) $ 602,548 

 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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MACDONALD, DETTWILER AND ASSOCIATES LTD. 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 
(In thousands of Canadian dollars) 
 
Years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 
 
  Note 2011 2010 
 
Cash flows provided by (used in): 

Operating activities: 
Earnings from continuing operations, before income taxes  $ 179,620 $ 111,203 
Adjustments to reconcile to net cash from operating activities: 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  12 7,246 7,904 
Amortization of intangible assets 13(a) 4,027 4,565 
Share-based compensation expense (recovery) 19(h) (3,943) 30,829 
Fair value gain on equity forward contracts 19(e) (2,682) (8,908) 
Finance income  (4,253) (718) 
Finance expense  6,162 4,769 
Foreign exchange  (14,616) (651) 

Income taxes paid  (29,987) (12,494) 
Income taxes recovered  1,164 16,531 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities 26 (182,875) 158,178 

 Cash provided by (used in) operating activities of continuing operations (40,137) 311,208 
 
Investing activities: 

Purchase of property, plant and equipment  12 (26,602) (5,265) 
Purchase/development of intangible assets 13 (1,726) (2,492) 
Disposal (purchase) of short-term investments  1,492 (11,930) 
Interest received on short-term investments and others  4,053 573 
Settlement of acquisition contingent consideration  - (2,039) 
Net proceeds from sale of Property Information business 27 748,782 - 

 Cash provided by (used in) investing activities of continuing operations 725,999 (21,153) 
 
Financing activities: 

Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt  - 108,253 
Repayment of long-term debt   (102,389) (245,111) 
Interest paid on long-term debt  (6,702) (3,828) 
Proceeds from issuance of common shares relating to 

share-based compensation plans 17 5,386 10,318 
Purchase of common shares for settlement of share-based 

compensation plans 17 (12,312) (10,356) 
Repurchase of common shares 17 (500,900) - 
Payment of dividends  (41,158) - 

 Cash used in financing activities of continuing operations  (658,075) (140,724) 
 
Cash and cash equivalents provided by continuing operations  27,787 149,331 
 
Cash and cash equivalents provided by (used in) 

discontinued operations 27 (6,992) 65,631 
 
Effect of foreign currency on cash and cash equivalents of 

continuing operations 4,578 (270) 
 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year  229,458 14,766 
 
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 8 $ 254,831 $ 229,458 
 
Supplementary cash flow information (note 26) 
 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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MACDONALD, DETTWILER AND ASSOCIATES LTD. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
(Tabular amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars) 
 
Years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 
 
 

 

1. General business description: 

MacDonald, Dettwiler and Associates Ltd. (the “Company” or “MDA”), is a Canadian corporation 
with common shares listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX”).  The Company’s head office 
is located at 13800 Commerce Parkway, Richmond, British Columbia, Canada.  The Company 
provides solutions that capture and process large amounts of data, produce essential information, 
and improve the decision making and operational performance of businesses and government 
organizations worldwide.  MDA’s business is focused on information solutions for market sectors 
which offer strong repeat business potential, principally the surveillance and intelligence sector 
and the communications sector.  In addition, the Company conducts a broad range of customer 
funded advanced technology development for various other market sectors. 

 

2. Basis of preparation: 

(a) Statement of compliance: 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (“IASB”).  These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS 1 - 
First-Time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards.  The Company's 
consolidated financial statements were previously prepared in accordance with Canadian 
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“Previous GAAP”). 

The comparative figures for 2010 have been restated to reflect significant differences 
between Previous GAAP and IFRS.  Reconciliations and descriptions on the transition from 
Previous GAAP to IFRS and the impact on the consolidated statements of earnings, 
consolidated statements of comprehensive income, consolidated balance sheets and 
consolidated statements of change in shareholders’ equity are provided in note 28. 

(b) Basis of measurement: 

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars and have been 
prepared on a historical cost basis, except for certain financial assets and liabilities including 
derivative instruments which are stated at fair value.   

(c) Operating cycle: 

The Company defines its operating cycle based on the duration of its contracts with 
customers and suppliers.  The Company enters into a significant number of contracts where 
the duration is more than twelve months and as a result, certain current assets and liabilities 
may have terms greater than twelve months. 
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MACDONALD, DETTWILER AND ASSOCIATES LTD. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
(Tabular amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars) 
 
Years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 
 
 

 

2. Basis of preparation (continued): 

(d) Use of estimates and judgments: 

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management to make 
judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and 
the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses.  These estimates and 
assumptions are based on historical experience and various factors that management 
believes to be reasonable under the circumstances.  Actual results may differ from these 
estimates.  Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates are 
revised and in any future periods affected.  Significant areas requiring the use of judgment in 
application of accounting policies and assumptions and estimates include business 
combinations, revenue recognition, fair valuation of financial instruments, hedge accounting, 
impairment of non-financial assets, provisions, pension and post-retirement benefit 
obligations, share-based compensation, determination of functional currencies and the 
application of foreign currency translation, investment tax credits, and income taxes.  
Additional information is included in the following notes. 

 

3. Significant accounting policies: 

(a) Basis of consolidation: 

These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and all 
subsidiary entities which are controlled by the Company.  The Company owns 100% of the 
outstanding equity in each of its subsidiaries.  All intercompany balances and transactions 
are eliminated on consolidation. 

(b) Business combinations: 

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method.  The consideration 
for an acquisition is measured at the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities 
assumed and the equity interests issued at the acquisition date.  The excess of the 
consideration over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as 
goodwill.  Transaction costs that are incurred in connection with a business combination, 
other than costs associated with the issuance of debt or equity securities, are expensed as 
incurred.  On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, any non-controlling interest is measured 
either at fair value of the non-controlling interest or at the fair value of the proportionate share 
of the net assets acquired. 

Contingent consideration is measured at fair value on acquisition date and is included as part 
of the consideration transferred.  The fair value of the contingent consideration liability is re-
measured at each reporting date with the corresponding gain or loss being recognized in 
earnings. 
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MACDONALD, DETTWILER AND ASSOCIATES LTD. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
(Tabular amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars) 
 
Years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 
 
 

 

3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(c) Foreign currency: 

The consolidated financial statements of the Company are presented in Canadian dollars. 

(i) Transactions in foreign currency: 

Each entity within the consolidated group records transactions using its functional 
currency, being the currency of the primary economic environment in which it operates.  
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the respective functional currency of 
each entity using the foreign currency rates prevailing at the date of the transaction.  
Period end balances of monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currency are translated 
to the respective functional currencies using period end foreign currency rates.  Foreign 
currency gains and losses arising from settlement of foreign currency transactions are 
recognized in earnings.  

(ii) Foreign operations translation: 

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into Canadian dollars at 
period end foreign currency rates.  Revenues and expenses of foreign operations are 
translated into Canadian dollars at average rates for the period.  Foreign currency 
translation gains and losses are recognized in other comprehensive income.  The 
relevant amount in cumulative foreign currency translation adjustment is reclassified into 
earnings upon disposition or partial disposition of a foreign operation. 

Foreign exchange gains and losses arising from translation of intercompany receivables 
and payables between subsidiaries with differing functional currencies, the settlement of 
which is neither planned nor likely to occur in the foreseeable future and which in 
substance is considered to form part of the net investment in the foreign operation, are 
recognized in other comprehensive income in the cumulative amount of foreign currency 
translation differences. 

(iii) Hedge of net investment in foreign operation: 

Foreign exchange gains and losses arising from translation of a financial liability 
designated as a hedge of a net investment in a foreign operation are recognized in other 
comprehensive income, to the extent that the hedge is effective.  To the extent that the 
hedge is ineffective, the gains and losses are recognized in earnings. When the hedged 
portion of a net investment is disposed of, the relevant amount accumulated in other 
comprehensive income is transferred to earnings as part of the gain or loss on disposal. 
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MACDONALD, DETTWILER AND ASSOCIATES LTD. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
(Tabular amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars) 
 
Years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 
 
 

 

3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(d) Revenue recognition: 

Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable, net of 
discounts and after eliminating intercompany sales. 

Where revenue arrangements have separately identifiable components, the consideration 
received is allocated to each identifiable component and the applicable revenue recognition 
criteria are applied to each of the components.  

(i) Construction contracts: 

Revenue from construction contracts includes initial contract amounts, variations in contract 
work, claims, incentive payments and customer furnished materials.  When the outcome of 
a construction contract can be measured reliably, revenue is recognized using the 
percentage of completion method based on contract costs incurred relative to total 
estimated contract costs or units delivered relative to total units.  Construction contracts 
may be accounted for separately, segmented into components which are accounted for 
separately or combined with other contracts to form a single contract for revenue and 
expense recognition purposes.  When the outcome of a construction contract cannot be 
measured reliably, contract costs incurred are expensed immediately and revenue is 
recognized only to the extent that costs are considered likely to be recoverable.  When it is 
probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract revenue, the expected loss is 
recognized immediately in the statement of earnings. 

The percentage of completion method places considerable importance on accurate 
estimates of the extent of progress towards completion.  During the contractual period, 
revenue and costs may be impacted by estimates for total contract costs, remaining costs 
to completion, total contract revenues, contract risks and other judgments. Management 
continually reviews such estimates and adjusts them as necessary.  The inception to date 
impact of changes in estimates of contract revenues or costs to complete is recognized in 
the period that the change is determined by management. 

When costs incurred plus recognized profit on a construction contract exceeds progress 
billings, the net amount is recorded as construction contract assets.  Conversely, when 
progress billings exceed costs incurred plus recognized profit, the net amount is recorded 
as construction contract liabilities.  

(ii) Services: 

Revenue from service contracts is recognized by reference to the stage of completion 
based on services performed to date as a percentage of total services to be performed or 
on a straight-line basis over the term of the contract if revenue is determined to be earned 
evenly.  Revenue from the sale of certain services that include the supply of processed 
data or data products is recognized upon delivery. 
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MACDONALD, DETTWILER AND ASSOCIATES LTD. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
(Tabular amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars) 
 
Years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 
 
 

 

3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(e) Earnings per common share: 

Basic earnings per common share is computed by dividing net earnings by the weighted 
average number of common shares outstanding during the period.  Diluted earnings per 
common share is determined by adjusting the weighted average number of common shares 
outstanding for the effects of all dilutive potential common shares, which includes options 
granted to employees.  The average market value of the Company’s shares for purposes of 
calculating the dilutive effect of share options was based on quoted market prices for the 
period during which the options were outstanding. 

(f) Research and development: 

Research costs are expensed in the period incurred.  Development costs are capitalized and 
recorded as an intangible asset if technical feasibility has been established and the Company 
expects to generate probable future economic benefits from the asset created on completion 
of development.  The costs capitalized include materials, direct labour, directly attributable 
overhead expenditures and borrowing costs on qualifying assets.  Other development costs 
are expensed in the period incurred.  The amount of development costs capitalized in 2011 
was not significant. 

(g) Government assistance and investment tax credits: 

Government assistance includes government grants, below-market rate of interest loans and 
investment tax credits and is recognized when there is reasonable assurance that the 
Company will comply with the relevant conditions and that the government assistance will be 
received.  

Government assistance that meets the recognition criteria and that relates to current 
expenses is recorded as a reduction of the related expenses in direct costs, selling, general 
and administration.  Government assistance that meets the recognition criteria and that 
relates to the acquisition of an asset is recorded as a reduction of the cost of the related 
asset.  If government assistance becomes repayable, the inception to date impact of 
assistance previously recognized in earnings is reversed immediately in the period that the 
assistance becomes repayable. 

The benefit of a government loan at a below-market rate of interest is treated as a 
government grant, measured as the difference between proceeds received and the fair value 
of the loan based on prevailing market interest rates. 
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MACDONALD, DETTWILER AND ASSOCIATES LTD. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
(Tabular amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars) 
 
Years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 
 
 

 

3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(g) Government assistance and investment tax credits (continued): 

Investment tax credits, whether or not recognized in the financial statements, may be carried 
forward to reduce future Canadian federal and provincial income taxes payable.  The 
Company applies judgment when determining whether the reasonable assurance threshold 
has been met to recognize investment tax credits in the financial statements.  The Company 
must interpret eligibility requirements in accordance with Canadian income tax laws and must 
assess whether future taxable income will be available against which the investment tax 
credits can be utilized.  Any changes in these interpretations and assessments could have an 
impact on the amount and timing of investment tax credits recognized in the financial 
statements. 

(h) Finance income and finance expense: 

Finance income is comprised of interest income and gain on disposals of available-for-sale 
assets.  Interest income is recognized as it accrues in earnings, using the effective interest 
method. 

Finance expense is comprised of borrowing cost on debt, imputed interest on liabilities, 
forward points and losses on disposal of available-for-sale assets.  All finance costs are 
recognized in earnings using the effective interest method.  Finance costs exclude borrowing 
costs attributable to the construction of qualifying assets, which are assets that take a 
substantial period of time to prepare for their intended use.  Borrowing costs associated with 
qualifying assets are added to the cost of the related assets. 

(i) Financial instruments: 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value and are 
subsequently re-measured based on their classification as described below.  Transaction 
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issuance of a financial asset or liability, 
other than financial assets and liabilities classified at fair value through earnings, are added 
or deducted from the fair value of the respective financial asset or financial liability on initial 
recognition.  Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of a financial 
asset or financial liability classified at fair value through earnings are recognized immediately 
in earnings. 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the balance sheet 
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an 
intention to settle on a net basis or realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 
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MACDONALD, DETTWILER AND ASSOCIATES LTD. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
(Tabular amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars) 
 
Years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 
 
 

 

3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(i) Financial instruments (continued): 

(i) Financial assets: 

Financial assets are classified into the following categories: at fair value through 
earnings, loans and receivables, and available for sale.  The classification depends on 
the nature and purpose of the financial asset and is determined at the time of initial 
recognition. 

 Financial assets at fair value through earnings 

Financial assets at fair value through earnings are financial assets that are held for 
trading and include derivative instruments that are not included in a qualifying 
hedging relationship.  Financial assets classified as financial assets at fair value 
through earnings are initially measured at fair value with any gains or losses arising 
on re-measurement recognized in earnings. 

 Loans and receivables 

Loans and receivables include cash and cash equivalents and non-derivative 
financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 
market and include trade and other receivables and other financial assets.  Loans 
and receivables are initially measured at fair value and are subsequently re-
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment 
losses. 

 Available-for-sale financial assets 

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are either 
designated in this category or not classified into any of the other categories and 
include short-term and long-term investments.  Available-for-sale financial assets are 
initially measured at fair value with any gains or losses on re-measurement 
recognized in other comprehensive income until the financial asset is derecognized 
or is determined to be permanently impaired, at which time the gain or loss 
accumulated in equity is transferred to earnings. 

Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the assets 
have expired or have been transferred, and the Company has transferred substantially all 
of the risks and rewards of ownership. 
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MACDONALD, DETTWILER AND ASSOCIATES LTD. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
(Tabular amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars) 
 
Years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 
 
 

 

3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(i) Financial instruments (continued): 

(ii) Financial liabilities: 

Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities at fair value through earnings 
or as other financial liabilities. 

 Financial liabilities at fair value through earnings 

Financial liabilities are classified at fair value through earnings when held for trading 
or if designated in this category.  Financial liabilities classified as financial liabilities at 
fair value through earnings include derivative instruments that are not included in a 
qualifying hedging relationship and are initially measured at fair value with any gains 
or losses arising on re-measurement recognized in earnings. 

 Other financial liabilities 

Other financial liabilities include trade and other payables and long-term debt, are 
initially measured at fair value and are subsequently measured at amortized cost 
using the effective interest method. 

(iii) Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities: 

The Company uses derivative financial instruments to manage risk associated with foreign 
currency rates, interest rates, and share price of the Company.  Derivative financial 
instruments are measured at fair value.  When derivative financial instruments are 
designated in a qualifying hedging relationship and hedge accounting is applied, the 
effectiveness of the hedges is measured at the end of each reporting period and the 
effective portion of changes in fair value is recognized in other comprehensive income and 
any ineffective portion is recognized immediately in earnings.  For foreign exchange 
forward contracts used to manage risk associated with foreign currency rates, amounts 
are transferred from accumulated other comprehensive income to revenue or direct 
costs, selling, general and administration when the underlying transaction affects 
earnings.  For interest rate swaps used to manage risk associated with interest rates, 
amounts are transferred from accumulated other comprehensive income to finance 
expense when the underlying transaction affects earnings.  The Company has not 
currently designated any equity forward contracts used to manage risk associated with 
the share price of the Company in a qualifying hedging relationship.  For derivative 
instruments not in a qualifying hedging relationship, changes in fair value are recognized 
immediately in earnings as either foreign exchange gain (loss), finance expense, or fair 
value gain (loss) on equity forward contracts as appropriate. 
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MACDONALD, DETTWILER AND ASSOCIATES LTD. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
(Tabular amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars) 
 
Years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 
 
 

 

3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(i) Financial instruments (continued): 

(iii) Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities (continued): 

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedging instrument expires or is sold, 
terminated, exercised or no longer qualifies for hedge accounting.  At that time, if the 
forecasted transaction within a cash flow hedge remains probable, any cumulative gain or 
loss on the hedging instrument recognized in other comprehensive income is retained in 
equity until the forecasted transaction occurs.  If the forecasted transaction is no longer 
expected to occur, the net cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in other 
comprehensive income is transferred to earnings. 

(iv) Embedded derivatives: 

The Company has embedded foreign currency derivatives in certain customer and supplier 
contracts.  These derivatives are accounted for as separate instruments and are measured 
at fair value at each reporting date.  Changes in fair value are recognized in earnings as 
foreign exchange gains or losses. 

(j) Cash and cash equivalents: 

Cash and cash equivalents is comprised of cash on hand, cash balances with banks and 
similar institutions and term deposits redeemable within three months or less from date of 
acquisition with banks and similar institutions.  Cash and cash equivalents also include 
restricted cash deposits held in separate accounts to be used for specific purposes.  

(k) Investments: 

(i) Short-term investments: 

Short-term investments consist of mutual funds and financial instruments purchased with a 
term to maturity at inception between three months and one year.   

(ii) Long-term investments: 

Long-term investments consist of publicly traded investments in which the Company does 
not have significant influence. 

(l) Property, plant and equipment: 

Property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses.  Depreciation expense is recognized in earnings on a 
straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the related asset to its residual value.  
When the costs of certain components of an item of property, plant and equipment are 
significant in relation to the total cost of the item and the components have different useful 
lives, they are accounted for and depreciated separately.  Land is not depreciated.  Borrowing 
costs are capitalized on the qualifying assets that take a substantial period of time to be ready 
for their intended use.   
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(l) Property, plant and equipment (continued): 

The estimated useful lives are as follows: 
 
  Estimated useful life 
 
Computer hardware 3 to 5 years  
Equipment 4 to 7 years 
Furniture and fixtures 3 to 10 years 
Leasehold improvements (lesser of useful life or term of lease)  3 to 11 years 
Building 25 years 
 

 
At December 31, 2011, the Company reviews the estimated useful life and the depreciation 
method at each reporting date. 

(m) Leased assets: 

Leased assets for which the Company assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership are classified as finance leases.  Upon initial recognition, the leased asset is 
measured at an amount equal to the lower of its fair value and the present value of the 
minimum lease payments.  The asset is depreciated over the shorter of the lease term or its 
estimated useful life.  All other leases are considered operating leases and the payments, 
including lease incentives, are recognized in earnings on a straight-line basis over the term of 
the lease. 

(n) Intangible assets and goodwill: 

(i) Intangible assets: 

Intangible assets with finite lives consist of acquired software, internally developed 
software, and customer relationships.  Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized on 
a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives and are measured at cost less 
accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses.  Cost for intangible 
assets acquired in a business combination represents the fair value of the asset at the 
time of the acquisition.  Intangible assets with finite lives are currently amortized over the 
following periods: 
 
  Estimated useful life 
 
Software 2 to 5 years  
Customer relationships 10 to 21 years 
 
 

At December 31, 2011 and 2010, the Company did not have any indefinite life intangible 
assets relating to its continuing operations other than goodwill.  Indefinite life intangible 
assets relating to its discontinued operations were reclassified to assets classified as held 
for sale at December 31, 2010. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(n) Intangible assets and goodwill (continued): 

(ii) Goodwill: 

In respect of acquisitions prior to January 1, 2009, goodwill is included on the basis of its 
deemed cost, which represents the amount recorded under previous Canadian GAAP. 

Goodwill is not amortized but is tested for impairment annually or whenever there is an 
indication of impairment.  Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment 
losses. 

(o) Impairment: 

(i) Financial assets: 

Financial assets not carried at fair value through earnings are assessed for impairment at 
each reporting date.  A financial asset is impaired if objective evidence indicates that a 
loss event which negatively affected the estimated future cash flows has occurred after 
the initial recognition of the asset.  For financial assets measured at amortized cost, the 
impairment loss is the difference between the carrying amount and the present value of 
the estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate.  If an 
impairment has occurred, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced, with the amount of 
the loss recognized in earnings.  A permanent impairment loss for an available-for-sale 
investment is recognized by transferring the cumulative loss previously recognized in 
other comprehensive income to earnings.   

(ii) Non-financial assets: 

Goodwill and non-financial assets are tested for impairment annually, or whenever events 
or changes in circumstances indicate that an asset's carrying amount may be less than 
its recoverable amount. Management uses judgment to estimate the inputs to these 
assessments and any changes to these inputs could have a material impact on the 
impairment calculation. 

For impairment testing, non-financial assets that do not generate independent cash flows 
are grouped together into cash-generating units ("CGUs"), which represent the level at 
which largely independent cash flows are generated.  Goodwill is allocated to groups of 
CGU's based on the level at which it is monitored for internal reporting purposes. 

An impairment loss is recognized in earnings to the extent that the carrying value of an 
asset, CGU or group of CGU's exceeds its estimated recoverable amount.  The 
recoverable amount of an asset, CGU or group of CGU's is the greater of its value in use 
and its fair value less cost to sell.  Value in use is calculated as the present value of the 
estimated future cash flows discounted at appropriate discount rates. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(o) Impairment (continued): 

(ii) Non-financial assets (continued): 

An impairment loss relating to a specific asset reduces the carrying value of the asset.  
An impairment loss relating to a CGU or group of CGU’s reduces the carrying value of 
the goodwill allocated to the CGU or group of CGU’s, then reduces the carrying value of 
the other assets of the CGU or group of CGU’s on a pro-rata basis. 

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.  A previously recognized 
impairment loss related to other non-financial assets is assessed at each reporting date 
for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss 
related to other non-financial assets is reversed if there is a subsequent increase in 
recoverable amount.  An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset's 
carrying value does not exceed the carrying value that would have been determined, net 
of depreciation or amortization, if no impairment loss had been recognized. 

(p) Provisions: 

Provisions are recognized if, as a result of a past event, the Company has a present legal or 
constructive obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of 
resources will be required to settle the obligation.  Provisions are determined by discounting 
expected future cash outflows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of 
the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. Management uses judgment to 
estimate the amount, timing and probability of the liability based on facts known at the 
reporting date.  The unwinding of the discount is recognized as finance cost. 

(i) Onerous contracts: 

A provision for onerous contracts is recognized when the unavoidable costs of meeting the 
obligations under the contract exceed the economic benefits expected to be received from 
the contract. The provision is measured at the present value of the lower of the expected 
cost of terminating the contracts and the expected net cost of continuing with the contracts. 

(ii) Decommissioning liabilities: 

A provision for decommissioning liabilities is recognized at the time of asset acquisition.  
Decommissioning liabilities are added to the carrying value of the related asset and are 
depreciated over the asset’s estimated useful life. 

(iii) Warranty costs: 

A provision for warranty costs is recognized when the underlying product or service is sold 
and when the recognition criteria described above have been met.  Warranty provisions are 
based on management’s best estimate of the expected obligation using historical warranty 
data and experience.  Warranty provisions related to products and services delivered under 
construction contracts are included in the estimated total costs to complete when applying 
the percentage of completion method of revenue recognition.  
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(p) Provisions (continued): 

(iv) Restructuring costs: 

A provision for restructuring costs is recognized when the Company has approved a 
detailed and formal restructuring plan, and the restructuring either has commenced or has 
been announced publicly.  Future operating losses are excluded from the provision. 

(q) Employee benefits: 

(i) Defined benefit pension plans and other post-retirement benefit plans: 

The Company maintains defined benefit plans for some of its employees.  The 
Company’s net obligation in respect of defined benefit plans is calculated separately for 
each plan by using the projected unit credit method, which takes into account the 
expected salary increases as the basis for future benefit increases for the pension plans.  
Any unrecognized past service costs and the fair value of any plan assets are deducted.  
The discount rate is the yield at the reporting date on high quality corporate bonds that 
have maturity dates approximating the terms of the Company’s obligations and that are 
denominated in the same currency in which the benefits are expected to be paid. 
Actuarial assumptions for discount rates, expected salary increases and the projected 
age of employees upon retirement reflect historical experience and the Company’s 
assessment of future expectations.  The calculation is performed by a qualified actuary 
using the projected unit credit method.  When the calculation results in a benefit to the 
Company, the recognized asset is limited to the total of any unrecognized past service 
costs and the present value of economic benefits available in the form of any future 
refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan. In order to 
calculate the present value of economic benefits, consideration is given to any minimum 
funding requirements that apply to any plan in the Company.  An economic benefit is 
available to the Company if it is realizable during the life of the plan, or on settlement of 
the plan liabilities. 

Past service costs are recognized as an expense on a straight line basis over the 
average period until the benefits become vested.  If the benefits have already vested, 
immediately following the introduction of, or changes to, a defined benefit plan, past 
service costs are recognized in earnings immediately. 

The Company recognizes all actuarial gains and losses arising from defined benefit plans 
immediately in other comprehensive income. 

A plan curtailment will result if the Company has demonstrably committed to a significant 
reduction in the expected future service of active employees or a significant element of 
future service by active employees no longer qualifies for benefits.  A curtailment is 
recognized when the event giving rise to the curtailment occurs. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(q) Employee benefits (continued): 

(ii) Termination benefits: 

Termination benefits are expensed when the Company has demonstrably committed, 
without realistic possibility of withdrawal, to a formal detailed plan to either terminate 
employment before the normal retirement date, or to provide termination benefits as a 
result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy.  Termination benefits for 
voluntary redundancies are expensed if the Company has made an offer of voluntary 
redundancy, it is probable that the offer will be accepted and the number of acceptances 
can be estimated reliably. 

(r) Share-based compensation plans: 

The Company maintains a number of share-based compensation plans for certain employees 
and directors, the majority of which are cash-settled share appreciation rights as described in 
note 19.  Share-based compensation plans are measured at fair value using the Black-
Scholes option pricing model and the fair value is expensed on a straight-line basis over the 
vesting period.  Management uses judgment to determine the inputs to the Black-Scholes 
option pricing model including the expected plan lives, underlying share price volatility and 
forfeiture rates.  Volatility is estimated by considering the Company’s historic share price 
volatility over similar periods to the expected life of the awards under consideration.  Changes 
in these assumptions will impact the calculation of fair value and the amount of compensation 
expense recognized in earnings. 

For cash-settled plans, the fair value is recognized as a liability in the consolidated balance 
sheet and is re-measured and charged to earnings at each reporting date until the award is 
settled.  For equity-settled plans, the expense is based on grant date fair value including the 
impact of estimated forfeitures, and is recorded as an increase in equity.   

(s) Income taxes: 

Income tax expense is comprised of current and deferred tax.  Current tax and deferred tax 
are recognized into earnings except to the extent that it relates to a business combination, or 
items recognized directly in other comprehensive income. 

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the 
year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any 
adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(s) Income taxes (continued): 

Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation 
purposes.  Deferred tax is not recognized for the following temporary differences: the initial 
recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and that 
affects neither accounting nor taxable earnings, and differences relating to investments in 
subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities to the extent that it is probable that they will not 
reverse in the foreseeable future. In addition, deferred tax is not recognized for taxable 
temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill.  Deferred tax is measured 
at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they reverse, 
based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.  
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset 
current tax liabilities and assets, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax 
authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle 
current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be 
realized simultaneously. 

A deferred tax asset is recognized for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible 
temporary differences, to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be 
available against which they can be utilized.  Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each 
reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax 
benefit will be realized. 

(t) Inventories: 

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value.  The cost of 
inventories is determined on a first-in-first-out basis or weighted average cost basis, 
depending on the nature of the inventory.  Net realizable value is the estimated selling price 
in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of completion and selling 
expense.  

(u) Discontinued operations: 

Discontinued operations are reported when a component of the Company, representing a 
separate major line of business or geographical area of operations with clearly 
distinguishable cash flows, has been disposed of or is held for sale.  Classification as a 
discontinued operation occurs upon disposal or when the operation meets the criteria to be 
classified as held for sale, if earlier.  Discontinued operations are reported as a separate 
element of net earnings on the consolidated statement of earnings for both the current and 
comparative periods.  When a disposal group is classified as held for sale, assets and 
liabilities are aggregated and presented as separate line items, respectively, on the 
consolidated balance sheet.  Comparative periods are not restated on the balance sheet.  
Assets held for sale are not depreciated and are measured at the lower of carrying value and 
fair value less costs to sell. 
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4. New standards and interpretations not yet adopted: 

IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments  

In November 2009, the IASB issued IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments, which is the first step in its 
project to replace IAS 39 - Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. IFRS 9 
establishes the measurement and classification of financial assets.  Under IFRS 9, financial 
assets are measured either at fair value through earnings or at amortized cost if certain 
conditions are met.  The effective date of this standard is January 1, 2015, but early adoption is 
permitted.  The Company is currently evaluating the impact of IFRS 9 on its financial statements 
and expects to apply the standard on January 1, 2015. 

IFRS 10 - Consolidated Financial Statements 

In May 2011, the IASB issued IFRS 10 - Consolidated Financial Statements.  The objective of 
IFRS 10 is to establish principles for the presentation and preparation of consolidated financial 
statements when an entity controls one or more other entities.  The effective date of this standard 
is January 1, 2013, but early adoption is permitted.  The Company expects to apply this standard 
to its financial statements beginning on January 1, 2013.  The adoption of IFRS 10 is not 
expected to have a significant impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements. 

IFRS 12 - Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities 

In May 2011, the IASB issued IFRS 12 - Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities.  The objective of 
IFRS 12 is to require the disclosure of information that enables users of financial statements to 
evaluate the nature of, and risks associated with, its interests in other entities and the effects of 
those interests on its financial position, financial performance and cash flows.  The effective date 
of this standard is January 1, 2013, but early adoption is permitted.  The Company expects to 
apply this standard to its financial statements beginning on January 1, 2013.  The adoption of 
IFRS 12 is not expected to have a significant impact on the Company’s consolidated financial 
statements. 

IFRS 13 - Fair Value Measurement 

In May 2011, the IASB issued IFRS 13 - Fair Value Measurement.  The objective of IFRS 13 is to 
define fair value, set out in a single IFRS the framework for measuring fair value, and establish 
disclosure requirements regarding fair value measurements.  The effective date of this standard 
is January 1, 2013, but early adoption is permitted.  The Company expects to apply this standard 
to its financial statements beginning on January 1, 2013.  The Company is currently evaluating 
the impact of IFRS 13 on its financial statements. 
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4. New standards and interpretations not yet adopted (continued): 

IAS 19 - Employee Benefits 

In June 2011, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 19 – Employee Benefits.  Included in the 
amendments to IAS 19 are changes in the recognition of actuarial gains and losses, changes to 
the recognition and measurement of defined benefit pension expense, and enhancements to 
disclosures about defined benefit plans.  The effective date of the amended version of this 
standard is January 1, 2013, but early adoption is permitted.  The Company expects to apply this 
standard to its financial statements beginning on January 1, 2013.  The Company is currently 
evaluating the impact of amendments to IAS 19 on its financial statements. 

IAS 1 – Presentation of Financial Statements 

In June 2011, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 1 - Presentation of Financial Statements.  The 
amendments to IAS 1 include a requirement for entities to group items in other comprehensive 
income based on whether they will or will not be classified to the statement of earnings in the 
future.  The effective date of this standard is January 1, 2013, but early adoption is permitted.  
The Company expects to apply this standard to its financial statements beginning on January 1, 
2013.  The adoption of these amendments to IAS 1 is not expected to have a significant impact 
on the Company’s consolidated financial statements. 

IAS 32 – Financial Instruments: Presentation 

In December 2011, the IASB issued Offsetting Financial Assets and Liabilities, an amendment to 
IAS 32 - Financial Instruments: Presentation.  The objective of this amendment to IAS 32 is to 
clarify when an entity has a right to offset financial assets and liabilities.  The effective date of this 
standard is January 1, 2014, but early adoption is permitted.  The Company expects to apply this 
standard to its financial statements beginning on January 1, 2014.  The Company is currently 
evaluating the impact of the amendment to IAS 32 on its financial statements. 

IFRS 7 – Financial Instruments: Disclosures 

In December 2011, the IASB issued amendments to IFRS 7 - Financial Instruments: Disclosures.  
The objective of this amendment to IFRS 7 is to enhance disclosures about offsetting of financial 
assets and financial liabilities.  The effective date of this standard is January 1, 2013, but early 
adoption is permitted.  The Company expects to apply this standard to its financial statements 
beginning on January 1, 2013.  The Company is currently evaluating the impact of the 
amendment to IFRS 7 on its financial statements. 
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5. Revenue and segmented information: 

The Company’s business of providing advanced information solutions to business and 
government organizations worldwide is reported as one operating segment.   

The Company’s primary sources of revenue from continuing operations are as follows: 
 
   For the year ended 
   December 31,  
  2011 2010 
 
Construction contracts $ 529,515 $ 426,487 
Services 231,602 261,552 
 
  $ 761,117 $ 688,039 
 
The aggregate amount of revenue recognized to date less losses recognized to date for 
construction contracts in progress at December 31, 2011 was $1,771,137,000 (December 31, 
2010 - $1,431,886,000, January 1, 2010 - $1,227,640,000).  Advance payments received for 
construction contracts in progress at December 31, 2011 were $133,262,000 (December 31, 
2010 - $238,950,000, January 1, 2010 - $54,169,000).  Retentions in connection with 
construction contracts at December 31, 2011 were $26,457,000 (December 31, 2010 - 
$21,152,000, January 1, 2010 - $24,156,000). 

The approximate revenue based on geographic location of customers is as follows: 
 
   For the year ended 
   December 31,  
  2011 2010 
 
Revenue: 

Canada $ 247,888 $ 255,858 
Europe 235,379 160,862 
United States 186,024 160,971 
Other 91,826 110,348 

 
  $ 761,117 $ 688,039 
 
Revenue from significant customers is as follows: 
 
   For the year ended 
   December 31,  
  2011 2010 
 
Canadian Federal Government and agencies $ 217,133 $ 216,421 
Radio Research and Development Institute 133,017 105,276 
U.S. Federal Government and agencies 110,848 91,969 
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5. Revenue and segmented information (continued): 

The Company’s non-current non-financial assets, property, plant and equipment, intangible 
assets and goodwill are geographically located as follows: 
 
  December 31, December 31,  January 1, 
  2011 2010 2010 
 
Canada $ 143,691 $ 117,441 $ 150,389 
United States 89,893 103,349 560,562 
Europe 737 724 265,124 
 
  $ 234,321 $ 221,514 $ 976,075 
 

6. Operating costs: 
 
   For the year ended  

  December 31,   
  2011 2010 
 
Employee salaries and benefits $ 231,644 $ 215,267 
Costs related to defined benefit plans 2,290 2,889 
Subcontractor costs relating to construction and service 

contracts  238,553  184,628 
Materials, equipment, professional fees, travel and other  107,416  126,940 
 
Direct costs, selling, general and administration 579,903 529,724 

Depreciation and amortization  11,273  12,469 
Share-based compensation expense (recovery) (3,943) 30,829 
 
 $ 587,233 $ 573,022 
 

7. Finance expense: 
 
   For the year ended 
   December 31,  
  2011 2010 
 
Finance expense: 

Interest on long-term debt $ 6,072 $ 2,940 
Interest on forward points 846 1,399 
Imputed interest and other (756) 430 

 
  $ 6,162 $ 4,769 
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8. Cash and cash equivalents: 
 
  December 31, December 31,  January 1, 
  2011 2010 2010 
 
Cash at bank and on hand $ 8,821 $ 11,334 $ 6,310 
Cash equivalents 238,335 171,500 - 
Restricted cash 7,675 6,693 8,456 
 
Cash and cash equivalents 254,831 189,527 14,766 
 
Cash and cash equivalents, discontinued 

operations - 39,931 - 
 
Cash and cash equivalents in  

the statement of cash flows $ 254,831 $ 229,458 $ 14,766 
 

9. Financial assets and liabilities, other: 

(a) Financial assets, other 
 
  December 31, December 31,  January 1, 
  2011 2010 2010 
 
Short-term investments $ 26,646 $ 27,139 $ 15,825 
Notes receivable  1,367  1,474  1,729 
Investments in equity securities 135 180 860 
Fair value gains on derivative 

financial instruments 15,652 20,618 12,594 
 43,800 49,411 31,008 
 
Current portion (39,359) (44,292) (27,564) 
 
  $ 4,441 $ 5,119 $ 3,444 
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9. Financial assets and liabilities, other (continued): 

(b) Financial liabilities, other: 
 
  December 31, December 31,  January 1, 
  2011 2010 2010 
 
Contingent consideration $ 2,758 $ 2,690 $ 6,752 
Non-trade payables  15,362  -  - 
Fair value losses on derivative 

financial instruments 15,373 27,633 31,644 
Other 526 218 796 
 34,019 30,541 39,192 
 
Current portion (16,497) (19,707) (9,211) 
 
  $ 17,522 $ 10,834 $ 29,981 
 

10. Maturities of certain current assets and liabilities: 

The Company’s current assets and current liabilities include all assets and liabilities that mature 
within the Company’s operating cycle.  The table below gives the maturity profile of certain 
current assets and current liabilities where the maturities extend beyond twelve months. 
 
  Due within Due after 
December 31, 2011 one year one year Total 
 
Financial assets, other $ 39,359 $ - $ 39,359 
Construction contract assets 55,013 8,765 63,778 
Financial liabilities, other 16,497 - 16,497 
Non-financial liabilities 9,291 1,972 11,263 
Construction contract liabilities 108,492 24,770 133,262 
 

 
 
  Due within Due after 
December 31, 2010 one year one year Total 
 
Financial assets, other $ 44,292 $ - $ 44,292 
Construction contract assets 48,384 10,560 58,944 
Financial liabilities, other 19,707 - 19,707 
Non-financial liabilities 22,635 1,476 24,111 
Construction contract liabilities 138,142 100,808 238,950 
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10. Maturities of certain current assets and liabilities (continued): 
 
  Due within Due after 
January 1, 2010 one year one year Total 
 
Financial assets, other $ 27,564 $ - $ 27,564 
Construction contract assets 57,450 14,779 72,229 
Financial liabilities, other 9,211 - 9,211 
Non-financial liabilities 50,474 6,037 56,511 
Construction contract liabilities 47,791 6,378 54,169 
 

 

11. Non-financial assets and liabilities: 

(a) Non-financial assets: 
 
  December 31, December 31,  January 1, 
  2011 2010 2010 
 
Prepaid expenses $ 9,354 $ 8,451 $ 32,216 
Advances to suppliers  44,458  47,760   7,925 
Deferred transaction costs relating  

to disposition  -  21,471  - 
Other  104  181  321 
  53,916 77,863 40,462 
 
Current portion  (53,713) (77,682) (40,141) 
 
  $ 203 $ 181 $ 321 
 

(b) Non-financial liabilities: 
 
  December 31, December 31,  January 1, 
  2011 2010 2010 
 
Deferred revenue $ 10,648 $ 23,721 $ 55,646 
Lease inducements 7,714 4,454 3,886 
Other 447 775 1,302 
  18,809 28,950 60,834 
 
Current portion  (11,263) (24,111) (56,511) 
 
  $ 7,546 $ 4,839 $ 4,323 
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12. Property, plant and equipment: 
 
 Land and Leasehold  Furniture Computer 
 buildings improvements Equipment and fixtures hardware Total 
 
Cost 
 
Balance as at January 1, 2010 $ 11,329 $ 27,503 $ 19,462 $ 7,483 $ 57,754 $ 123,531 

Additions - 658 768 571 7,616 9,613 
Disposals - (2,027) (1,370) (587) (5,616) (9,600) 
Foreign currency translation (20) (553) (257) (235) (1,349) (2,414) 
Transferred to assets 

classified as held for sale  (306) (3,951) (1,123) (2,782) (17,095) (25,257) 
 
Balance as at December 31, 2010 11,003 21,630 17,480 4,450 41,310 95,873 

Additions 6,482 2,870 6,321 133 4,967 20,773 
Reclassification from 

intangible assets - 118 1,382 41 32 1,573 
Disposals - (636) - (26) (672) (1,334) 
Foreign currency translation - 129 193 15 79 416 

 
Balance as at December 31, 

2011 $ 17,485 $ 24,111 $ 25,376 $ 4,613 $ 45,716 $ 117,301 
 
 

 Land and Leasehold  Furniture Computer 
 buildings improvements Equipment and fixtures hardware Total 
 
Accumulated depreciation  
 
Balance as at January 1, 2010 $ 1,235 $ 18,516 $ 12,430 $ 5,329 $ 45,082 $ 82,592 

Depreciation expense  281 1,637 1,627 504 7,737 11,786 
Disposals - (1,944) (1,365) (574) (4,763) (8,646) 
Foreign currency translation (7) (298) (164) (124) (1,143) (1,736) 
Transferred to assets 

classified as held for sale (119) (2,069) (1,109) (1,483) (10,526) (15,306) 
 
Balance as at December 31, 2010 1,390  15,842  11,419  3,652  36,387  68,690 

Depreciation expense 315 1,298 561 234 4,838 7,246 
Disposals - (626) - (13) (547) (1,186) 
Foreign currency translation - 36 195 6 58 295 

 
Balance as at December 31, 

2011 $ 1,705 $ 16,550 $ 12,175 $ 3,879 $ 40,736 $ 75,045 
 
 

 Land and Leasehold  Furniture Computer 
 buildings improvements Equipment and fixtures hardware Total 
 
Net book value 
 
December 31, 2011 $ 15,780 $ 7,561 $ 13,201 $ 734 $ 4,980 $ 42,256 
 
December 31, 2010 $ 9,613 $ 5,788 $ 6,061 $ 798 $ 4,923 $ 27,183 
 
January 1, 2010 $ 10,094 $ 8,987 $ 7,032 $ 2,154 $ 12,672 $ 40,939 

 
Property, plant and equipment includes $2,555,000 (December 31, 2010 - $1,585,000, and 
January 1, 2010 - $6,246,000) of expenditures for property under construction. 
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12. Property, plant and equipment (continued): 

The net book value of assets under finance leases are as follows: 
 
  December 31, December 31, January 1, 
  2011 2010 2010 
 
Computer hardware $ 3,805 $ 2,519 $ 1,347 
Equipment 351 1,235 708 
Furniture and fixtures 199 238 - 
 
  $ 4,355 $ 3,992 $ 2,055 
 

13. Intangible assets and goodwill: 

(a) Intangible assets as at December 31, 2011, are as follows: 
 
  Definite life intangible assets  Indefinite life intangible assets 
 Licenses,   Intellectual 
 customer   property, 
 relationships,  Perpetual trademarks and 
 and other Software licenses tradenames Total 
 
Cost 
 
Balance as at January 1, 2010 $ 127,245 $ 134,374 $ 43,986 $ 58,493 $ 364,098 

Purchase of intangible assets - 20,452  - - 20,452 
Disposals (1,650) (9,072)  - - (10,722) 
Foreign currency translation (6,231) (6,704)  (2,367) (3,697) (18,999) 
Transferred to assets of 

discontinued operations (104,466) (107,584)  (41,619) (54,796) (308,465) 
 
Balance as at December 31, 2010 14,898 31,466 - - 46,364 

Purchase of intangible assets - 1,895 - - 1,895 
Reclassification to property, 

plant and equipment - (1,573) - - (1,573) 
Disposals - (47) - - (47) 
Foreign currency translation 237 115 - - 352 

 
Balance as at December 31, 

2011 $ 15,135 $ 31,856 $ - $ - $ 46,991 
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13. Intangible assets and goodwill (continued): 

(a) Intangible assets as at December 31, 2011 (continued): 
 
  Definite life intangible assets  Indefinite life intangible assets 
 Licenses,   Intellectual 
 customer   property, 
 relationships,  Perpetual trademarks and 
 and other Software licenses tradenames Total 
 
Accumulated amortization  
 
Balance as at January 1, 2010 $ 59,324 $ 91,972 $ 5,459 $ 593 $ 157,348 

Amortization expense 7,867 13,293  - - 21,160 
Disposals (1,650) (8,702)  - - (10,352) 
Foreign currency translation (2,395) (4,198)  (342) (29) (6,964) 
Transferred to assets of 

discontinued operations (54,740) (71,638)  (5,117) (564) (132,059) 
 
Balance as at December 31, 2010 8,406 20,727 - - 29,133 

Amortization expense 649 3,378 - - 4,027 
Disposals - -  - - - 
Foreign currency translation 114 327  - - 441 

 
Balance as at December 31, 

2011 $ 9,169 $ 24,432 $ - $ - $ 33,601 

 
Net book value 
 
December 31, 2011 $ 5,966 $ 7,424 $ - $ - $ 13,390 
 
December 31, 2010 $ 6,492 $ 10,739 $ - $ - $ 17,231 
 
January 1, 2010 $ 67,921 $ 42,402 $ 38,527 $ 57,900 $ 206,750 
 

(b) Goodwill as at December 31, 2011 is as follows: 
 
 
Balance as at January 1, 2010     $ 728,065 

Tax benefit recognized to reduce goodwill   (1,528) 
Foreign currency translation   (34,447) 
Transferred to assets classified as held for sale   (515,171) 

 
Balance as at December 31, 2010   176,919 

Foreign currency translation   1,553 
 
Balance as at December 31, 2011     $ 178,472 
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13. Intangible assets and goodwill (continued): 

(c) Goodwill impairment: 

The Company has two cash-generating units which are grouped together for goodwill 
impairment testing.  The Company performs an impairment test annually or whenever there is 
an indication of impairment.  The Company completed impairment tests at September 30, 
2011, September 30, 2010 and on January 1, 2010 and determined that goodwill was not 
impaired. 

The key assumptions used in performing the impairment tests are as follows: 
 
  September 30, September 30, January 1, 
  2011 2010 2010 
 
Method of determining recoverable 

amount Value in use Value in use Value in use 
Discount rate 10%  10% 10% 
Perpetual growth rate 2.1% to 2.4% 2.1% to 2.4% 2.1% to 2.4% 
 

 
 Recoverable amount: 

Management’s past experience and future expectations of the business performance are 
used to make a best estimate of the expected revenue, earnings before interest, taxes, 
depreciation and amortization, and operating cash flows for a five year period. 

 Discount rate: 

The discount rate applied is a pre-tax rate that reflects the time value of money and risk 
associated with the business. 

 Perpetual growth rate: 

The perpetual growth rate is management's current assessment of the long-term growth 
prospect of the Company in the jurisdictions in which it operates. 

 Sensitivity analysis: 

Management performs sensitivity analysis on the key assumptions.  Sensitivity analysis 
indicates reasonable changes to key assumptions will not result in an impairment loss. 
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14. Provisions: 
 
 Onerous Decommissioning   

 contracts (a) liabilities (b) Warranty (c) Others (d) Total 
 
Balance as at January 1, 2010 $ 6,139 $ 2,410 $ - $ 626 $ 9,175 

Provisions made  414 - - 222 636 
Provisions used  (2,019) - - (561) (2,580) 
Provisions reversed  (372) - - (142) (514) 
Unwinding of discount - 85 - - 85 
Foreign currency translation (188) - - (23)  (211) 
Transferred to liabilities 

classified as held for sale (2,577) (426) - (122) (3,125) 
 
Balance as at December 31, 2010 1,397 2,069 - - 3,466 

Provisions made  - 96 22,883 3,889 26,868 
Provisions used (983) - - - (983) 
Provisions reversed (414) (140) - - (554) 

 
Balance as at December 31, 

2011 $ - $ 2,025 $ 22,883 $ 3,889 $ 28,797 

 
December 31, 2011: 

Current  $ - $ - $ 22,883 $ 3,889 $ 26,772 
Non-current - 2,025 - - 2,025 

 
 $ - $ 2,025 $ 22,883 $ 3,889 $ 28,797 

 
December 31, 2010: 

Current  $ 1,024 $ - $ - $ - $ 1,024 
Non-current 373 2,069 - - 2,442 

 
 $ 1,397 $ 2,069 $ - $ - $ 3,466 

 
January 1, 2010: 

Current  $ 2,362 $ - $ - $ 617 $ 2,979 
Non-current 3,777 2,410 - 9 6,196 

 
 $ 6,139 $ 2,410 $ - $ 626 $ 9,175 
 
(a) Onerous contract provisions relate to obligations under premise leases. 
(b)  Decommissioning liabilities relate to restoration costs for premise leases with terms that expire between 2013 and 

2021. 
(c)  Warranty provision relates to warranty obligations on certain products included in the sale of the Property Information 

business (see note 27). 
(d) Other provisions relate to restructuring and litigation costs. 
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15. Employee benefits: 

(a) Employee benefit liabilities: 
 
  December 31, December 31,  January 1, 
  2011 2010 2010 
 
Salary and benefits payable $ 26,584 $ 25,696 $ 25,614 
Pension and post-retirement benefits 36,601  30,405  26,484 
Share-based payment plans 36,346  58,604  42,689 
 
Employee benefits  99,531  114,705  94,787 
 
Current portion  (59,263) (63,699) (56,560) 
 
  $ 40,268 $ 51,006 $ 38,227 
 

(b) Pension plans: 

The Company maintains contributory and non-contributory defined benefit pension plans 
covering a portion of its employees.  The defined benefit plans provide pension benefits 
based on various factors including earnings and length of service.  The present value of 
accumulated pension benefits based on earnings and length of service is provided for in the 
financial statements. 

The composition of the pension plan assets is as follows: 
 
  December 31, December 31,  January 1, 
  2011 2010 2010 
 
Cash and short-term notes 11% 11% 6% 
Fixed income 40% 43%  50% 
Canadian equity 28% 28%  25% 
Foreign equity 21% 18% 19% 
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15. Employee benefits (continued): 

(b) Pension plans (continued): 
 
  December 31, December 31, 
  2011 2010 
 
Movement in the present value of defined benefit 

obligations is as follows: 
Defined benefit obligation at January 1 $ 65,646 $ 60,533 
Benefits paid by the plan (3,938) (3,693) 
Current service costs and interest (see below) 4,970 4,850 
Settlement 116 - 
Plan amendments - 20 
Plan participants contributions 308 316 
Liabilities extinguished on settlement (2,151) - 
Actuarial losses in other comprehensive 

income (see below) 5,269 3,620 
 
Defined benefit obligations at December 31 $ 70,220 $ 65,646 
 

Movement in the present value of plan assets 
is as follows: 

Fair value of plan assets at January 1 $ 60,705 $ 57,011 
Employer contributions 5,525 3,387 
Plan participants contributions 308 316 
Benefits paid by the plan (3,938) (3,693) 
Assets distributed on settlement (2,151) - 
Expected return on plan assets 4,271 3,994 
Actuarial losses in other comprehensive 

income (see below) (3,967) (310) 
 
Fair value of plan assets at December 31 $ 60,753 $ 60,705 
 

Expense recognized in statement of earnings is as follows: 
Current service costs $ 1,748 $ 1,629 
Interest on obligation 3,222 3,221 
Curtailment gain (337) - 
Settlement 31 - 
Amortization of past service costs - 20 
Expected return on plan assets (4,271) (3,994) 
 
  $ 393 $ 876 
 

As a result of a curtailment in the pension arrangement for a number of employees in 2011, 
the Company’s defined benefit pension obligation decreased by $337,000 (December 31, 
2010 - nil).  A corresponding curtailment gain is included in the Company’s statement of 
comprehensive income at December 31, 2011. 
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15. Employee benefits (continued): 

(b) Pension plans (continued): 

The expense is recognized in direct costs, selling, general and administration in the 
statement of earnings. 
 
  December 31, December 31,  
  2011 2010 
 
Actual return on plan assets $ 463 $ 3,684 
 
Actuarial gains and losses recognized in other comprehensive income: 
 
  December 31, December 31,  
  2011 2010 
 
Cumulative amount at January 1 $ 15,324 $ 11,394 
Recognized during the period 9,236 3,930 
 
Cumulative amount at December 31 $ 24,560 $ 15,324 
 
Actuarial assumptions: 
 
Principal actuarial assumptions at the reporting date: 
 
  December 31, December 31, 
  2011 2010 
 
Discount rate at December 31 4.75% - 5.25% 4.75% - 5.25% 
Expected return on plan assets at January 1 7% 7% 
Future salary increases 3.5% 3% - 3.5% 
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15. Employee benefits (continued): 

(b) Pension plans (continued): 

Actuarial assumptions (continued): 

Assumptions regarding future mortality are based on published statistics and mortality tables.  
The current longevities underlying the values of the liabilities in the defined benefit plans are 
as follows: 
 
  December 31, December 31, 
  2011 2010 
 
Longevity at age 65 for current pensioners: 

Males  19.7  19.7 
Females 22.1 22.1 
 

 
Longevity at age 65 for current members aged 45: 

Males  21.2  21.2 
Females 22.9 22.9 
 

 
The calculation of the defined benefit obligation is sensitive to the mortality assumptions set 
out above.  As the actuarial estimates of mortality continue to be refined, an increase of one 
year in the lives shown above is considered reasonably possible in the next financial year.  
The effect of this change would be an increase in the employee benefit liability by 3.5%. 

The overall expected long-term rate of return on assets is 7%.  The expected long-term rate 
of return is based on the portfolio as a whole and not on the sum of the returns on individual 
asset categories.  The return is based exclusively on historical returns, without adjustments. 

Historical information: 
 
  December 31, December 31, January 1, 
  2011 2010 2010 
 
Present value of the defined 

benefit obligation $ 70,220 $ 65,646 $ 60,533 
Fair value of plan assets 60,753 60,705 57,011 
 
Deficit in the plan $ 9,467 $ 4,941 $ 3,522 
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15. Employee benefits (continued): 

(b) Pension plans (continued): 

Historical information (continued): 
 

  December 31, December 31 
  2011 2010 
 
Experience adjustments arising on plan liabilities $ (604) $ - 
Experience adjustments arising on plan assets (3,808) (310) 
 

 
The Company expects $5,280,000 in contributions to be paid to its defined benefit plans in 
2012. 

(c) Other post-retirement plans: 

The Company also provides for other post-retirement benefits, comprised of extended health 
benefits, dental care and life insurance.  The cost of these benefits is funded annually out of 
general revenues. 

In addition to the assumptions set out above, the main actuarial assumption is a long-term 
increase in health care costs of 8.5% a year (2010 - 9.0%-10.5%). 
 
  December 31, December 31, 
  2011 2010 
 
Movement in the present value of defined benefit 

obligations is as follows: 
Defined benefit obligations at January 1 $ 24,607 $ 21,636 
Benefits paid by the plan (463) (463) 
Current service costs and interest (see below) 1,788 1,975 
Curtailment gain (788) - 
Actuarial losses in other comprehensive 

income (see below) 227 1,459 
Plan amendments 817 - 

 
Defined benefit obligations at December 31 $ 26,188 $ 24,607 
 
Movement in the present value of plan assets is 

as follows: 
Fair value of plan assets at January 1: 

Employer contributions $ 463 $ 463 
Benefits paid by plan (463) (463) 

 
Fair value of plan assets at December 31 $ - $ - 
 

  

71



MACDONALD, DETTWILER AND ASSOCIATES LTD. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
(Tabular amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars) 
 
Years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 
 
 

 

15. Employee benefits (continued): 

(c) Other post-retirement plans (continued): 
 
  December 31, December 31, 
  2011 2010 
 
Expense recognized in statement of earnings is as follows: 

Current service costs $ 669 $ 759 
Interest on obligation 1,119 1,216 
Curtailment gain (788) - 
Amortization of past service costs 619 (198) 

 
  $ 1,619 $ 1,777 
 
As a result of a curtailment in the post-retirement arrangement for a number of employees in 
2011, the Company’s other post-retirement obligation decreased by $788,000 (December 31, 
2010 - nil).  A corresponding curtailment gain is included in the Company’s statement of 
comprehensive income at December 31, 2011. 

Assumed healthcare cost trend rates have a significant effect on the amounts recognized in 
profit or loss.  A one percentage point change in assumed healthcare cost trend rates would 
have the following effects: 
 
  One percentage One percentage 
  point point 
  increase decrease 
 
Effect on the aggregate service and interest cost $ 345 $ (265) 
Effect on defined benefit obligation 4,585 (3,603) 
 

 
 

  December 31, December 31, January 1, 
  2011 2010 2010 
 
The liabilities recognized in the balance 

sheet were determined as follows: 
Defined benefit obligations $ 26,188 $ 24,607 $ 21,636 
Unamortized past service costs 946 857 1,326 

 
  $ 27,134 $ 25,464 $ 22,962 
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15. Employee benefits (continued): 

(c) Other post-retirement plans (continued): 

Actuarial gains and losses recognized in other comprehensive income: 
 
  December 31, December 31, 
  2011 2010 
 
Cumulative amount at January 1 $ (2,501) $ (3,960) 
Recognized during the period 227 1,459 
 
Cumulative amount at December 31 $ (2,274) $ (2,501) 
 

16. Long-term debt: 
 
  December 31, December 31, January 1, 
  2011 2010 2010 
 
Term loan note payable: 

Term loan payable in U.S. dollars (December 31, 2011 - 
U.S.$100,000,000; December 31, 2010 - 
U.S.$100,000,000; January 1, 2010 - U.S. nil), interest at 
fixed rate of 5.30%, repayable at maturity on February 22, 
2017 $ 101,700 $ 99,460 $ - 

 
Syndicated credit facility: 

Loan payable in Canadian dollars, interest at bankers 
acceptance rates and Canadian dollar LIBOR plus 0.60% 
- 1.13%, repayable at maturity on September 22, 2011  -  -  180,000 

Loan payable in U.S. dollars (December 31, 2011 - U.S. nil; 
December 31, 2010 - U.S. nil; January 1, 2010 - 
U.S.$10,000,000), interest at LIBOR plus 0.60% - 1.13%, 
repayable at maturity on September 22, 2011 - - 10,466 

Term loan payable in Canadian dollars, interest at bankers 
acceptance rates plus 0.85% - 1.50%, repayable at 
maturity on September 22, 2013 - 100,000 100,000 

Term loan payable in U.S. dollars (December 31, 2011 - 
U.S. nil; December 31, 2010 - U.S. nil; January 1, 2010 - 
U.S.$50,000,000), interest at LIBOR plus 0.85% - 1.50%, 
repayable at maturity on September 23, 2013. - - 52,330 

 
Prepaid facility fees (40) (41) (1,134) 

Obligations under finance leases 4,023 4,359 1,940 
 
Total long-term debt 105,683 203,778 343,602 
 
Current portion (1,834) (1,580) (960) 
 
Non-current portion $ 103,849 $ 202,198 $ 342,642 
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16. Long-term debt (continued): 

On February 25, 2010, the Company entered into a long-term debt agreement with a private 
lender.  The agreement consists of U.S.$100,000,000 in seven-year unsecured term loan notes 
bearing interest at a fixed rate of 5.30%.  The agreement also includes a shelf facility that allows 
the Company to issue an additional U.S.$50,000,000 in loan notes at any time prior to February 
2013.  In addition, the notes can be repaid, at the Company’s option, in whole or in part, at any 
time, together with a make-whole premium. 

In 2006, the Company entered into a syndicated credit facility that provided a five-year revolving 
facility of $500,000,000 expiring September 2011 and a seven-year term facility of $100,000,000 
expiring September 2013.  At December 31, 2010, the Company had no outstanding advances 
under the revolving facility and was fully drawn on the term facility. 

In the first quarter of 2011, the Company repaid the term loan, terminated the syndicated credit 
facility and extended into a bilateral credit agreement that provides a $100,000,000 revolving line 
of credit that expires in January 2012.  At December 31, 2011, there were no outstanding 
borrowings under the bilateral credit agreement. 

Annual principal repayments on long-term debt as at December 31, 2011 are as follows: 
 
  Term loan Finance  
  payable leases Total 
 
Less than one year $ - $ 1,834 $ 1,834 
Between one and five years - 2,189 2,189 
More than five years 101,660 - 101,660 
 
  $ 101,660 $ 4,023 $ 105,683 
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17. Shareholders’ equity: 

Share capital: 

Authorized: 
Unlimited number of common shares with no par value 
Unlimited number of preferred shares, issuable in series, convertible to common shares 

Common shares issued and fully paid: 
 
  Number 
  of shares Amount 
 
Balance as at January 1, 2010 40,558,858 $ 255,162 

Common shares issued upon exercise of employee share 
options (note 19(a)) 424,625 8,572 

Common shares issued in conjunction with employee share 
purchase plan (note 19(b)) 71,444 3,077 

 
Balance as at December 31, 2010 41,054,927 266,811 

Common shares issued upon exercise of employee share 
options (note 19(a)) 121,373 2,828 

Common shares issued in conjunction with employee share 
purchase plan (note 19(b)) 60,644 3,051 

Repurchase of common shares (9,433,962) (62,185) 
 
Balance as at December 31, 2011 31,802,982 $ 210,505 
 
On October 4, 2011, the Company completed a Substantial Issuer Bid offer to repurchase up to 
$500,000,000 of its common shares.  The Company repurchased and cancelled 9,433,962 
common shares at a price of $53.00 per common share representing approximately 23% of the 
common shares outstanding at October 4, 2011. 

The Company’s share capital was reduced by an amount equal to the average carrying value of 
the shares repurchased for cancellation.  The amount in excess of the charge to share capital, 
including transaction costs, was recorded as a reduction to retained earnings. 

The following dividends were declared and paid by the Company: 
 
  For the year ended 
  December 31,  
 2011 2010 
 
$1.00 per common share (2010 - nil) $ 41,158 $ - 
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18. Earnings per common share: 
 
   Year ended December 31,  
   2011   2010  
   Weighted   Weighted 
   average   average 
   number of   number of 
   common   common 
  Net shares Per share Net shares Per share 
  earnings outstanding amount earnings outstanding amount 
 
Continuing operations: 
 
Earnings per common share: 

Basic $ 129,632 39,118,977 $ 3.31 $ 59,538 40,799,265 $ 1.46 
Share options - 24,009 - - 139,461 - 

 
Diluted $ 129,632 39,142,986 $ 3.31 $ 59,538 40,938,726 $ 1.45 
 
Discontinued operations: 
 
Earnings per common share: 

Basic $ 30,132 39,118,977 $ 0.77 $ 71,205 40,799,265 $ 1.75 
Share options - 24,009 - - 139,461 - 

 
Diluted $ 30,132 39,142,986 $ 0.77 $ 71,205 40,938,726 $ 1.74 
 
Net earnings: 
 
Earnings per common share: 

Basic $ 159,764 39,118,977 $ 4.08 $ 130,743 40,799,265 $ 3.20 
Share options - 24,009 - - 139,461 - 

 
Diluted $ 159,764 39,142,986 $ 4.08 $ 130,743 40,938,726 $ 3.19 
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19. Share-based payment plans: 

(a) Share options: 

During the year ended December 31, 1999, the Company implemented an equity settled 
share option plan to its employees.  The exercise price of each option granted will not be less 
than the market value at the time of granting and the maximum term for an option is 10 years.  
Options vest and become exercisable as determined by the Board of Directors in each 
individual award agreement.  No options have been granted under the share option plan 
subsequent to 2004. 

A summary of the share option plan as at December 31, 2011 and 2010 is presented below: 
 
   2011   2010  
  Weighted Weighted 
  average average 
  Number exercise price Number exercise price 
  of options per option of options per option 
 
Options outstanding and 

exercisable, beginning of period 121,373 $ 23.01 546,001 $ 20.32 
Options exercised (121,373) 23.01 (424,625) 19.56 
Options cancelled - - (3) 10.65 
 
Options outstanding and 

exercisable, end of period - $ - 121,373 $ 23.01 

 
The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for share options exercised during 
the year ended December 31, 2011 was $51.18 (2010 - $42.14) 

The following table summarizes information about share options: 

As at December 31, 2010 
 
   Options outstanding and exercisable  
   Weighted average Weighted 
  remaining average  
 Number  contractual life exercise price 
Range of exercise prices per option of options (in years) per option 

 
$20.25 to $27.00 121,373 0.6 $ 23.01 

 

(b) Employee share purchase plan: 

On October 1, 2001, the Company implemented an employee share purchase plan.  Under 
this plan, the Company may issue 1,500,000 common shares to its employees.  The 
maximum number of common shares that may be issued under the plan in any one year is 
300,000.  Under the terms of the plan, employees can purchase shares of the Company at 
85% of the market value of the shares.  Employees can allocate a maximum of 10% of their 
salary to the plan to a maximum of $20,000 per annum.  For the year ended December 31, 
2011 - 60,644 (2010 - 71,444) common shares were issued at an average price of $42.77 
(2010 - $36.61). 
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19. Share-based payment plans (continued): 

(c) Deferred restricted share units: 

The Company awarded cash settled deferred restricted share units (“DRSUs”) under its 2005 
and 2006 share-based compensation plans.  The DRSUs vest after three years and expire 
seven years from their grant date.  The obligations under the DRSUs are being satisfied by 
acquiring common shares of the Company, through a share transfer agent, on the open 
market and therefore are not included in the calculation of diluted shares outstanding.   

A summary of the DRSUs as at December 31, 2011 and 2010 and changes during the period 
are presented below: 
 
   2011   2010  
  Weighted Weighted 
  average  average 
  Number exercise price Number exercise price 
   of DRSUs per DRSU of DRSUs per DRSU 
 
DRSUs outstanding and exercisable, 

beginning of period 844,400 $ 30.86 1,587,965 $ 28.56 
DRSUs exercised (645,200) 29.77 (741,565) 25.90 
DRSUs cancelled - - (2,000) 46.50 
 
DRSUs outstanding and exercisable, 

end of period 199,200 $ 34.37 844,400 $ 30.86 

 

The following table summarizes information about outstanding DRSUs: 

As at December 31, 2011 
 
 

   DRSUs outstanding and exercisable  
    Weighted Weighted 
    average average 
    remaining exercise 
Range of exercise  Number contractual price per 
prices per DRSU  of DRSUs life (in years) DRSU 
 
$33.78 to $49.18 199,200 0.9 $ 34.37 
 

As at December 31, 2010 
 
 

   DRSUs outstanding and exercisable  
    Weighted Weighted 
    average average 
    remaining exercise 
Range of exercise  Number of contractual price per 
prices per DRSU  DRSUs life (in years) DRSU 
 

$24.10   276,700 1.0 $ 24.10 
$33.78 to $49.18   567,700 1.9   34.15 
 
    844,400 1.6 $ 30.86 
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19. Share-based payment plans (continued): 

(d) Share appreciation rights: 

The Company awarded cash settled share appreciation rights (“SARs”) under its 2007, 2008, 
2009, 2010, and 2011 share-based compensation plans.  The SARs vest over a period of 
three years, in the amount of one-third each year, and expire five to seven years from their 
grant date. 

A summary of the SARs as at December 31, 2011 and 2010 and changes during the period 
are presented below: 
 
   2011   2010  
  Weighted  Weighted 
  average average 
  Number exercise price Number exercise price 
  of SARs per SAR of SARs per SAR 
 
SARs outstanding, beginning of period 5,103,350 $ 39.28 4,552,774 $ 34.52 
SARs issued 196,000 48.14 1,363,000 49.58 
SARs exercised (1,418,417) 33.51 (663,598) 29.24 
SARs cancelled (66,856) 41.57 (148,826) 32.76 
 
SARs outstanding, end of period 3,814,077 $ 41.84 5,103,350 $ 39.28 
 
SARs exercisable, end of period 1,583,782 $ 42.52 1,047,066 $ 40.23 
 

The following table summarizes information about outstanding SARs: 

As at December 31, 2011 
 
 

   SARs outstanding   SARs exercisable  
   Weighted Weighted  Weighted Weighted 
   average average  average average 
   remaining exercise  remaining exercise 
  Number contractual price per Number  contractual price per 
Prices per share of SARs life (in years) SAR of SARs life (in years) SAR 
 

$18.25 to $39.69 524,065 2.0 $ 20.79 133,134 2.0 $ 20.51 
$40.43 to $49.97 3,290,012 3.0 45.19 1,450,648 2.4 44.54 
 
  3,814,077 2.9 $ 41.84 1,583,782 2.3 $ 42.52 
 

As at December 31, 2010 
 
 

   SARs outstanding   SARs exercisable  
   Weighted Weighted  Weighted Weighted 
   average average  average average 
   remaining exercise  remaining exercise 
  Number contractual price per Number  contractual price per 
Prices per share of SARs life (in years) SAR of SARs life (in years) SAR 
 

$18.25 to $39.69 1,074,909 3.0 $ 20.51 112,477 2.9 $ 20.42 
$40.01 to $49.97 4,028,441 4.4 44.29 934,589 2.4 42.61 
 
  5,103,350 4.1 $ 39.28 1,047,066 2.4 $ 40.23 
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19. Share-based payment plans (continued): 

(e) Equity forward purchase agreements: 

The Company has entered into equity forward purchase agreements for 472,000 (2010 - 
1,471,200) common shares of the Company in order to manage the risk associated with 
fluctuations in the share price of the Company relating to share-based compensation plans.  
For the year ended December 31, 2011 the Company has recorded a fair value gain of 
$2,682,000 (2010 - gain of $8,908,000) relating to the forward purchase agreements. 

(f) Share matching program: 

The Company maintains a share matching program, where certain executives are granted 
one common share of the Company for every three common shares of the Company that 
they purchase and hold for a consecutive period of three years.  Common shares are 
purchased on the open market to satisfy obligations under the share matching program and 
are expensed as share-based compensation in the statement of earnings. 

(g) Deferred share units: 

The Company maintains a deferred share unit (“DSUs”) plan where the Company’s 
independent directors receive some or all of their annual retainer in DSUs.  DSUs are granted 
at a price equal to the closing price of the common shares on the day before the date of 
grant.  The DSUs are paid in cash at retirement at the closing price of the common shares of 
the Company on the day before the retirement date. 

A summary of the DSUs as at December 31, 2011 and 2010 and changes during the period 
are presented below: 
 
   2011   2010  
  Weighted Weighted 
  average average 
  Number issue price Number issue price 
  of DSUs per DSU of DSUs per DSU 
 
DSUs outstanding, beginning of period 64,704 $ 33.54 52,849 $ 31.55 
DSUs issued 8,976 51.33 11,855 42.40 
DSUs redeemed (6,453) 57.60 - - 
 
DSUs outstanding, end of period 67,227 $ 33.60 64,704 $ 33.54 
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19. Share-based payment plans (continued): 

(h) Total share-based compensation expense: 

Total share-based compensation expense, excluding the impact of equity forward contracts, 
from all forms of share-based compensation for the year ended December 31, 2011 was a 
recovery of $3,943,000 (2010 - expense of $30,829,000).  The details are as follows: 
 
   For the year ended 

  December 31,  
   2011 2010 
 
Employee share purchase plan $ 457 $ 409 
Share appreciation rights (4,615) 28,967 
Share matching program 106 303 
Deferred share units 109 1,150 
 
  $ (3,943) $ 30,829 
 

(i) Intrinsic value: 
The intrinsic value of a share-based payment plan is the positive difference between the 
market price of the Company’s share and the exercise price of the award.  At December 31, 
2011, the intrinsic value for vested share-based payment plans is $8,477,000 (December 31, 
2010 - $30,819,000, January 1, 2010 - $46,036,000). 

(j) Valuation of DRSUs: 

The fair value of the DRSUs were estimated on the date of the grant using the Black-Scholes 
option pricing model with the following assumptions: 
 
 
Risk-free interest rate  1.3% - 4.2% 
Dividend yield  0% 
Expected award lives  10 - 78 months 
Volatility  23% - 68% 
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19. Share-based payment plans (continued): 

(k) Valuation of share appreciation rights: 

The fair value of the SARs were estimated at each reporting period using the Black-Scholes 
option pricing model with the following assumptions: 
 
  December 31, December 31, January 1, 
   2011 2010 2010 
 
Risk-free interest rate 1.0% - 4.6% 1.1% - 1.9% 1.5% - 2.5% 
Dividend yield 2.1% 0% 0% 
Expected award lives 6 - 47 months 7 - 54 months 27 - 52 months 
Volatility 26% - 29% 39% - 50% 40% - 47% 
 

 

20. Financial instruments and fair value disclosures: 

Refer to significant accounting policy note 3(i). 

(a) Financial instruments by category: 

The classification of financial instruments and their carrying amounts are as follows: 
 
At December 31, 2011: 
 
  Financial Derivative 
  assets at instruments  Available-for- Not  
  fair value in a qualifying   sale  considered  
  through hedging Loans and   financial  financial Total carrying 
  earnings relationship receivables  assets  instruments amount 

 
Financial assets: 

 
Current: 

 
Cash and cash 

equivalents $ - $ - $ 254,831 $ - $ - $ 254,831 
 
Trade and other 

receivables: 
Trade accounts 

receivable - - 76,890 - - 76,890 
Other - - 9,374 - 12,151 21,525 

 - - 86,264 - 12,151 98,415 
 
Financial assets, other: 

Short-term investments - - - 26,646 - 26,646 
Notes receivable - - 408 - - 408 
Derivative instruments 9,422 2,883 - - - 12,305 

 9,422 2,883 408 26,646 - 39,359 
 

Non-current: 
Financial assets, other: 

Notes receivable - - 959 - - 959 
Investments in 

equity securities - - - 135 - 135 
Derivative instruments 1,119 2,228 - - - 3,347 

 1,119 2,228 959 135 - 4,441 
 

 

82



MACDONALD, DETTWILER AND ASSOCIATES LTD. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
(Tabular amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars) 
 
Years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 
 
 

 

20. Financial instruments and fair value disclosures (continued): 

(a) Financial instruments by category (continued): 
 
At December 31, 2011 (continued): 
 
  Financial Derivative 
  liabilities at instruments 
  fair value in a qualifying  Other 
  through hedging  financial Total carrying 
  earnings relationship liabilities amount 

 
Financial liabilities: 

 
Current: 

 
Trade and other payables $ - $ - $ 87,098 $ 87,098 
 
Financial liabilities, other: 

Non-trade payables - - 6,127 6,127 
Derivative instruments 7,743 2,536 - 10,279 
Other - - 91 91 

 7,743 2,536 6,218 16,497 
 
Long-term debt: 

Obligations under finance leases - - 1,834 1,834 
 
Non-current: 

 
Financial liabilities, other: 

Non-trade payables - - 9,235 9,235 
Derivative instruments 4,987 107 - 5,094 
Other - - 3,193 3,193 

 4,987 107 12,428 17,522 
 
Long-term debt: 

Long-term debt - - 101,660 101,660 
Obligations under finance leases - - 2,189 2,189 

 - - 103,849 103,849 
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20. Financial instruments and fair value disclosures (continued): 

(a) Financial instruments by category (continued): 

At December 31, 2010: 
 
  Financial Derivative 
  assets at instruments  Available-for- Not  
  fair value in a qualifying   sale  considered  
  through hedging Loans and   financial  financial Total carrying 
  earnings relationship receivables  assets  instruments amount 

 
Financial assets: 

 
Current: 

 
Cash and cash 

equivalents $ - $ - $ 189,527 $ - $ - $ 189,527 
 
Trade and other 

receivables: 
Trade accounts 

receivable - - 60,379 - - 60,379 
Other - - 2,387 - 15,087 17,474 

 - - 62,766 - 15,087 77,853 
 
Financial assets, other: 

Short-term investments - - - 27,139 - 27,139 
Notes receivable - - 453 - - 453 
Derivative instruments 6,960 9,740 - - - 16,700 

 6,960 9,740 453 27,139 - 44,292 
 

Non-current: 
 
Financial assets, other: 

Notes receivable - - 1,021 - - 1,021 
Investments in 

equity securities - - - 180 - 180 
Derivative instruments 1,048 2,870 - - - 3,918 

 1,048 2,870 1,021 180 - 5,119 
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20. Financial instruments and fair value disclosures (continued): 

(a) Financial instruments by category (continued): 

At December 31, 2010 (continued): 
 
  Financial Derivative 
  liabilities at instruments 
  fair value in a qualifying  Other 
  through hedging  financial Total carrying 
  earnings relationship liabilities amount 

 
Financial liabilities: 

 
Current: 

 
Trade and other payables $ - $ - $ 114,386 $ 114,386 
 
Financial liabilities, other: 

Derivative instruments 18,612 877 - 19,489 
Other - - 218 218 

 18,612 877 218 19,707 
 
Long-term debt: 

Obligations under finance leases - - 1,580 1,580 
 
Non-current: 

 
Financial liabilities, other: 

Derivative instruments 8,010 134 - 8,144 
Other - - 2,690 2,690 

 8,010 134 2,690 10,834 
 
Long-term debt: 

Long-term debt - - 199,419 199,419 
Obligations under finance leases - - 2,779 2,779 

 - - 202,198 202,198 
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20. Financial instruments and fair value disclosures (continued): 

(a) Financial instruments by category (continued): 

At January 1, 2010: 
 
  Financial Derivative 
  assets at instruments  Available-for- Not  
  fair value in a qualifying   sale  considered  
  through hedging Loans and   financial  financial Total carrying 
  earnings relationship receivables  assets  instruments amount 

 
Financial assets: 

 
Current: 

 
Cash and cash 

equivalents $ - $ - $ 14,766 $ - $ - $ 14,766 
 
Trade and other 

receivables: 
Trade accounts 

receivable - - 81,698 - - 81,698 
Other - - 1,958 - 14,221 16,179 

 - - 83,656 - 14,221 97,877 
 
Financial assets, other: 

Short-term investments - - - 15,825 - 15,825 
Notes receivable - - 461 - - 461 
Derivative instruments 9,356 1,922 - - - 11,278 

 9,356 1,922 461 15,825 - 27,564 
 

Non-current: 
 
Financial assets, other: 

Notes receivable - - 1,268 - - 1,268 
Investments in 

equity securities - - - 860 - 860 
Derivative instruments 808 508 - - - 1,316 

 808 508 1,268 860 - 3,444 
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20. Financial instruments and fair value disclosures (continued): 

(a) Financial instruments by category (continued): 

At January 1, 2010 (continued): 
 
  Financial Derivative   
  liabilities at instruments  
  fair value in a qualifying  Other  
  through hedging  financial Total carrying 
  earnings relationship liabilities amount 

 
Financial liabilities: 

 
Current: 

 
Trade and other payables: 

Trade payables and accrued liabilities $ - $ - $ 110,010 $ 110,010 
Other - - 9,133 9,133 

 - - 119,143 119,143 
 
Financial liabilities, other: 

Derivative instruments 4,141 3,598 - 7,739 
Other - - 1,472 1,472 

 4,141 3,598 1,472 9,211 
 
Long-term debt: 

Obligations under finance leases - - 960 960 
 
Non-current: 

 
Financial liabilities, other: 

Derivative instruments 23,880 25 - 23,905 
Other - - 6,076 6,076 

 23,880 25 6,076 29,981 
 
Long-term debt: 

Long-term debt - - 341,662 341,662 
Obligations under finance leases - - 980 980 

 - - 342,642 342,642 
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20. Financial instruments and fair value disclosures (continued): 

(b) Fair value of financial instruments: 

Financial instruments carried at amortized cost: 

As at December 31, 2011, December 31, 2010 and January 1, 2010, the fair values of all 
financial instruments carried at amortized cost, other than long-term debt, approximate their 
carrying value.  The fair value of long-term debt at December 31, 2011 was $112,663,000 
(December 31, 2010 - $208,288,000; January 1, 2010 - $340,243,000). 

Financial instruments carried at fair value: 

The table below analyzes financial instruments carried at fair value, by valuation method.  
The different levels have been defined as follows: 

Level 1:  Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the 
asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). 

Level 3: Inputs for the assets or liability that are not based on observable market data 
(unobservable inputs). 

 
December 31, 2011 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
 
Assets 
 
Short-term investments $ 26,646 $ - $ - $ 26,646 
Derivative instruments - 15,652 - 15,652 
Investments in equity securities 135 - - 135 
 
Total assets $ 26,781 $ 15,652 $ - $ 42,433 
 
Liabilities 
 
Derivative instruments $ - $ 15,373 $ - $ 15,373 
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20. Financial instruments and fair value disclosures (continued): 

(b) Fair value of financial instruments (continued): 
 
December 31, 2010 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
 
Assets 
 
Short-term investments $ 27,139 $ - $ - $ 27,139 
Derivative instruments - 20,618 - 20,618 
Investments in equity securities 180 - - 180 
 
Total assets $ 27,319 $ 20,618 $ - $ 47,937 
 
Liabilities 
 
Derivative instruments $ - $ 27,633 $ - $ 27,633 
 
 
January 1, 2010 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
 
Assets 
 
Short-term investments $ 15,825 $ - $ - $ 15,825 
Derivative instruments - 12,594 - 12,594 
Investments in equity securities 860 - - 860 
 
Total assets $ 16,685 $ 12,594 $ - $ 29,279 
 
Liabilities 
 
Derivative instruments $ - $ 31,644 $ - $ 31,644 
 

(c) Foreign exchange forward contracts: 

The Company uses foreign exchange forward contracts to manage foreign exchange risk 
associated with certain foreign currency denominated contracts, long-term debt and 
intercompany balances.  Hedge accounting is applied if the foreign exchange contract is 
included in a qualifying hedging relationship. 
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20. Financial instruments and fair value disclosures (continued): 

(c) Foreign exchange forward contracts (continued): 

Prior to September 26, 2011, the Company used U.S. dollar forward purchase contracts to 
hedge the foreign currency exposure on the U.S. dollar denominated term debt.  The gains or 
losses from the revaluation of the U.S. dollar term debt were offset in the consolidated 
statements of earnings by the gain or loss recorded on the U.S. dollar forward purchase 
contracts.  At September 26, 2011, the Company designated the U.S. dollar denominated 
term debt as a hedge of the net investment in certain foreign operations.  Foreign exchange 
gains and losses arising from the translation of the U.S. dollar term debt are recognized in 
other comprehensive income to the extent that the hedge is effective and are recognized in 
the consolidated statements of earnings to the extent that the hedge is ineffective. 

The following table summarizes the fair value of the Company’s foreign exchange forward 
contracts, which have been recorded on the balance sheet at fair value as assets and 
liabilities as appropriate. 
 
  Average  Fair value 
  Notional exchange  gain 
December 31, 2011 amount rate Maturity dates (loss) 
 
Purchase contracts settled in 

Canadian dollars: 
U.S. dollar 216,548 0.9978 January 2012 - October 2016 $ 4,690 
Euro 22,805 1.4154 January 2012 - February 2016 (2,051) 
British pound 70 1.5937 January 2012 (1) 
Norwegian krone 353 0.1723 January 2012 (1) 
Australian dollar 320 1.0125 January 2012 - April 2012 10 

Sales contracts settled in 
Canadian dollars: 

U.S. dollar 343,534 1.0236 January 2012 - September 2016 $ 1,188 
Euro 20,813 1.3569 January 2012 - September 2014 593 
British pound 254 1.6115 January 2012 - February 2012 8 
Norwegian krone 1,361 0.1734 January 2012 - February 2012 4 

 

 
  

90



MACDONALD, DETTWILER AND ASSOCIATES LTD. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
(Tabular amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars) 
 
Years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 
 
 

 

20. Financial instruments and fair value disclosures (continued): 

(c) Foreign exchange forward contracts (continued): 
 
  Average Fair value 
  Notional exchange  gain 
December 31, 2010 amount rate Maturity dates (loss) 
 
Purchase contracts settled in 

Canadian dollars: 
U.S. dollar 388,086 1.0235 January 2011 - May 2013 $ (10,312) 
Euro 50,813 1.4149 January 2011 - July 2012 (3,807) 
British pound 3,013 1.5983 January 2011 - June 2011 (139) 
Norwegian krone 284 0.1696 January 2011 - 

Sales contracts settled in 
Canadian dollars: 

U.S. dollar 380,750 1.0437 January 2011 - August 2015 $ 16,037 
Euro 28,409 1.3827 January 2011 - October 2013 1,344 
British pound 3,013 1.5899 January 2011 - June 2011 114 
Norwegian krone 650 0.1766 January 2011 4 

 

 
 
  Average  Fair value 
  Notional exchange  gain 
January 1, 2010 amount rate Maturity dates (loss) 
 
Purchase contracts settled in 

Canadian dollars: 
U.S. dollar 181,329 1.0576 January 2010 - February 2012 $ (1,951) 
Euro 130,985 1.5041 January 2010 - September 2011 (528) 
British pound 8,453 1.7459 January 2010 - June 2011 (451) 
Norwegian krone 260 0.1834 January 2010 (1) 

Sales contracts settled in 
Canadian dollars: 

U.S. dollar 370,901 1.0611 January 2010 - April 2013 $ 5,274 
Euro 97,014 1.5133 January 2010 - October 2013 1,275 
British pound 2,475 1.7950 January 2010 - June 2011 252 
Norwegian krone 800 0.1831 January 2010 2 

Sales contracts settled in 
U.S. dollars: 

Euro 16,203 1.5076 June 2010 $ 1,274 
British pound 39,546 1.6618 June 2010 1,949 

 

 
(d) Equity forward contracts: 

The Company has entered into forward purchase agreements for 472,000 (2010 - 1,471,200) 
common shares of the Company in order to manage the economic risks of the share 
appreciation rights relating to the Company’s long-term compensation plans.  The fair value 
of these agreements as at December 31, 2011 is a loss of $5,539,000 (2010 - loss of 
$9,150,000), of which $511,000 (2010 - $95,000) was attributable to changes in the credit 
risk of the Company.  These agreements are not subject to hedge accounting. 
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20. Financial instruments and fair value disclosures (continued): 

(e) Credit risk: 

The Company is exposed to credit risk through its cash and cash equivalents, short-term 
investments, trade accounts receivable, notes receivable and its derivative financial 
instruments. 

The Company’s credit exposure relates to a diverse group of customers, including 
government customers, in multiple geographic regions purchasing a wide variety of products 
and services from the Company, and is therefore mitigated by a reduced concentration of 
risk.  In 2011, 29% (2010 - 31%) of the Company’s revenues from continuing operations were 
from the Canadian Federal Government and its agencies. 

Customers are assessed for credit risk based on the nature of the customer organization, 
financial health, and credit history with the Company and others.  Credit limits or maximum 
exposures under revenue contracts are identified, approved and monitored.  In some cases, 
the Company will procure credit insurance to mitigate its exposure. 

Trade and other receivables are considered for impairment on a case by case basis and 
provided for when objective evidence is received that a customer may default. 

The Company’s exposure to credit risk is limited to the carrying amount of financial assets 
recognized on the balance sheet at December 31, 2011, December 31, 2010 and January 1, 
2010, as summarized in the carrying values table (note 20(b)). 

The Company’s trade receivables and allowance for doubtful accounts are shown in the 
following table: 
 
  December 31,  December 31,  January 1, 
  2011  2010 2010 
 
Trade receivables $ 80,865 $ 69,246 $ 87,720 
Less:  allowance for doubtful accounts (3,975)  (8,867) (6,022) 
 
Trade receivables, net of 

allowance for doubtful accounts $ 76,890 $ 60,379 $ 81,698 
 

The aging of trade receivables at the reporting date was: 
 
  December 31,  December 31,  January 1, 
  2011  2010 2010 
 
Not past due $ 44,375 $ 32,832 $ 38,860 
Past due 0-30 days 23,913 13,753 27,627 
Past due 31-90 days 6,754 10,988 12,124 
Past due 90+ days 1,848 2,806 3,087 
 
  $ 76,890 $ 60,379 $ 81,698 
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20. Financial instruments and fair value disclosures (continued): 

(e) Credit risk (continued): 

Allowance for doubtful accounts: 
 
 
Balance as at January 1, 2010   $ 6,022 
 
Bad debt expense  5,325 
Amounts applied to specific trade accounts receivable  (361) 
Foreign exchange  176 
Transferred to assets classified as held for sale  (2,295) 
 
Balance as at December 31, 2010  8,867 
 
Bad debt expense  2,769 
Amounts applied to specific trade and other receivables  (4,166) 
Allowance reversed  (3,426) 
Foreign exchange  (69) 
 
Balance as at December 31, 2011   $ 3,975 
 
In implementing all its derivative financial instruments, the Company deals with 
counterparties and is therefore exposed to credit related losses in the event of non-
performance by these counterparties.  However, the Company deals with counterparties that 
are major financial institutions, and does not expect any of the counterparties to fail to meet 
their obligations. 

(f) Liquidity risk: 

The Company’s liquidity risk is the risk it may not be able to meet its contractual obligations 
and financial liabilities as they come due.  The Company’s principal sources of liquidity are 
cash provided by operations, including advance payments from customers related to long-
term construction contracts, and borrowing under its credit facilities.  Other sources of 
liquidity include the issuance of common shares related to acquisitions and employee 
compensation.  The Company’s short-term cash requirements are primarily to fund working 
capital, with medium term requirements to service and repay debt, and invest in capital and 
intangible assets for growth initiatives.  The Company does not have a capital intensive 
business.  For the foreseeable future, the Company believes that its principal sources of 
liquidity are sufficient to maintain the Company’s capacity and to meet planned growth and 
development activities. 
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20. Financial instruments and fair value disclosures (continued): 

(f) Liquidity risk (continued): 

The maturities of the contractual cash flows of the Company’s financial liabilities are shown in 
the following table: 
 
  Maturing in   Maturing 
  Carrying Contractual less than Maturing in Maturing in beyond 
December 31, 2011 amount cash flows 1 year 1 to 2 years 2 to 5 years 5 years 
 
Trade and other 

payables $ 87,098 $ 87,098 $ 87,098 $ - $ - $ - 
 
Derivative instruments: 

Foreign exchange 
forward contracts 8,117 8,220 7,459 621 140 - 

Equity forward 
contracts 5,539 6,460 1,294 5,166 - - 

Other derivative 
instruments 1,717 1,717 1,593 124 - - 

  15,373 16,397 10,346 5,911 140 - 
 
Long-term debt: 

Obligations under 
finance leases 4,023 4,389 2,080 1,573 736 - 

Long-term debt 101,660 129,998 5,390 5,390 16,170 103,048 
  105,683 134,387 7,470 6,963 16,906 103,048 

 
Financial liabilities, other: 

Non-trade payables 15,362 15,473 6,182 9,291 - - 
Other 3,284 3,743 91 - 3,652 - 
  18,646 19,216 6,273 9,291 3,652 - 

 
 
  $ 226,800 $ 257,098 $ 111,187 $ 22,165 $ 20,698 $ 103,048 
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20. Financial instruments and fair value disclosures (continued): 

(f) Liquidity risk (continued): 
 
   Maturing in   Maturing 
  Carrying Contractual less than Maturing in Maturing in beyond 
December 31, 2010 amount cash flows 1 year 1 to 2 years 2 to 5 years 5 years 
 
Trade and other 

payables $ 114,386 $ 114,386 $ 114,352 $ 34 $ - $ - 
 
Derivative instruments: 

Foreign exchange 
forward contracts 14,386 14,518 12,537 1,916 65 - 

Equity forward 
contracts 9,150 9,989 3,926 6,063 - - 

Other derivative 
instruments 4,097 4,097 3,109 988 - - 

  27,633 28,604 19,572 8,967 65 - 
 
Long-term debt: 

Obligations under 
finance leases 4,359 4,649 1,739 1,894 1,016 - 

Long-term debt 199,419 239,877 7,802 7,826 118,215 106,034 
  203,778 244,526 9,541 9,720 119,231 106,034 

 
Financial liabilities, 

other 2,908 3,377 218 - 3,159 - 
 
 
  $ 348,705 $ 390,893 $ 143,683 $ 18,721 $ 122,455 $ 106,034 
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20. Financial instruments and fair value disclosures (continued): 

(f) Liquidity risk (continued): 
 
   Maturing in   Maturing 
  Carrying Contractual less than Maturing in Maturing in beyond 
January 1, 2010 amount cash flows 1 year 1 to 2 years 2 to 5 years 5 years 
 
Trade and other 

payables $ 119,143 $ 119,143 $ 119,143 $ - $ - $ - 
 
Derivative instruments: 

Foreign exchange 
forward contracts 3,577 3,613 3,265 322 26 - 

Equity forward 
contracts 22,864 27,732 - 10,254 17,478 - 

Other derivative 
instruments 5,203 5,203 4,473 408 322 - 

  31,644 36,548 7,738 10,984 17,826 - 
 
Long-term debt: 

Obligations under 
finance leases 1,940 2,138 1,069 764 305 - 

Long-term debt 341,662 368,023 5,497 198,143 164,383 - 
  343,602 370,161 6,566 198,907 164,688 - 

 
Financial liabilities, 

other 7,548 8,011 1,472 2,487 4,052 - 
 
 
  $ 501,937 $ 533,863 $ 134,919 $ 212,378 $ 186,566 $ - 
 
Periods in which cash flows associated with derivative instruments are expected to occur are 
shown in the following table: 
 
    Maturing in   Maturing 
  Carrying Expected less than Maturing in Maturing in beyond 
December 31, 2011 amount cash flows 1 year 1 to 2 years 2 to 5 years 5 years 
 
Foreign exchange 

forward contracts: 
Assets $ 12,557 $ 12,733 $ 10,080 $ 2,180 $ 473 $ - 
Liabilities 8,117 8,220 7,459 621 140 - 

 
Equity forward contracts: 

Liabilities 5,539 6,460 1,294 5,166 - - 
 
Other derivative instruments: 

Assets 3,095 3,095 2,274 609 212 - 
Liabilities 1,717 1,717 1,593 124 - - 
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20. Financial instruments and fair value disclosures (continued): 

(f) Liquidity risk (continued): 
 
    Maturing in   Maturing 
  Carrying Expected less than Maturing in Maturing in beyond 
December 31, 2010 amount cash flows 1 year 1 to 2 years 2 to 5 years 5 years 
 
Foreign exchange 

forward contracts: 
Assets $ 17,627 $ 17,912 $ 13,974 $ 2,772 $ 1,166 $ - 
Liabilities 14,386 14,518 12,537 1,916 65 - 

 
Equity forward contracts: 

Liabilities 9,150 9,989 3,926 6,063 - - 
 
Other derivative instruments: 

Assets 2,991 2,991 2,823 150 18 - 
Liabilities 4,097 4,097 3,109 988 - - 

 

 
 
    Maturing in   Maturing 
  Carrying Expected less than Maturing in Maturing in beyond 
January 1, 2010 amount cash flows 1 year 1 to 2 years 2 to 5 years 5 years 
 
Foreign exchange 

forward contracts: 
Assets $ 10,696 $ 10,769 $ 9,847 $ 612 $ 310 $ - 
Liabilities 3,577 3,613 3,265 322 26 - 

 
Equity forward contracts: 

Liabilities 22,864 27,732 - 10,254 17,478 - 
 
Other derivative instruments: 

Assets 1,898 1,898 1,466 432 - - 
Liabilities 5,203 5,203 4,473 408 322 - 

 

 
(g) Interest rate risk: 

The Company is not currently exposed to fluctuations in interest rates as the substantial 
majority of its capital structure consists of fixed rate debt. 

Historically, the Company was exposed to fluctuations in interest rates as a significant 
proportion of its capital structure consisted of variable rate debt.  In order to mitigate this risk, 
the Company had historically entered into interest rate swap agreements in accordance with 
its risk management policy. 
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20. Financial instruments and fair value disclosures (continued): 

(h) Foreign exchange risk: 

During the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, the Company’s principal operations 
were in the United States and Canada.  The Company’s Canadian operations have sales 
contracts, purchase contracts and debt denominated in currencies other than the Canadian 
dollar. 

The Company enters into foreign exchange forward contracts to hedge the expected cash 
flows from certain foreign currency denominated contracts.  The term of the foreign exchange 
forward contracts can range from less than one month to several years.  The Company also 
enters into foreign exchange forward contracts to manage any exposures from intercompany 
loans, miscellaneous foreign currency payables and receivables, and borrowings in foreign 
currency.  The Company does not hedge the risk from translation of the results of its foreign 
operations. 

At December 31, 2011, the Company has foreign exchange forward purchase contracts for 
$248,842,000 (2010 - $473,963,000) and foreign exchange forward sale contracts for 
$380,514,000 (2010 - $441,569,000). 

The following table presents the effect of a stronger or weaker Canadian dollar, all other 
variables remaining constant, on the fair valuation of financial instruments and the 
corresponding effect on net earnings and other comprehensive income as at December 31. 
 
   10% strengthening in the    10% weakening in the   
   Canadian dollar   Canadian dollar  
   Effect on other  Effect on other 
  Effect on comprehensive Effect on comprehensive 
2011 net earnings income net earnings income 
 
Foreign exchange risk: 

U.S. dollar $ (8,826) $ 9,734 $ 8,826 $ (9,734) 
British pound 162 - (162) - 
Euro (39) 956 39 (956) 

 
 
   10% strengthening in the    10% weakening in the   
   Canadian dollar   Canadian dollar  
   Effect on other  Effect on other 
  Effect on comprehensive Effect on comprehensive 
2010 net earnings income net earnings income 
 
Foreign exchange risk: 

U.S. dollar $ (12,262) $ 15,837 $ 12,262 $ (15,837) 
British pound (36) - 36 - 
Euro (4,220) 1,365 4,220 (1,365) 
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20. Financial instruments and fair value disclosures (continued): 

(i) Stock-based compensation costs risk: 

Stock-based compensation is an integral part of the Company’s compensation program, and 
can result in the issuance of the Company’s common shares, or cash payments that reflect 
the value of the common shares.  Since compensation cost can vary significantly as the price 
of the Company’s common shares changes, the Company has entered into derivative 
contracts to manage this potential exposure. 

At December 31, 2011, the Company has equity forward purchase agreements for 134,800 
common shares and 337,200 common shares maturing in January 2012 and January 2014, 
respectively. 

An increase or decrease in the Company’s share price will, all other variables remaining 
constant, affect the fair valuation of the equity forward purchase agreements.  The following 
table presents the effect on net earnings and comprehensive income as at December 31. 
 
   25% strengthening in the    25% weakening in the   
   Company’s share price   Company’s share price  
   Effect on other  Effect on other 
  Effect on comprehensive Effect on comprehensive 
2011 net earnings income net earnings income 
 
Stock-based compensation 

costs risk $ 4,084 $ - $ (4,084) $ - 
 
 
   25% strengthening in the    25% weakening in the   
   Company’s share price   Company’s share price  
   Effect on other  Effect on other 
  Effect on comprehensive Effect on comprehensive 
2010 net earnings income net earnings income 
 
Stock-based compensation 

costs risk $ 11,126 $ - $ (11,126) $ - 
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21. Capital management: 

The Company’s primary capital management objectives are to provide an adequate return to 
shareholders, provide adequate and efficient funding of operations, finance growth, preserve 
financial flexibility to benefit from potential opportunities as they arise and comply with borrowing 
covenants. 

The Company defines capital as its share capital, contributed surplus and retained earnings. 
 
  December 31, December 31, January 1, 
   2011 2010 2010 
 
Share capital $ 210,505 $ 266,811 $ 255,162 
Contributed surplus 4,440 9,694 15,402 
Retained earnings 34,367 361,569 239,192 
 
  $ 249,312 $ 638,074 $ 509,756 
 
The Company regularly issues shares in relation to its long-term compensation plans, employee 
share ownership plan, and acquisitions.  It also occasionally implements share repurchase 
programs that are approved by the Board of Directors. 

The Company is required by its lenders to maintain a minimum level of equity consisting of a 
base plus a proportion of its earnings.  At December 31, 2011, December 31, 2010 and January 
1, 2010, the Company is compliant with this and other leverage related financial covenants. 

Debt is incurred as required under a bilateral credit agreement, long-term syndicated credit facility 
and a term loan payable and is reduced as cash is generated from operations.  The Company 
manages its debt in consideration of its bank covenant requirements which allow the Company to 
borrow up to 3.5 times (with the ability to go to 4.0 times under certain circumstances) earnings 
before interest, income taxes, depreciation, amortization and certain items ("bank EBITDA") as 
defined in the credit agreements.  In its normal course of business, the Company manages its 
debt to a ratio of approximately 2.0 to 2.5 times debt to bank EBITDA.  The Company thus 
typically retains significant additional unused capacity to take advantage of strategic 
opportunities. 

 

22. Government assistance: 

(a) Investment tax credits: 

During the year, the Company recognized investment tax credits of $17,245,000 (2010 - 
$13,682,000) as a reduction of current expenses in direct costs, selling, general and 
administration of which $7,323,000 (2010 - $4,115,000) related to expenses incurred in prior 
years.  The Company also has investment tax credits of approximately $1,822,000 available 
to offset future Canadian federal and provincial income taxes payable which expire between 
2015 and 2030.  Investment tax credits are only recognized in the financial statements when 
the recognition criteria have been met as described in note 3(g). 
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22. Government assistance (continued): 

(b) Government grants: 

(i) On November 15, 2010, the Company signed a non-refundable contribution agreement 
("Grant") and an interest free refundable contribution agreement ("Interest free loan") with 
Investissement Québec ("IQ") relating to the expansion of the plant ("Project") at its 
Sainte-Anne-de-Bellevue subsidiary.  Under the Grant, the Company is eligible to receive 
funding for certain Project expenditures from January 1, 2010 to December 31, 2012 to a 
maximum of $9,000,000.  Payments made from the Grant can become conditionally 
repayable if certain average employment targets are not met from January 1, 2012 to 
December 31, 2016.  Under the Interest free loan, the Company is eligible to receive 
interest free repayable funding for certain eligible Project expenditures from January 1, 
2010 to December 31, 2012 to a maximum of $9,000,000.  The Interest free loan is 
repayable in 84 equal and consecutive monthly installments beginning three years 
subsequent to the receipt of the first disbursement.  Funding requested from IQ is 
receivable on a quarterly basis based on the actual eligible Project expenditures incurred. 

During the year, the Company recognized government assistance of $8,037,000 (2010 - 
nil) relating to the Grant as a reduction to the cost of property, plant and equipment and 
$435,000 (2010 - nil) relating to the Interest free loan.  As of December 31, 2011, no 
funding has been received in relation to the Grant and Interest free loan and the total 
balance of $8,472,000 is included in trade and other receivables. 

(ii) The Company's Canadian operations have received funding under contract from the 
Government of Canada under several programs that support the development of new 
commercial technologies and products for delivery to customers of the Government of 
Canada.  For the year ended December 31, 2011, $313,000 (2010 - $1,471,000) of 
funding was received under these programs.  This funding is subject to possible 
repayment in the form of royalties, generally not exceeding 5% of future revenues to be 
derived from the potential new technologies and products.  The royalties will be incurred 
only if additional revenues are recognized from specified new technologies and products. 
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23. Income taxes: 

(a) Income tax expense is comprised of the following: 
 
  2011 2010 
 
Current tax expense: 

Current period $ 36,023 $ 43,372 
Adjustment for prior periods 13,978 3,217 
  50,001 46,589 

 
Deferred tax expense: 

Origination and reversal of temporary differences (979) 4,793 
Reduction in tax rate 966 283 
  (13) 5,076 

 
Income tax expense, continuing operations 49,988 51,665 
 
Income tax recovery, discontinued operations  (1,297)  (18,528) 
 
Income tax expense $ 48,691 $ 33,137 
 

(b) A reconciliation of income taxes at statutory rates to actual income taxes is as follows: 
 
  2011 2010 
 
Combined basic income tax rate 26.50% 28.79% 
 
Income tax expense at the basic income tax rate $ 47,599 $ 32,015 
Foreign earnings subject to different rates 1,535 (579) 
Change in statutory rates 85 144 
Change in valuation allowance 307 356 
Foreign exchange differences (1,264) (53) 
Share-based compensation (2,509) 15,655 
Other permanent differences 4,235 4,127 
 
  $ 49,988 $ 51,665 
 

(c) Unrecognized deferred tax assets: 

Deferred tax assets have not been recognized in respect of: 
 
  2011 2010 
 
Tax losses $ 28,600 $ 24,323 
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23. Income taxes (continued): 

(d) Recognized deferred tax assets and liabilities: 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following: 
 
December 31, 2011 Assets Liabilities Net 
 
Construction contract assets and 

liabilities $ 47 $ (4,824) $ (4,777) 
Property, plant and equipment 1,382 (1,099) 283 
Intangible assets and goodwill 578 (10,803) (10,225) 
Investment tax credits 2,409 (4,551) (2,142) 
Derivative financial instruments 1,473 (1,054) 419 
Trade and other payables 2,720 - 2,720 
Employee benefits 12,168 - 12,168 
Other items - (280) (280) 
Tax loss carry forwards 8,762 - 8,762 
 
Tax assets (liabilities) 29,539 (22,611) 6,928 
Set off of tax (19,062) 19,062 - 
 
Net tax assets (liabilities) $ 10,477 $ (3,549) $ 6,928 
 
 
December 31, 2010 Assets Liabilities Net 
 
Construction contract assets and 

liabilities $ 286 $ (3,197) $ (2,911) 
Property, plant and equipment 1,575 (1,091) 484 
Intangible assets and goodwill 656 (11,527) (10,871) 
Investment tax credits - (14,829) (14,829) 
Derivative financial instruments 1,995 (188) 1,807 
Trade and other payables 2,212 (822) 1,390 
Employee benefits 10,504 - 10,504 
Other items 13,186 - 13,186 
Tax loss carry forwards 3,695 - 3,695 
 
Tax assets (liabilities) 34,109 (31,654) 2,455 
Set off of tax (16,725) 16,725 - 
 
Net tax assets (liabilities) $ 17,384 $ (14,929) $ 2,455 
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23. Income taxes (continued): 

(d) Recognized deferred tax assets and liabilities (continued): 
 
January 1, 2010 Assets Liabilities Net 
 
Construction contract assets and 

liabilities $ 2,117 $ (13,051) $ (10,934) 
Property, plant and equipment - (4,009) (4,009) 
Intangible assets and goodwill - (68,926) (68,926) 
Investment tax credits - (13,237) (13,237) 
Derivative financial instruments 6,564 - 6,564 
Trade and other payables 13,515 - 13,515 
Employee benefits 19,653 - 19,653 
Other items 8,355 - 8,355 
Tax loss carry forwards 16,215 - 16,215 
 
Tax assets (liabilities) 66,419 (99,223) (32,804) 
Set off of tax (53,615) 53,615 - 
 
Net tax assets (liabilities) $ 12,804 $ (45,608) $ (32,804) 
 

(e) Movement in temporary differences during the year: 
 
   Included in 
   discontinued Recognized 
 Balance, Recognized operations and in other Foreign Balance, 
 December 31, in statement  held-for-sale comprehensive currency December 31, 
 2010 of earnings Reclassification (note 27) income translation 2011 
 
Construction 

contract 
assets and 
liabilities $ (2,911) $ (1,865) $ - $ - $ - $ (1) $ (4,777) 

Property, 
plant and 
equipment 484 (1,624) - 1,407 - 16 283 

Intangible assets 
and goodwill (10,871) 601 - - - 45 (10,225) 

Investment tax 
credits (14,829) 12,687 - - - - (2,142) 

Derivative 
financial 
instruments 1,807 (3,570) - - 2,182 - 419 

Trade and other 
payables  1,390 1,335 - - - (5) 2,720 

Employee 
benefits 10,504 (1,015) - - 2,679 - 12,168 

Other items 13,186 (11,755) (2,769) 1,322 (304) 40 (280) 
Tax loss carry 

forwards 3,695 5,219 - - - (152) 8,762 
 
  $ 2,455 $ 13 $ (2,769) $ 2,729 $ 4,557 $ (57) $ 6,928 
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23. Income taxes (continued): 

(e) Movement in temporary differences during the year (continued): 
 
  Included in 
  discontinued Recognized 
 Balance, Recognized operations and in other Foreign Balance, 
 January 1, in statement held-for-sale comprehensive currency December 31, 
 2010 of earnings (note 27) income translation 2010 
 
Construction 

contract assets 
and liabilities $ (10,934) $ 7,772 $ 247 $ - $ 4 $ (2,911) 

Property, plant 
and equipment (4,009) 1,425 3,076 - (8) 484 

Intangible assets 
and goodwill (68,926) 2,135 56,335 - (415) (10,871) 

Investment tax 
credits (13,237) (1,592) - - - (14,829) 

Derivative financial 
instruments 6,564 (1,216) - (3,541) - 1,807 

Trade and other 
payables 13,515 (8,022) (4,202) - 99 1,390 

Employee benefits 19,653 (7,756) (2,919) 1,526 - 10,504 
Other items 8,355 2,200 2,216 30 385 13,186 
Tax loss carry 

forwards 16,215 (22) (12,524) - 26 3,695 
 
  $ (32,804) $ (5,076) $ 42,229 $ (1,985) $ 91 $ 2,455 

 

(f) As at December 31, 2011, the Company has non-capital losses carried forward for Canadian 
and United States tax purposes totaling approximately $30,373,000 that are available to 
reduce taxable income of future years.  These non-capital losses carried forward expire as 
follows: 
 
 
2015  $ 427 
2019   251 
2026  2,119 
2027  936 
2028  5,776 
2029  2,144 
2030  1,866 
Thereafter  16,854 
 
    $ 30,373 
 
The Company also has net capital losses carry forward of approximately $111,623,000 that 
are available to offset capital gains of future years. 
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23. Income taxes (continued): 

(g) As at December 31, 2011, the Company had a taxable temporary difference relating to an 
investment in a subsidiary of $9,945,000 that was not recognized because the Company 
controls the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference and it is satisfied that it will not 
be reversed in the foreseeable future. 

 

24. Contingencies and commitments: 

(a) As at December 31, 2011, the Company is committed under operating leases, primarily 
relating to office space, for the following minimum annual rentals: 
 
   Total 
 
2012   $ 26,305 
2013  12,541 
2014  5,416 
2015  4,509 
2016  4,500 
Thereafter  20,125 
 
    $ 73,396 
 
For the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company has recorded total lease expenses of 
$41,165,000 (2010 - $57,708,000) in the statement of earnings. 

(b) As at December 31, 2011, the Company’s banks have issued letters of credit for $1,363,000 
(2010 - $6,056,000) of which $764,000 (2010 - $3,136,000) is guaranteed by Export 
Development Canada (EDC), a Canadian government corporation.  If the letters of credit 
were called, $1,363,000 (2010 - $6,056,000) would be due to the Company’s banks. 

(c) The Company is either a plaintiff or a defendant to legal proceedings.  The actions brought 
against the Company from time to time represent actions against the Company and its 
subsidiaries under contracts and relating to various matters.  The Company analyzes all legal 
proceedings and the allegations therein.  The outcome of any of these proceedings, either 
individually or in the aggregate, is not expected to have a material adverse effect on the 
Company’s financial position, results of operations or liquidity. 
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25. Related party transactions: 

The President and Chief Executive Officer and the Executive Vice President and Chief Financial 
Officer have employment agreements which provide severance and change of control benefits.  
Upon termination or change of control, these executives are entitled to lump sum payments 
between two and two and one-half years’ compensation. 

Compensation expense for the Company’s directors and named executive officers is as follows: 
 
  December 31, December 31, 
  2011 2010 
 
Salaries and other benefits $ 5,412 $ 3,535 
Share-based payments (1,644) 9,438 
 
  $ 3,768 $ 12,973 
 

26. Supplemental cash flow information: 
 
  2011 2010 
 
Change in operating assets and liabilities: 
 
Trade and other receivables $ (10,006) $ (9,207) 
Construction contract assets (3,500) 12,942 
Financial assets, other 181 227 
Inventories 457 (2,639) 
Current tax assets (17,781) (7,304) 
Non-financial assets 3,756 (22,906) 
Trade and other payables (12,205) 25,829 
Financial liabilities, other (4,429) (2,627) 
Provisions 2,382 (1,040) 
Construction contract liabilities (105,876) 185,103 
Employee benefits (24,615) (12,853) 
Non-financial liabilities (11,239) (7,347) 
 
  $ (182,875) $ 158,178 
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27. Discontinued operations and assets held for sale: 

On January 4, 2011, the Company completed the sale of its Property Information business to a 
third party buyer for cash consideration of U.S.$814,995,000, after tax and working capital 
adjustments.  In the fourth quarter of 2011, the Company recorded a provision of 
U.S.$22,500,000 for warranty and other post-transaction obligations related to the products and 
infrastructure acquired by the buyer in the sale of the Property Information business. The 
Company recorded a gain on sale of discontinued operations of $30,132,000 in 2011, after 
income taxes.  The Property Information business, consisting of the Company's previously 
reported Information Products operating segment excluding the Geospatial Services business, 
provided property information to insurance companies, lenders and legal professionals and was 
principally located in the United States and Europe. In addition to the initial cash consideration 
and final working capital adjustment, contingent consideration of U.S.$30,000,000 may become 
payable to the Company based on a certain division of the Property Information business 
achieving specified revenue targets up to the period ending December 31, 2014, for which no 
value has been recorded in the financial statements at December 31, 2011. 

As part of the sale of the Property Information business, on January 5, 2011, the Company 
entered into a license and reseller agreement with a subsidiary of the Property Information 
business.  Under this agreement, the subsidiary granted a non-exclusive, non-transferable, 
revocable four year license to the Company to use certain property valuation data in the United 
States and Canada and a right to sub-license such data to specified third parties in exchange for 
cash consideration of U.S.$20,000,000 payable over the period ending June 30, 2014.  The fair 
value of the amount payable under this agreement has been netted against the cash 
consideration received when accounting for the disposition.   

The operations of the Property Information business were classified as discontinued operations in 
the fourth quarter of 2010.  Accordingly, operating results have been reported separately on the 
consolidated statements of earnings for both the current and comparative period.  

Assets and liabilities of the Property Information business were classified as held for sale at 
December 31, 2010.  Non-current assets of discontinued operations ceased to be amortized 
effective November 5, 2010, the date of the definitive agreement for the sale. 

At December 31, 2010, accumulated other comprehensive loss included a cumulative foreign 
currency translation loss of $36,347,000 relating to the Property Information business, which was 
released to earnings and included in the gain on sale of discontinued operations in the year 
ended December 31, 2011. 
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27. Discontinued operations and assets held for sale (continued): 

Net earnings from discontinued operations is comprised of the following: 
 
  2011 2010 
 
Revenue $ - $ 351,933 
Direct costs, selling, general and administrative - 271,376 
  - 80,557 

Depreciation and amortization - 17,692 
Foreign exchange gain - (6,516) 
Share-based compensation expense - 5,362 
Fair value gain on equity forward contracts - (1,911) 
Finance expense - 10,248 
Other income  3,005 
 
Earnings before income taxes - 52,677 
 
Income tax recovery - (18,528) 
 - 71,205 
 
Gain on sale of discontinued operations 28,835 - 
Income tax recovery on gain on sale of discontinued operations (1,297) - 
 
Net earnings from discontinued operations $ 30,132 $ 71,205 
 

Effect of disposal on the financial position of the Company as of January 4, 2011: 
 
 
Cash and cash equivalents   $ (39,718) 
Trade and other receivables  (23,349) 
Property, plant and equipment  (9,951) 
Intangible assets  (176,406) 
Goodwill  (515,174) 
Other assets  (12,178) 
Trade and other payables  37,464 
Deferred revenue  29,999 
Deferred tax liabilities  16,757 
Other liabilities  4,894 
 
Net assets disposed  $ (687,662) 
 
Consideration received, satisfied in cash net of working capital 

adjustments $ 813,981 
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of  (39,718) 
Transaction costs  (25,481) 
 
Net cash inflow  $ 748,782 
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27. Discontinued operations and assets held for sale (continued): 

Net cash flows from discontinued operations is as follows: 
 
  2011 2010 
 
Cash provided by (used in) operating activities $ (6,992) $ 92,492 
Cash used in investing activities  -  (14,461) 
Cash used in financing activities - (11,241) 
Effect of foreign currency on cash and cash equivalents  - (1,159) 
 
Cash and cash equivalents provided by (used in) 

discontinued operations  $ (6,992) $ 65,631 
 

28. Transition to IFRS: 

These are the Company’s first consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with 
IFRS.  These consolidated financial statements and the opening consolidated balance sheet as at 
January 1, 2010, being the date of transition, have been prepared in accordance of the 
accounting policies set out in note 3. 

In accordance with IFRS 1, the Company has applied certain optional exemptions available for 
first time adopters. 

IFRS optional exemptions: 

(a) Business combinations: 

IFRS 1 provides the option to apply IFRS 3 - Business Combinations retrospectively or 
prospectively from the date of transition.  The Company elected to apply the provisions of 
IFRS 3 prospectively.  The Company completed an impairment test on January 1, 2010 and 
determined that goodwill was not impaired.   

IFRS 3 requires that contingent consideration be recognized when certain criteria, which differ 
from Previous GAAP, have been met.  On the date of transition, additional liabilities have been 
recognized with a resulting decrease in opening retained earnings. 

(b) Property, plant and equipment - deemed cost:  

IFRS 1 provides the option to measure property, plant and equipment at deemed cost being 
the fair value of the asset on the date of transition.  The Company elected not to apply fair 
valuation.  
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28. Transition to IFRS (continued): 

IFRS optional exemptions (continued): 

(c) Employee benefits: 

IFRS 1 provides the option to recognize all previously unrecognized cumulative actuarial 
gains and losses in retained earnings and to apply certain disclosure requirements 
prospectively as of the transition date or to retroactively apply the provisions of IAS 19 - 
Employee Benefits.  The Company elected to recognize all previously unrecognized 
cumulative actuarial gains and losses in retained earnings as of the transition date and to 
apply the disclosure requirements prospectively. 

(d) Cumulative translation adjustment: 

IFRS 1 provides the option to reset the balance of the cumulative foreign currency translation 
adjustment to zero on the date of transition.  The Company elected this option and 
transferred the balance in the cumulative foreign currency translation adjustment under 
Previous GAAP into opening retained earnings.  

Under Previous GAAP, the net assets of discontinued operations included the cumulative 
foreign currency translation balance for purposes of conducting impairment tests on 
November 5, 2010, the date of announcement of the sale of the Property Information 
business, and December 31, 2010, and resulted in an impairment loss on the net assets of 
discontinued operations for the year ended December 31, 2010.  Under IFRS, there is no 
impairment loss on the net assets of discontinued operations for the year ended 
December 31, 2010. 

(e) Share-based payments: 

IFRS 1 provides the option not to apply IFRS 2 - Share-based Payments for vested awards 
and apply IFRS 2 retrospectively or prospectively from the date of transition for unvested 
awards.  The Company elected not to apply the provisions of IFRS 2 for vested equity 
awards.  The Company elected to apply the provisions of IFRS 2 prospectively for liability 
awards that are not settled. 

(f) Borrowing costs: 

IFRS 1 provides the option to apply IAS 23 - Borrowing Costs retrospectively or prospectively 
from the date of transition.  The Company elected to apply IAS 23 on a prospective basis. 
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28. Transition to IFRS (continued): 

Mandatory exceptions: 

(g) Hedge accounting: 

Hedge accounting can only be applied prospectively from the date of transition to 
transactions that satisfy the hedge accounting criteria in IAS 39.  Only hedging relationships 
that satisfied the hedge accounting criteria as of the date of transition are reflected as hedges 
in the Company’s results.  All derivatives, whether or not they meet IAS 39 criteria for hedge 
accounting, were fair valued and recorded in the balance sheet.   

(h) Use of estimates: 

The estimates previously made by the Company under Previous GAAP were not revised for 
application of IFRS except where necessary to reflect any differences in accounting policies.   

Accounting differences: 

(i) Share-based payments: 

IFRS 2 requires the Company’s SARs be valued using an option pricing model while 
Previous GAAP allows the use of the intrinsic value method.  On the date of transition, the 
Company valued all its outstanding SARs using the option pricing model resulting in an 
increase in employee benefits liability with a decrease in retained earnings.    

(j) Leases: 

IAS 17 - Leases requires the application of certain criteria for the classification of operating 
and finance leases that differ from Previous GAAP.  On the date of transition, certain 
operating leases have been reclassified as finance leases under IFRS resulting in an 
increase in property, plant and equipment and long-term debt.  The net effect of the reversal 
of the previously reported operating lease expense, the recording of the depreciation of the 
asset and accretion on the discount of the long-term debt is recorded as an adjustment to 
opening retained earnings.   

(k) Revenue: 

IAS 11 - Construction Contracts requires the cost of warranty obligations be included in the total 
estimated cost.  Under Previous GAAP, the cost of warranty obligations was accrued 
separately as a liability.  On the date of transition, the Company included the cost of warranty 
obligations in the estimated total cost of all outstanding contracts in progress resulting in an 
adjustment to construction contract assets, construction contract liabilities and retained 
earnings.   

  

112



MACDONALD, DETTWILER AND ASSOCIATES LTD. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
(Tabular amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars) 
 
Years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 
 
 

 

28. Transition to IFRS (continued): 

Accounting differences (continued): 

(l) Employee benefits: 

IAS 19 - Employee Benefits permits the Company to recognize all actuarial gains and losses 
in other comprehensive income.  Under Previous GAAP, the Company recognized actuarial 
gains and losses in earnings using the corridor approach.  On the date of transition, the 
Company recognized its net cumulative unrealized actuarial losses into opening retained 
earnings with a resulting increase in the net pension liability.   

IAS 19 requires all vested past service costs to be recognized immediately.  Under Previous 
GAAP, the Company recognized past service costs over the expected average remaining 
service life of the employees.  On the date of transition, the Company recognized all vested 
past service cost into opening retained earnings with a resulting decrease in the 
post-retirement benefit liability. 

IFRIC 14 – The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and Their 
Interaction requires recognition of a liability when an obligation under a minimum funding 
requirement to pay contributions to cover an existing shortfall on the minimum funding basis 
in respect of services already received and these contributions will not be available as a 
refund or reduction in future contributions after they are paid into the plan. No such 
requirements existed under Previous GAAP.  On the date of transition, an additional net 
pension liability has been recognized with a resulting decrease in opening retained earnings.  

(m) Provisions and contingent liabilities: 

IAS 37 - Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets requires that provisions be 
recognized when certain criteria, which differ from Previous GAAP, have been met.  The 
threshold for recognition of a provision under Previous GAAP is higher than under IFRS.  On 
the date of transition, additional liabilities have been recognized with a resulting decrease in 
opening retained earnings. 

(n) Income taxes: 

Deferred income tax balances have been adjusted for the tax effect of IFRS transition 
adjustments above and on the different methodology used to determine temporary differences 
for goodwill and share-based payments. 
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28. Transition to IFRS (continued): 

(o) Financial statements presentation reclassification: 

Certain account balances in the consolidated statements of earnings and consolidated 
balance sheet have been reclassified to conform with IFRS requirements.  The 
reclassifications include the adoption of the concept of operating cycle, changes in certain tax 
concepts, presentation of certain account balances as separate line items and renaming 
certain account balances to conform with IFRS terminology.   

The tables below provide a comparison of Previous GAAP and IFRS. 

(i) Reconciliation of shareholders’ equity: 
 
    December 31, January 1, 
  Note 28  2010 2010 

 
Shareholders' equity under Previous GAAP    $ 538,688 $ 533,523 
 
Accounting differences resulting in 

increases (decreases) to previously 
reported amounts: 

Business combinations (a)  (5,772) (6,308) 
Impairment of assets (d)  123,778 - 
Share-based payments (i)  (20,383) (19,643) 
Leases (j)  215 115 
Revenue (k)  (370) (131) 
Employee benefits (l)  (9,627) (7,546) 
Provisions (m)  1,792 2,358 
Income taxes on the above (n)  (25,773) 8,863 

 
Shareholders' equity under IFRS    $ 602,548 $ 511,231 
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28. Transition to IFRS (continued): 

(o) Financial statements presentation reclassification (continued): 

(ii) Reconciliation of net earnings: 
 
For the year ended  Continuing Discontinued  
December 31, 2010 Note 28 operations operations Total 
 
Net earnings under Previous GAAP  $ 62,973 $ (22,273) $ 40,700 
 
Accounting differences resulting in increases 

(decreases) to previously reported amounts: 
Business combinations (a) 657 (121) 536 
Impairment of assets (d) - 123,778 123,778 
Share-based payments (i) (1,232) 492 (740) 
Leases  (j) 100 - 100 
Revenue (k) (239) - (239) 
Employee benefits (l) 1,781 - 1,781 
Provisions (m) - (566) (566) 
Income taxes on the above (n) (4,502) (30,105) (34,607) 

 
Net earnings under IFRS  $ 59,538 $ 71,205 $ 130,743 
 

(iii) Reconciliation of comprehensive income: 
 
 For the year ended 
 December 31, 2010 
 
Comprehensive income under previous GAAP    $ 7,591 
 
Changes in accounting policies resulting in 

increases (decreases) to previously reported amounts: 
Net earnings 90,043 
Actuarial losses on defined benefits pension plans    (3,863) 
Foreign currency translation on foreign subsidiaries  (29) 

 
Comprehensive income under IFRS   $ 93,742 
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28. Transition to IFRS (continued): 

(o) Financial statements presentation reclassification (continued): 

(iv) Reconciliation of consolidated balance sheet: 

January 1, 2010

Previous GAAP Presentation Note 28 Note 28 IFRS IFRS Presentation
Current assets:
   Cash and cash equivalents 14,766$         -$                    -$                    -$                        14,766$           Cash and cash equivalents
   Short-term investments 15,825           -                      -                      (15,825)               -                    
   Trade accounts receivable 85,069           -                      -                      12,808                97,877             Trade and other receivables

-                     -                      -                      27,564                27,564             Financial assets, other
   Unbilled accounts receivable 99,363           -                      (k) (200)                (26,934)               72,229             Construction contract assets

-                     -                      -                      458                     458                  Inventories
   Other receivables 45,362           -                      -                      (45,362)               -                    
   Prepaid expenses 13,108           -                      -                      27,033                40,141             Non-financial assets

-                     -                      -                      35,089                35,089             Current tax assets
   Future income tax assets 12,165           -                      -                      (12,165)               -                    

285,658         -                      (200)                2,666                  288,124        

Long-term assets:

   Other long-term assets 26,675           -                      -                      (26,675)               -                    
-                     -                      -                      3,444                  3,444               Financial assets, other
-                     (c) (11,151)           (c) 3,072              8,079                  -                       Employee benefits
-                     -                      -                      321                     321                  Non-financial assets

   Future income tax assets -                     -                      (n) 9,756              3,048                  12,804             Deferred tax assets
   Capital assets 39,032           -                      (j) 1,907              -                          40,939             Property, plant and equipment
   Intangible assets 206,750         -                      -                      -                          206,750           Intangible assets
   Goodwill 728,065         -                      -                      -                          728,065           Goodwill

1,000,522      (11,151)           14,735            (11,783)               992,323        

1,286,180$    (11,151)$         14,535$          (9,117)$               1,280,447$   

Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity
Current Liabilities:

   Accounts payable and 
       accrued liabilities 184,223$       -$                    (k), (m) (2,232)$           (62,848)$             119,143$         Trade and other payables

-                     -                      -                      2,706                  2,706               Current tax liabilities
-                     -                      (a) 232                 8,979                  9,211               Financial liabilities, other
-                     -                      (m) (278)                3,257                  2,979               Provisions
-                     -                      (g), (l) 8,652              47,908                56,560             Employee benefits
-                     -                      -                      56,511                56,511             Non-financial liabilities

   Deferred revenues 97,093           -                      (k) 442                 (43,366)               54,169             Construction contract liabilities
   Current portion of long-term debt 59                  -                      (j) 901                 -                          960                  Current portion of long-term debt
   Future income taxes -                     -                      -                      -                          -                    

281,375         -                      7,717              13,147                302,239        
Long-term liabilities:

-                     -                      (a) 6,077              23,904                29,981             Financial liabilities, other
   Other long-term liabilities 62,689           -                      -                      (62,689)               -                    

-                     -                      (m) (360)                6,556                  6,196               Provisions
-                     (c) (1,655)             (g), (l) 12,112            27,770                38,227             Employee benefits
-                     -                      -                      4,323                  4,323               Non-financial liabilities

   Deferred revenues 13,011           -                      -                      (13,011)               -                    
   Deferred income tax 53,831           -                      (n) 894                 (9,117)                 45,608             Deferred tax liabilities
   Long-term debt 341,751         -                      (j) 891                 -                          342,642           Long-term debt

752,657         (1,655)             27,331            (9,117)                 769,216        
Shareholders' equity:
   Capital stock 255,162         -                      -                      -                          255,162           Share capital
   Contributed surplus 15,402           -                      -                      -                          15,402             Contributed surplus

(i), (j), (k)
   Retained earnings 460,420         (c), (d) (208,432)         (l), (m), (n) (12,796)           -                          239,192           Retained earnings
   Accumulated other
       comprehensive loss (197,461)        (d) 198,936          -                      -                          1,475            

   Accumulated other comprehensive
       income

533,523         (9,496)             (12,796)           -                          511,231        

1,286,180$    (11,151)$         14,535$          (9,117)$               1,280,447$   

Previous 
GAAP

Presentation 
Reclassification

IFRS 1 
Exemptions

Accounting 
Differences
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28. Transition to IFRS (continued): 

(o) Financial statements presentation reclassification (continued): 

(v) Reconciliation of consolidated balance sheet: 

December, 31, 2010

Previous GAAP Presentation Note 28 Note 28 IFRS IFRS Presentation
Current assets:
   Cash and cash equivalents 189,527$      -$                    -$                     -$                                 189,527$          Cash and cash equivalents
   Short-term investments 27,139          -                      -                       (27,139)                        -                     
   Trade accounts receivable 65,539          -                      -                       12,314                         77,853              Trade and other receivables

-                    -                      -                       44,292                         44,292              Financial assets, other
   Unbilled accounts receivable 63,604          -                      (k) (300)                 (4,360)                          58,944              Construction contract assets

-                    -                      -                       3,060                           3,060                 Inventories
   Other receivables 22,189          -                      -                       (22,189)                        -                     
   Other current assets 84,179          -                      (3,436)              (3,061)                          77,682              Non-financial assets

-                    -                      -                       7,859                           7,859                Current tax assets
   Future income tax assets 1,940            -                      -                       (1,940)                          -                     
   Assets of discontinued
       operations 668,683        -                      

(d), (l), (m), 
(n) 131,793           -                                   800,476            Assets classified as held for sale

1,122,800     -                      128,057           8,836                           1,259,693      

Long-term assets:

   Other long-term assets 26,070          -                      -                       (26,070)                        -                     
-                    -                      -                       5,119                           5,119                Financial assets, other
-                    (c) (11,151)           (c) 1,157               9,994                           -                        Employee benefits
-                    -                      -                       181                              181                   Non-financial assets

   Future income tax assets 2,952            -                      (n) 1,310               13,122                         17,384              Deferred tax assets
   Capital assets 23,824          -                      (j) 3,359               -                                   27,183              Property, plant and equipment
   Intangible assets 17,231          -                      -                       -                                   17,231              Intangible assets
   Goodwill 178,957        -                      (m) (2,038)              -                                   176,919            Goodwill

249,034        (11,151)           3,788               2,346                           244,017         

1,371,834$   (11,151)$         131,845$         11,182$                       1,503,710$    

Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity
Current Liabilities:

   Accounts payable and 
       accrued liabilities 216,399$      -$                    (k), (m) 356$                (102,369)$                    114,386$          Trade and other payables

-                    -                      -                       14,975                         14,975              Current tax liabilities
-                    -                      -                       19,707                         19,707              Financial liabilities, other
-                    -                      (m) (743)                 1,767                           1,024                Provisions
-                    -                      (g), (l) (1,633)              65,332                         63,699              Employee benefits
-                    -                      -                       24,111                         24,111              Non-financial liabilities

   Deferred revenues 160,161        -                      (k) 617                  78,172                         238,950            Construction contract liabilities
   Current portion of long-term deb 158               -                      (j) 1,422               -                                   1,580                Current portion of long-term debt
   Future income taxes 1,203            -                      -                       (1,203)                          -                     
   Liabilities of discontinued
       operations 96,845          -                      (m), (n) 39,637             -                                   136,482            Liabilities classified as held for sale

474,766        -                      39,656             100,492                       614,914         
Long-term liabilities:

-                    -                      2,685               8,149                           10,834              Financial liabilities, other
   Other long-term liabilities 50,088          -                      -                       (50,088)                        -                     

-                    -                      (m) (158)                 2,600                           2,442                Provisions
-                    (c) (1,655)             (g), (l) 17,962             34,699                         51,006              Employee benefits
-                    -                      -                       4,839                           4,839                Non-financial liabilities

   Deferred revenues 101,894        -                      -                       (101,894)                      -                     
   Deferred income tax 5,923            -                      (n) (3,379)              12,385                         14,929              Deferred tax liabilities
   Long-term debt 200,475        -                      (j) 1,723               -                                   202,198            Long-term debt

833,146        (1,655)             58,489             11,182                         901,162         
Shareholders' equity:
   Capital stock 266,811        -                      -                       -                                   266,811            Share capital
   Contributed surplus 9,694            -                      -                       -                                   9,694                Contributed surplus

   Retained earnings 492,753        (c), (d) (208,432)         

(d), (i), (j), 
(k), (l), (m), 

(n) 77,248             -                                   361,569            Retained earnings
   Accumulated other
       comprehensive loss (230,570)       (d) 198,936           (c) (3,892)              -                                   (35,526)          

   Accumulated other comprehensive
       loss

538,688        (9,496)             73,356             -                                   602,548         
1,371,834$   (11,151)$        131,845$        11,182$                      1,503,710$    

Previous 
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Presentation 
Reclassification
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Differences
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28. Transition to IFRS (continued): 

(o) Financial statements presentation reclassification (continued): 

(vi) Reconciliation of consolidated statements of earnings: 
For the year ended December 31, 2010

Previous GAAP Presentation Note 28 IFRS Presentation

Revenue 689,030$    (k) (273)$                  (718)$                   688,039$      Revenue

(j), (k), (l), Direct costs, selling, general and 
Direct costs, selling, general and administration 544,313      (m) (4,464)                 (10,125)                529,724            administration
Amortization of capital and intangible assets 11,154        (j) 1,314                  (12,468)                -                    

555,467      (3,150)                 (22,593)                529,724        

Earnings before other items 133,563      2,877                  21,875                 158,315        

-                  -                          12,469                 12,469          Depreciation and amortization
-                  -                          8,671                   8,671            Foreign exchange loss

Stock-based compensation expense 28,144        (i) 1,232                  1,453                   30,829          Share-based compensation expense
Fair value  gains on equity forward 
  contracts (8,908)         -                          -                           (8,908)           

Fair value  gains on equity forward 
  contracts

(718)                     (718)              Finance income
Interest expense 4,191          (j), (m) 578                     -                           4,769            Finance expense
Earnings from continuing operations, Earnings from continuing operations,
    before incoome taxes 110,136      1,067                  -                           111,203            before incoome taxes

Income tax expense 47,163        (n) 4,502                  -                           51,665          Income tax expense
Earnings from continuing operations 62,973        (3,435)                 -                           59,538          Earnings from continuing operations

Net income from discontinued operations, (d), (k), (l), Net income from discontinued operations,
    net of income taxes (22,273)       (m), (n) 93,478                -                           71,205              net of income taxes

Net earnings 40,700$      90,043$              -$                         130,743$      Net earnings

Net earnings per common share: Net earnings per common share:
     Basic:      Basic:
         Continuing operations 1.54$          (0.08)$                 1.46$                     Continuing operations
         Discontinued operations (0.55)$         2.29$                  1.75$                     Discontinued operations
         Net earnings 1.00$          2.21$                  3.20$                     Net earnings
     Diluted:      Diluted:
         Continuing operations 1.54$          (0.08)$                 1.45$                     Continuing operations
         Discontinued operations (0.54)$         2.28$                  1.74$                     Discontinued operations
         Net earnings 0.99$         2.20$                 3.19$                     Net earnings

Presentation 
Reclassification IFRS

Previous 
GAAP

Accounting 
Differences
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28. Transition to IFRS (continued): 

(o) Financial statements presentation reclassification (continued): 

(vii) Reconciliation of consolidated statements of comprehensive income: 

For the year ended December 31, 2010

Previous GAAP Presentation IFRS IFRS Presentation

Net earnings 40,700$      90,043$             130,743$    Net earnings

Other comprehensive loss: Other comprehensive loss:
   Unrealized losses on translation of
       foreign operations (42,331)       (29)                    (42,360)         Foreign currency translation adjustment
   Fair value losses on derivatives designated as
       cash flow hedges (net of income tax expense
       of $4,706) 12,236        -                        12,236        

  Effective portion of changes in fair value 
     of derivatives designated as cash flow hedges 
     (net of income tax expense of $4,706)

   Reclassification to income fair value gains on
       derivatives designated as cash flow hedges
       (net of income tax recovery of $1,165) (3,178)         -                        (3,178)        

   Net change in fair value of derivatives designated 
     as cash flow hedges transferred to earnings (net 
     of income tax recovery of $1,165)

   Change in the fair value gains on available-for-
       sale financial assets (net of income tax recovery
       of $30) 164             -                        164             

   Net change in fair value of available-for sale
     financial assets (net of income tax recovery of 
     $30)

-                  (3,863)               (3,863)        
  Actuarial losses on defined benefits pension plans 
    (net of income tax recovery of $1,526)

   Other comprehensive loss (33,109)       (3,892)               (37,001)         Other comprehensive loss

Comprehensive income 7,591$       86,151$            93,742$     Comprehensive income

Accounting 
Differences

Previous 
GAAP

(p) Reconciliation of consolidated statements of cash flows: 

There are no material differences between the statements of cash flows presented under 
IFRS and the statements of cash flows presented under Previous GAAP. 

 

29. Approval of financial statements: 

These consolidated financial statements were approved for issuance by the Board of Directors on 
February 28, 2012. 

 

30. Subsequent event: 

Subsequent to December 31, 2011, the Company declared a semi-annual dividend of $0.65 per 
common share payable at March 30, 2012 to shareholders of record at the close of business on 
March 15, 2012. 
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